UNIVERSITÉ PARIS DIDEROT - PARIS 7 école doctorale sciences mathématiques de paris - centre

en cotutelle avec / in cotutela con

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI MILANO DIPARTIMENTO DI MATEMATICA "FEDERIGO ENRIQUES"

Thèse de Doctorat / Tesi di Dottorato MATHÉMATIQUES / MATEMATICA

Marco PORTA

On well generated triangulated categories

Soutenue le 1^{er} février 2008, devant le jury composé de :

M. Alberto CANONACO (Università di Pavia)
M. Denis-Charles CISINSKI (Université Paris 13)
M. Bernhard KELLER (Université Paris 7)
Directeur
M. Carlos SIMPSON (Université de Nice)
Rapporteur
M. Lambertus VAN GEEMEN (Università di Milano)
Co-directeur
Rapporteur externe (absent à la soutenance)
M. Amnon NEEMAN (University of Canberra)

 $\mathbf{2}$

Remerciements

Cette thèse n'existerait pas sans l'aide de certaines personnes. Chacune d'entre elles a contribué, de manière différente mais essentielle, à la réussite de ce travail. Je suis extrêmement heureux d'avoir ici l'occasion de toutes les remercier. En premier lieu, je ressens un vif besoin de témoigner ma profonde gratitude à Bernhard Keller, qui m'a suivi et soutenu pendant trois ans pour la préparation et la rédaction de cette thèse. J'ai eu le privilège, à ses côtés, de découvrir l'ampleur de sa culture, qui n'est pas que mathématique, et de faire l'expérience dans les jours difficiles de son soutien discret mais concret, et de son humanité. Dès le début, j'ai été fasciné (et contaminé) par sa manière de faire des maths. Le caractère qui le définit le mieux est l'élégance. Pour autant que je me souvienne, chacun de ses exposés, chacune de ses remarques, observations ou démonstrations était impeccable, et "coulait" avec un naturel que je n'hésiterai pas à qualifier d'artistique. Et cela sans rien enlever à la profondeur des *idées* et à l'étendue de la *vision* mathématique. Tout ceci pour dire que je ne réussis absolument pas à penser à lui comme à un 'professeur de mathématiques'. Pour moi, il a été et il restera un *maître* dans le sens que les Orientaux donnent à cette parole.

De Bert van Geemen je ne peux pas ne pas me rappeler qu'il a été le premier mathématicien à m'avoir souhaité la bienvenue dans la communauté, en tant que président de la commission d'examen pour l'admission au XVIIIème doctorat de mathématiques de l'Université de Milan. Après m'avoir accueilli parmi les mathématiciens, moi qui venais de la Physique et ne connaissais personne dans le milieu, il m'a "soumis" à quelques cours intensifs de topologie et de géométrie algébrique que je me rappelle encore comme des modèles de rigueur et de clarté didactiques. Pour cela, et pour m'avoir par la suite conseillé et soutenu en tant que co-tuteur, je le remercie.

Cette thèse traite de 'catégories triangulées bien engendrées', qui ont été inventées par Amnon Neeman. Je suis heureux que ce travail lui ait fait plaisir. Je n'ai pas besoin de dire toute la dette intellectuelle que j'ai envers ses idées magnifiques. Je le remercie pour avoir accepté d'être l'un des rapporteurs et de faire partie du jury de soutenance.

Pour les mêmes raisons, je remercie aussi Carlos Simpson. Ainsi que pour les conversations mathématiques intenses et les conseils précieux qu'il m'a donnés au début de tout ce parcours.

Je suis très reconnaissant envers plusieurs personnes qui ont eu, chacune à sa manière, leur rôle dans la réalisation de cette thèse:

Antonio Lanteri qui a été un excellent directeur du doctorat en mathématiques de l'Université de Milan et qui a continué à me suivre jusqu'à cette soutenance, même après expiration de son mandat;

Georges Maltsiniotis qui m'a donné l'opportunité d'exposer les idées de cette thèse dans le cadre du séminaire "Algèbre et topologie homotopiques" à Jussieu, et avec lui Daniel Huybrechts, Max Karoubi, Bruno Kahn, Bruno Klinger et Fabien Morel qui, à travers leurs cours et séminaires, m'ont aidé à affiner mes intérêts mathématiques;

Alberto Canonaco et Denis-Charles Cisisnski qui ont accepté de faire partie du jury de soutenance;

Alberto Collino pour tout ce qu'il m'a enseigné et pour m'avoir, le premier, fait tomber amoureux de la 'géométrie' au sens large;

également Mmes Wasse, Le Houézec, Douchez, Delù et M. Malaspina pour m'avoir tant de fois aidé à débrouiller les problèmes administratifs complexes inhérents au système de cotutelle internationale;

et l'Université Franco-Italienne pour m'avoir accordé une bourse Vinci 2006 qui m'a aidé à financer mon séjour en France.

Je me rappelle aussi avec plaisir mes collègues doctorants qui ont contribué à créer un climat détendu propice à la recherche au septième étage de l'institut de mathématiques de Chevaleret: Cécile Armana, Olivier Fouquet, Joël Riou, Carmelo Vaccaro et bien d'autres.

Ainsi que tous les amis mathématiciens connus ici ou là de par le monde grâce aux mathématiques: Osamu Iyama, Satoshi Mochizuki, Go Yamashita

Et finalement j'ai l'occasion de satisfaire une nécessité que je ressens depuis le début de cette aventure: remercier du fond du coeur Odile Nazart, ma chère 'Odilia'. Mon unique crainte est de tomber dans la rhétorique. Et pourtant, je n'exagère pas. Tu ne te rends peut-être pas réellement compte de ce que tu as fait pour moi pendant ces années. Non seulement tu as supporté le sourire aux lèvres que je sois toujours, comme tu dis, "le nez dans mes livres" ou "dans l'ordinateur", mais tu m'as soutenu et encouragé avec tant de conviction et de persévérance que je n'arrive pas à me rappeler tout cela sans être profondément ému. Et que dire de notre si chère 'Agnelli', la très chère Mme Jacqueline Nazart, sinon qu'elle a été pour moi une seconde maman, une seconde famille? Qui la connaît sait que je n'exagère pas! 'Merci', maman Jacqueline, pour m'avoir soutenu et encouragé, et pour m'avoir aidé très concrètement pour mon séjour à Paris.

Un merci aussi à mes parents, pour tout ce qu'ils ont fait pour me permettre d'étudier', comme j'ai toujours aimé; à mon frère Stefano, pour nous avoir souvent hébergés et, simplement, pour être là; aux amis, en particulier Carlo et sa famille, à Katia surtout; à Laure Angladette et Mme Taslitsky, elles savent de quoi je parle.

Enfin, je remercie avec tendresse mon grand-père 'Mini', qui à trois ans m'a enseigné l'"arithmétique", en me faisant jouer avec les nombres jusqu'à cent. Et avec lui, Chet Baker, John Coltrane et Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart, compagnons quasi quotidiens de toutes ces années.

Ringraziamenti

Questa tesi non esisterebbe senza l'aiuto di alcune persone. Ognuna di loro ha contribuito in modo diverso, ma essenziale, alla riuscita di questo lavoro. Sono estremamente felice di avere qui l'occasione di ringraziarle tutte. In primo luogo sento l'urgenza di testimoniare la mia gratitudine più sincera e profonda a Bernhard Keller, che mi ha seguito e sostenuto lungo tre anni nella preparazione e la stesura del lavoro qui presentato. Di lui ho avuto la fortuna di ammirare la vasta e profonda cultura, non solo matematica, di sperimentare il sostegno discreto ma concreto nei giorni difficili e di sentire la calda umanità. Fin da subito sono stato affascinato (e contagiato) dal suo modo di fare matematica. Il tratto che lo contraddistingue tra mille è l'*eleganza*. Per quel che mi ricordo, ogni suo intervento, osservazione, dimostrazione, esposizione, é stato caratterizzato da una impeccabilità e una naturalezza che non esito a definire artistiche, senza nulla togliere alla profondità delle *idee* e all'ampiezza della *visione* matematica. Tutto ciò per dire che non riesco assolutamente a pensare a lui come a un 'professore di matematica'. Per me è stato e rimarrà un *maestro* nel senso che gli orientali danno a questo termine.

Di Bert van Geemen non posso non ricordare che è stato il primo matematico ad avermi dato il benvenuto nella comunità, essendo presidente della commissione d'esame per l'ammissione al XVIII ciclo del dottorato in matematica dell'Università di Milano. Dopo avermi accolto tra i matematici, io che venivo dalla Fisica e non conoscevo nessuno nell'ambiente, mi ha "esposto" ad alcuni corsi intensivi di topologia e geometria algebrica che ricordo ancora come modelli di rigore e di chiarezza didattica. Per questo, e per avermi successivamente consigliato e sostenuto come co-tutor, lo ringrazio.

Questa tesi tratta di 'categorie triangolate ben generate', che sono state inventate da Amnon Neeman. Sono felice che questo lavoro gli abbia fatto piacere. Inutile dire quale sia il debito intellettuale che ha nei confronti delle sue splendide idee. Lo ringrazio per aver accettato di essere uno dei "referees" e di far parte della commissione dell'esame finale.

Per le stesse ragioni ringrazio anche Carlos Simpson. Le intense conversazioni matematiche e i consigli che ha voluto darmi all'inizio del mio percorso sono stati veramente preziosi.

Sono molto riconoscente a più persone per aver, ognuno a suo modo, contribuito alla riuscita di questa tesi:

Antonio Lanteri per essere stato un ottimo direttore del dottorato in matematica presso il dipartimento di matematica "F. Enriques" dell'Università di Milano e per aver continuato a seguirmi sino alla fine della tesi, anche a mandato scaduto;

Georges Maltsiniotis per avermi dato l'opportunità di esporre le idee di questa tesi nel seminario "Algèbre et topologie homotopiques" a Jussieu e con lui Daniel Huybrechts, Max Karoubi, Bruno Kahn, Bruno Klingler e Fabien Morel che, con i loro corsi e seminari, mi hanno aiutato ad affinare i miei interessi matematici;

Alberto Canonaco e Denis-Charles Cisinski per aver accettato di far parte della commissione d'esame finale;

Alberto Collino per tutto ciò che mi ha insegnato e per avermi per primo fatto innamorare della 'geometria' in senso lato;

anche le signore Wasse, Le Houézec, Douchez, il signor Malaspina e la dottoressa Monica Delù per avermi tante volte aiutato a gestire faccende amministrative complesse nel rapporto di cotutela internazionale;

l'Università Italo-Francese per avermi concessa una borsa Vinci 2006 per finanziare in parte il mio soggiorno all'estero.

Ricordo anche con piacere i miei colleghi dottorandi per aver contribuito a creare il clima rilassato, ottimale per fare ricerca, presente al settimo piano dell'istituto di matematica a Chevaleret, Cécile Armana, Olivier Fouquet, Joël Riou, Carmelo Vaccaro e molti altri; come i tanti amici matematici conosciuti qui e là per il mondo grazie alla matematica, Osamu Iyama, Satoshi Mochizuki, Go Yamashita,

E finalmente ho l'occasione per soddisfare una necessità che sento fin dall'inizio di questa avventura: ringraziare con tutto il mio cuore Odile Nazart, la mia cara Odilia. Il mio unico timore è di cadere nella retorica. Eppure non esagero, cara Odile. Forse nemmeno tu sai fino in fondo ciò che hai fatto per me in questi anni. Non solo hai sopportato con il sorriso sulle labbra il fatto che, come dici tu tanto bene, avessi sempre "il naso nei miei libri" o "nel computer", ma mi hai sostenuto e incoraggiato in un modo così sincero e importante che non riesco a ricordare tutto ciò senza essere profondamente commosso. E che dire della nostra carissima 'Agnelli', la carissima Mme Jacqueline Nazart se non che per me è stata una seconda mamma, una seconda famiglia? Chi la conosce sa che non esagero! 'Grazie', Mamma Jacqueline, per avermi sostenuto e incoraggiato e per avermi aiutato praticamente per il mio soggiorno a Parigi.

Un grazie anche ai miei genitori, per tutto quello che hanno fatto per far sì che io potessi 'studiare', come mi è sempre piaciuto; a mio fratello Stefano, per averci ospitato tante volte e, semplicemente, per esserci stato; agli amici, in particolare Carlo e famiglia, Katia soprattutto; a Laure Angladette e Mme Taslitsky, loro sanno perché.

Infine, ringrazio con tanto affetto mio nonno 'Mini', che a tre anni mi ha insegnato l'"aritmetica", facendomi giocare con i numeri fino a cento, e con lui Chet Baker, John Coltrane e Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart, la cui musica mi ha quasi quotidianamente "accompagnato" in tutti questi anni.

 $\overline{7}$

Contents

1. Introduction	11
1.1. Organization of the thesis	13
2. DG categories	15
2.1. Notations	15
2.2. Differential graded categories	15
2.3. DG modules	17
2.4. The derived category	18
3. Well generated triangulated categories	19
3.1. Definitions of Krause and Neeman	19
3.2. Equivalences of well generated triangulated categories	27
4. Thick subcategories and localization of triangulated categories	34
4.1. Localization of triangulated categories	34
4.2. Some thick subcategories of triangulated categories	35
4.3. Localization of well generated triangulated categories	37
5. The Popescu-Gabriel theorem for triangulated categories	47
5.1. The α -continuous derived category	47
5.2. Algebraic triangulated categories	50
5.3. The main theorem	51
5.4. Application	54
6. DG enhancement of the α -continuous derived category	55
6.1. The (Quillen) model category structure on the category of DG modules	55
6.2. The Frobenius structure on the category of DG modules	62
6.3. Different closures of representable DG modules in CA	68
6.4. The homotopically α -small DG modules	75
6.5. The homotopically α -compact DG modules	77
6.6. The key-lemma : Morphisms factor through $[\tilde{S}]_{\alpha}$	80
References	87

1. INTRODUCTION

One of the aims of the present thesis is to try and answer the question: what is the analogue, in the realm of triangulated categories, of the notion of Grothendieck category in the realm of abelian categories? The best way to proceed seemed to us that of lifting perhaps the most important theorem involving these notions from the abelian to the triangulated world. The theorem we are speaking of is due to Popescu-Gabriel:

Theorem 1.1 (Popescu-Gabriel [31]). Let \mathcal{T} be a Grothendieck category. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) $G \in \mathcal{T}$ is a generator of \mathcal{T} ;
- (ii) the functor $\operatorname{Hom}(G, -) : \mathcal{T} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Mod}(A)$, where $A = \operatorname{Hom}(G, G)$, is a localization.

We refer to [30], [35], [23], [20] for complete proofs of the theorem.

In his book [27, Def. 1.15, p. 15], A. Neeman defined the class of well generated triangulated categories. It turns out that this class is a very good generalization to higher cardinals of the concept of compactly generated triangulated category. In fact, it preserves the most interesting properties, e.g. the validity of the Brown representability theorem [5] and of the Thomason localization theorem [36, Key Proposition 5.2.2, p. 338], and at the same time introduces new good features, such as the stability of the new class under localizations (assuming the quite weak hypothesis that the kernel of the localization functor is generated by a set of objects). H. Krause characterized the class of categories introduced by Neeman as follows [17]. Let \mathcal{T} be a triangulated category with suspension functor Σ admitting arbitrary set-indexed coproducts. \mathcal{T} is well generated in the sense of Krause [17] if and only if there exists a set \mathcal{G}_0 of objects with $\Sigma \mathcal{G}_0 = \mathcal{G}_0$ satisfying the conditions:

- (G1) an object $X \in \mathcal{T}$ is zero provided that $\mathcal{T}(G, X) = 0$ for all G in \mathcal{G}_0 ;
- (G2) for each family of morphisms $f_i: X_i \to Y_i, i \in I$, the induced map

$$\mathcal{T}(G, \coprod_{i \in I} X_i) \to \mathcal{T}(G, \coprod_{i \in I} Y_i)$$

is surjective for all $G \in \mathcal{G}_0$ provided that the maps

$$\mathcal{T}(G, X_i) \to \mathcal{T}(G, Y_i)$$

are surjective for all $i \in I$ and all $G \in \mathcal{G}_0$;

(G3) there is some regular cardinal α such that the objects $G \in \mathcal{G}_0$ are α -small, *i.e.* for each family of objects X_i , $i \in I$, of \mathcal{T} , each morphism

$$G \to \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

factors through a subsum $\coprod_{i \in J} X_i$ for some subset J of I of cardinality strictly smaller than α .

In the case $\alpha = \aleph_0$, the \aleph_0 -compact objects are the compact objects of the classical literature [24], [25] and the definition of well generated category reduces to that of compactly generated one. Well generated triangulated categories arise very naturally when one localizes compactly generated ones, as it will be shown in detail in section 4.

For example, the unbounded derived category $\mathcal{D}(\mathrm{Sh}(X))$ of sheaves of abelian groups on a topological space X is well generated since it is a localization of the derived category of presheaves $\mathcal{D}(\operatorname{Presh}(X))$, which is compactly generated. However, Neeman shows in [28] that not all derived categories of sheaves are compactly generated. An example is the category $\mathcal{D}(\mathrm{Sh}(X))$ where X is a connected, non compact real manifold of dimension at least one; in this case, there do not exist non zero compact objects. In the same article, it is shown that the derived categories of Grothendieck categories are always well generated. Another large class of examples arises when one localizes the derived category \mathcal{DA} of a small DG category \mathcal{A} at the localizing subcategory generated by a set of objects. Indeed, since \mathcal{DA} is a compactly generated triangulated category, such a localization is always well generated. Now we can state the main result of this thesis. It also gives a positive answer to Drinfeld's question [29] whether all well generated categories arise as localizations of module categories over DG categories, for the class of *algebraic* triangulated categories. Here algebraic means triangle equivalent to the stable category of a Frobenius category. One can show that each algebraic triangulated category is triangle equivalent to a full triangulated subcategory of the category up to homotopy of complexes over some additive category.

Theorem 1.2. Let \mathcal{T} be an algebraic triangulated category. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) T is well generated;
- (ii) there is a small DG category \mathcal{A} such that \mathcal{T} is triangle equivalent to a localization of $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$ with respect to a localizing subcategory generated by a set objects.

Moreover, if (i) holds and $\mathcal{G} \subseteq \mathcal{T}$ is a full triangulated subcategory stable under coproducts of strictly less than α factors and satisfying (G1), (G2) and (G3) for some regular cardinal α , the functor

$$\mathcal{T} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Mod} \mathcal{G}, \ X \longmapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(-, X)|_{\mathcal{G}}$$

lifts to a localization $\mathcal{T} \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}(\widetilde{\mathcal{G}})$, where $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}$ is a small DG category such that $H^0(\widetilde{\mathcal{G}})$ is equivalent to \mathcal{G} .

If \mathcal{T} is compactly generated, the theorem yields a triangle equivalence $\mathcal{T} \longrightarrow \mathcal{DA}$, and we recover Theorem 4.3 of [14]. Note the structural similarity with the abelian case. One notable difference is that in the abelian case, one can work with a single generator whereas in the triangulated case, in general, it seems unavoidable to use a (small but usually infinite) triangulated subcategory.

An analogous result for topological triangulated categories has recently been proved by A. Heider [9].

The presence of a Quillen model category structure on the category of DG modules suggested to us that a completely different proof of the main theorem could be obtained without the use of the powerful theorem 4.10. In fact, this theorem contains more or less the same amount of information as the generalization given by Amnon Neeman [27, Thm. 4.4.9, p. 143] of the localization theorem of Thomason-Throbaugh [36, Key Proposition 5.2.2, p. 338]. We prove that this amount of information is also encoded in the exact and model category structures present on CA. We report here the statement of theorem 5.5 for the convenience of the reader. Here the category $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}A$ is the localization of $\mathcal{D}A$ of item (*ii*) in theorem 1.2.

Theorem 1.3. Let \mathcal{A} be a homotopically α -cocomplete pretriangulated DG category. The α -continuous derived category of \mathcal{A} is α -compactly generated by the images of the free DG modules A^{\wedge} , $A \in \mathcal{A}$. More precisely, the full subcategory \mathcal{G} of $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$ formed by the images of the free DG modules A^{\wedge} , $A \in \mathcal{A}$, is a triangulated subcategory satisfying conditions (G1), (G2) and (G3) of Krause's definition above (see also definition 3.1).

In this new approach, we look at the derived category of the small DG category \mathcal{A} as the homotopy category of the category of DG modules \mathcal{CA} considered with the *projective model structure* (see subsection 6.1). This allows us to introduce, for all the infinite regular cardinals α , some subcategories of cofibrant DG modules of \mathcal{CA} which can be considered as the DG analogues of the subcategories of α -compact objects of \mathcal{DA} . We call the objects of these subcategories homotopically α -compact DG modules. It turns out that these objects have a nice factorization property (theorem 6.31) which is the technical key-result to arrive at a new proof of theorem 1.3 (5.5 in the text).

It seems to us that this new approach is more suitable for further investigations.

1.1. Organization of the thesis. In section 2, we recall the main definitions and results about DG categories and categories of DG modules over them which will be used in the following chapters. Moreover, the construction of the derived category of a small DG category is introduced (subsection 2.2). Notions and results in this section are already known.

In section 3, we present some auxiliary results about well generated triangulated categories. After recalling the definition given by Krause (subsection 3.1), we establish a small set of conditions which allows us to show that two well generated triangulated categories are triangle equivalent (subsection 3.2).

In section 4, we recall some basic results about localizations of triangulated categories, localizations of well generated triangulated categories, and about their thick and $(\alpha$ -) localizing subcategories (where α is an infinite regular cardinal). Thick subcategories of triangulated categories are triangulated subcategories which contain the direct factors of their objects; $(\alpha$ -)localizing subcategories are thick subcategories stable under formation of all $(\alpha$ -)small coproducts of their objects. In subsection 4.3, we state a theorem concerning particular localizations of well generated triangulated categories, those which are triangle quotients by a subcategory generated by a set.

Section 5 contains the main theorem and can be considered the heart of the thesis. In subsection 5.1, DG categories enter the picture. Here we construct the α -continuous derived category $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$ of a homotopically α -cocomplete small DG category \mathcal{A} . This construction enjoys a useful and beautiful property which is the key technical result for proving the main theorem of the thesis: Given a homotopically α -cocomplete pretriangulated DG category \mathcal{A} , we show that its α -continuous derived category $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$ is α -compactly generated by the images of the free DG modules. Our proof heavily uses theorem 4.10 of subsection 4.3 about localizations of well generated triangulated categories. The categories $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$ turn out to be the prototypes of the α -compactly generated algebraic triangulated categories. This characterization is what we have called the Popescu-Gabriel theorem for triangulated categories. This is the main result of the thesis. We present it in subsection 5.3, after having introduced the notion of algebraic category in subsection 5.2. As an application, in subsection 5.4 we also give a result about compactifying subcategories of an algebraic well generated triangulated category. The notion of compactifying subcategory generalizes that of compactifying generator introduced by Lowen-Van den Bergh [21, Ch. 5] in the case of a Grothendieck abelian category.

In subsection 6.1, we recall some general notions and facts about the Quillen model structures before introducing the *projective model structure* present on the category of DG modules. In subsection 6.2 we look at the exact structure on the category CAin more detail. Moreover, the notion of homotopy for DG modules is introduced. In subsection 6.3 we study different closures of classes of cofibrant DG modules in CA and prove some useful properties of them. Then, we introduce the *homotopically* α -small and the *homotopically* α -compact DG modules (subsections 6.4 and 6.5). The last subsection 6.6 is dedicated to proving a key technical factorization result (theorem 6.31).

2. DG CATEGORIES

In this section, the basic definitions and properties of DG categories will be briefly recalled. We refer to [14], [16] and [7] for in depth treatments.

2.1. Notations. Let k be a commutative ring. The tensor product over k will be denoted by $\otimes = \otimes_k$. A k-category \mathcal{A} is a category enriched over the category of k-modules Mod(k) with k-linear associative composition maps

$$\mathcal{A}(Y,Z) \otimes \mathcal{A}(X,Y) \to \mathcal{A}(X,Z) , \ (f,g) \mapsto fg.$$

The category of graded k-modules $\mathcal{G}(k)$ has the k-modules $V = \bigoplus_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} V^p$ as objects, with the usual shift V[1] defined by $V[1]^p = V^{p+1}$, $p \in \mathbb{Z}$. The tensor product $V \otimes W$ of two graded k-modules V and W is the graded k-module with components

$$(V \otimes W)^n = \bigoplus_{p+q=n} V^p \otimes W^q, \ n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

Given two graded k-modules V and V', the Hom-space $\mathcal{G}(k)(V, V')$ is a graded k-module whose n-th component

 $\mathcal{G}(k)(V,V')^n$

consists of the graded morphisms $f: V \to V'$ of degree n, *i.e.* the k-linear morphisms such that $f(V^p) \subseteq V^{p+n}$, for all $p \in \mathbb{Z}$. The tensor product $f \otimes g$ of two maps $f: V \to V'$ and $g: W \to W'$ is defined as

$$(f \otimes g)(v \otimes w) = (-1)^{pq} f(v) \otimes g(w)$$

where g is of degree p and v belongs to V^q . A graded k-algebra is a graded k-module A endowed with a multiplication morphism $A \otimes A \to A$ which is graded of degree 0, so that 'ordinary' k-algebras are graded k-algebras concentrated in degree 0.

A differential graded (=DG) k-module is a Z-graded k-module V endowed with a differential, $d_V : V \to V$ of degree 1 such that $d_V^2 = 0$. Equivalently, V is a complex of k-modules. Remember that the shifted DG module V[1] has differential $-d_V$. The tensor product of two DG k-modules is the graded module $V \otimes W$ with the differential $d_V \otimes \mathbf{1}_W + \mathbf{1}_V \otimes d_W$.

2.2. Differential graded categories. A differential graded or DG category is a kcategory \mathcal{A} enriched over the category of DG k-modules. This definition is equivalent to the following data:

- a class of objects $obj(\mathcal{A})$;
- a small DG k-module $\mathcal{A}(X, Y)$ for any pair of objects X, Y in \mathcal{A} ;
- associative unital composition maps given by morphisms of DG k-modules

$$\mathcal{A}(Y,Z) \otimes \mathcal{A}(X,Y) \to \mathcal{A}(X,Z).$$

The typical example is the DG category $C_{dg}(B)$, where B is a k-algebra. The objects of this category are the cochain complexes of right B-modules. For each pair of objects L and M, the Hom-space is defined as the DG k-module $C_{dg}(B)(L, M)$ with components

$$\mathcal{C}_{dg}(B)(L,M)^n$$
,

16

whose elements are the morphisms of $f = (f^p)$, where, for each $p \in \mathbb{Z}$, the elements $f^p : L^p \to M^{p+n}$ are morphisms of *B*-modules, and whose differential is the commutator

$$d(f) = d_M \circ f - (-1)^n f \circ d_L$$

The composition is the composition of graded maps. Now we can define the *category* $Z^0(\mathcal{A})$, which has the same objects as \mathcal{A} and whose Hom-spaces are defined by

$$(Z^0\mathcal{A})(X,Y) = Z^0(\mathcal{A}(X,Y)) ,$$

where Z^0 is the kernel of $d : \mathcal{A}(X,Y)^0 \to \mathcal{A}(X,Y)^1$. In the same way, the *category* $H^0(\mathcal{A})$ has the same objects as \mathcal{A} and its morphisms are defined by

$$(H^0(\mathcal{A}))(X,Y) = H^0(\mathcal{A}(X,Y)) ,$$

where H^0 denotes the 0th homology of the complex $\mathcal{A}(X, Y)$. The homology category $H^*(\mathcal{A})$ is the graded category with the same objects as \mathcal{A} and morphisms spaces $H^*\mathcal{A}(X,Y)$.

Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' be DG categories. A DG functor

$$F: \mathcal{A} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}'$$

is given by the following data:

• a map

$$F: \operatorname{obj}(\mathcal{A}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{obj}(\mathcal{A}');$$

• morphisms of dg k-modules

$$F_{X,Y}: \mathcal{A}(X,Y) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}(FX,FY), \ X,Y \in \mathrm{obj}(\mathcal{A}),$$

compatible with the composition and the units.

Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} be two DG categories. For any pair of DG functors $F, G : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$,

• a graded morphism of DG functors of degree n,

$$\phi: F \to G ,$$

is the data of a family of morphisms

$$\phi_X \in \mathcal{B}(FX, GX)^n ,$$

such that $(Gf)(\phi_X) = (\phi_Y)(Ff)$, for all $f \in \mathcal{A}(X,Y)$, $X, Y \in \mathcal{A}$;

• the differential of the complex of graded morphisms $\mathcal{H}om(F,G)$ is induced by the differential of $\mathcal{B}(FX,GX)$.

The set of morphisms between the DG functors F and G is defined as the set of cocycles $Z^0\mathcal{H}om(F,G)$.

A quasi-equivalence is a DG functor $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}'$ such that

- $F_{X,Y}$ is a quasi-isomorphism, for all objects X, Y of \mathcal{A} ;
- the induced functor $H^0(F): H^0(\mathcal{A}) \to H^0(\mathcal{A}')$ is an equivalence.

2.3. **DG modules.** A right DG \mathcal{A} -module over a small DG category \mathcal{A} is a DG functor

$$M: \mathcal{A}^{op} \to \mathcal{C}_{dq}(k).$$

We can think of a right DG \mathcal{A} -module M as given by complexes M(X) of k-modules, for each $X \in \text{obj}(\mathcal{A})$, and by morphisms of complexes

$$M(Y) \otimes \mathcal{A}(X,Y) \to M(X)$$

compatible with compositions and units. The category \mathcal{GA} of graded \mathcal{A} -modules is the category of functors

$$M: \mathcal{A}^{op} \to \mathcal{G}(k)$$

defined on the underlying graded category of \mathcal{A} with values in the category $\mathcal{G}(k)$ of graded k-modules (cf. 2.1). An example is the homology $H^*(M)$ of a DG module M, *i.e.* the induced functor

$$H^*(\mathcal{A})^{op} \to \mathcal{G}(k), \ X \mapsto H^*(M(X)).$$

The representable \mathcal{A} -modules are those which are isomorphic to $X^{\wedge} = \mathcal{A}(-, X)$ for some object X of \mathcal{A} . The category of DG modules $\mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}$ has as objects the DG \mathcal{A} -modules and as morphisms $L \to M$ the morphisms of DG functors.

Note that \mathcal{CA} is an abelian category and that a morphism $L \to M$ is an epimorphism (respectively a monomorphism) iff it induces surjections (respectively injections) in each component of $L(X) \to M(X)$ for each object X of \mathcal{A} . A morphism $f: L \to M$ is a quasi-isomorphism if it induces an isomorphism in homology. We have $\mathcal{CA} = Z^0(\mathcal{C}_{dg}(\mathcal{A}))$, where the DG category $\mathcal{C}_{dg}(\mathcal{A})$ is defined by

$$\mathcal{C}_{dq}(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{A}^{op}, \mathcal{C}_{dq}(k))$$

We write $\mathcal{H}om(L, M)$ for the complex of morphisms from L to M in $\mathcal{C}_{dg}(\mathcal{A})$. For each $X \in \mathcal{A}$, we have a natural isomorphism

(1)
$$\mathcal{H}om(X^{\wedge}, M) \xrightarrow{\sim} M(X).$$

The category up to homotopy of DG A-modules is

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{A}) = H^0(\mathcal{C}_{dq}(\mathcal{A})).$$

The isomorphism (1) yields the isomorphism

(2)

$$\mathcal{CA}(X^{\wedge}, M) = Z^{0}(\mathcal{C}_{dg}(\mathcal{A}))(X^{\wedge}, M)$$

$$= Z^{0}(\mathcal{C}_{dg}(\mathcal{A})(X^{\wedge}, M))$$

$$\xrightarrow{\sim} Z^{0}(M(X))$$

$$= (Z^{0}M)(X),$$

for X and M as above. Similarly, we obtain

(3)
$$\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{A})(X^{\wedge}, M[n]) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^n(\mathcal{H}om(X^{\wedge}, M)) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^nM(X),$$

where $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and M[n] is the shifted DG module $Y \mapsto M(Y)[n]$.

2.4. The derived category. Let us introduce the *derived category* \mathcal{DA} by formally inverting the quasi-isomorphisms of \mathcal{CA} . The derived category can be made into a triangulated category by defining the distinguished triangles as the "images" of the short exact sequences of \mathcal{CA}

$$0 \longrightarrow L \xrightarrow{i} M \xrightarrow{p} N \longrightarrow 0$$

which split in the category of graded \mathcal{A} -modules. These sequences of \mathcal{CA} are also called *conflations*. This means that the *deflation* p has a graded section s of degree 0 or, equivalently, the *conflation* i has a graded retraction r of degree 0. It turns out that, with this choice of conflations, the category of the DG modules \mathcal{CA} has the structure of Frobenius category. Moreover, its stable category is equivalent to the (triangulated) category up to homotopy $\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{A})$ (*cf.* [10], [8], [14]). Bernhard Keller shows in [14] that the projection functor $\mathcal{HA} \to \mathcal{DA}$ admits a fully faithful left adjoint \mathbf{p} and a fully faithful right adjoint \mathbf{i} . By using the embedding

$$\mathbf{p}: \mathcal{DA} \to \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{A})$$

and the isomorphisms (3), it is possible to show that, for an object X of \mathcal{A} and a DG module M, the isomorphisms

(4)
$$\mathcal{DA}(X^{\wedge}, M[n]) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{A})(X^{\wedge}, \mathbf{i}M[n]) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^n M(X)$$

hold, since X^{\wedge} is cofibrant (6.1). The embedding $\mathbf{p} : \mathcal{D}\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{H}(\mathcal{A})$ is also the tool which makes it clear that the derived category is still an additive category. The derived category $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$ admits arbitrary coproducts, induced by the coproducts of the category $\mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}$ of DG modules. Thanks to the isomorphisms

(5)
$$\mathcal{DA}(X^{\wedge}[n], M) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{-n}M(X),$$

obtained from (4), each DG module $X^{\wedge}[n]$, where X is an object of \mathcal{A} and n an integer, is compact (*cf.* subsection 3.1 for the definition and subsection 4.2 for more details). The isomorphism (5) also shows that a DG module M vanishes in \mathcal{DA} iff each morphism $X^{\wedge}[n] \to M$ vanishes. Thus the set \mathcal{G} formed by the $X^{\wedge}[n], X \in \mathcal{A}$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, is a set of compact generators (*cf.* subsection 4.2) for \mathcal{DA} .

3. Well generated triangulated categories

3.1. **Definitions of Krause and Neeman.** The notion of well generated triangulated category is due to A. Neeman [27, Def. 1.15, p. 15]. Instead of his original definition, we will use a characterization due to H. Krause [17] which is closer in spirit to the definition of Grothendieck abelian categories. We recall that a *regular* cardinal α is a cardinal which is *not* the sum of fewer than α cardinals, all smaller than α (see any standard reference about set theory for definitions and properties of ordinals and cardinals, a very readable one is [19]). In this thesis, we will usually assume that the cardinals we use are infinite and regular.

Definition 3.1. Let \mathcal{T} be a triangulated category with arbitrary coproducts and suspension functor Σ . Let α be an infinite regular cardinal. Then the category \mathcal{T} is α -compactly generated if there exists a set of α -good generators, *i.e.* a set of objects \mathcal{G}_0 such that $\Sigma \mathcal{G}_0 = \mathcal{G}_0$, satisfying the conditions:

(G1) an object $X \in \mathcal{T}$ is zero if $\mathcal{T}(G, X) = 0$ for all G in \mathcal{G}_0 ;

(G2) for each family of morphisms $f_i: X_i \to Y_i, i \in I$, the induced map

$$\mathcal{T}(G, \coprod_{i \in I} X_i) \to \mathcal{T}(G, \coprod_{i \in I} Y_i)$$

is surjective for all $G \in \mathcal{G}_0$ if the maps

$$\mathcal{T}(G, X_i) \to \mathcal{T}(G, Y_i)$$

are surjective for all $i \in I$ and all $G \in \mathcal{G}_0$;

(G3) all the objects $G \in \mathcal{G}_0$ are α -small, *i.e.* for each family of objects X_i , $i \in I$, of \mathcal{T} , each morphism

$$G \to \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

factors through a subsum $\coprod_{i \in J} X_i$ for some subset J of I of cardinality strictly smaller than α .

A triangulated category is well generated [17] if there exists a regular cardinal δ such that it is δ -compactly generated.

Let \mathcal{T} be a triangulated category with arbitrary coproducts. We will say that condition (G4) holds for a class of objects \mathcal{G} of \mathcal{T} if the following holds:

(G4) for each family of objects X_i , $i \in I$, of \mathcal{T} , and each object $G \in \mathcal{G}$, each morphism

$$G \to \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

factors through a morphism $\coprod_{i \in I} \phi_i$: $\coprod_{i \in I} G_i \to \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$, with G_i in \mathcal{G} for all $i \in I$.

Clearly, condition (G4) holds for the empty class and, if it holds for a family of classes, then it holds for their union. Thus, for a given regular cardinal α , there exists a unique maximal class satisfying (G4) and formed by α -small objects. Following Krause [17], we denote this class, and the triangulated subcategory on its objects, by \mathcal{T}^{α} . Its objects are called the α -compact objects of \mathcal{T} .

Remark 3.2. This definition of \mathcal{T}^{α} is not identical to the one of Neeman [27, Def. 1.15, p. 15]. However, as shown in [17, Lemma 6], the two definitions are equivalent if the isomorphism classes of \mathcal{T}^{α} form a set. This always holds when \mathcal{T} is well generated, *cf.* [17].

In the case $\alpha = \aleph_0$, the \aleph_0 -compact objects are the objects usually called compact (also called small). We recall that an object K of \mathcal{T} is called *compact* if the following isomorphism holds

$$\bigoplus_{i\in I} \mathcal{T}(K, X_i) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{T}(K, \coprod_{i\in I} X_i) ,$$

where the objects X_i lie in \mathcal{T} for all $i \in I$, and I is an arbitrary set. The triangulated category with coproducts \mathcal{T} is usually called *compactly generated* if condition (G1) holds for a set \mathcal{G}_0 contained in the subcategory of compact objects $\mathcal{T}^c = \mathcal{T}^{\aleph_0}$. In the case $\alpha = \aleph_0$, the definition of well generated category specializes to that of compactly generated category.

Let \mathcal{T} be a triangulated category with arbitrary coproducts and \mathcal{G}_0 a small full subcategory of \mathcal{T} . Let $\mathcal{G} = \mathrm{Add}(\mathcal{G}_0)$ be the closure of \mathcal{G}_0 under arbitrary coproducts and direct factors. A functor $F : \mathcal{G}^{op} \to \mathcal{A}b$ is *coherent* [6], [1] if it admits a presentation

$$\mathcal{G}(-,G_1) \to \mathcal{G}(-,G_0) \to F \to 0$$

for some objects G_0 and G_1 of \mathcal{G} . Let $\operatorname{coh}(\mathcal{G})$ be the category of coherent functors on \mathcal{G} . It is a full subcategory of the category Mod \mathcal{G} of all additive functors $F : \mathcal{G}^{op} \to \mathcal{A}b$. Part c) of the following lemma appears in [18, Lemma 3], in a version with countable coproducts instead of arbitrary coproducts. We give a new, more direct proof.

Lemma 3.3.

- a) For each object X of \mathcal{T} , the functor h(X) obtained by restricting $\mathcal{T}(-, X)$ to \mathcal{G} is coherent.
- b) The functor $\mathcal{G} \to \operatorname{coh}(\mathcal{G})$ taking G to h(G) commutes with arbitrary coproducts.
- c) Condition (G2) holds for \mathcal{G}_0 iff $h : \mathcal{T} \to \operatorname{coh}(\mathcal{G})$ commutes with arbitrary coproducts.

Proof. a) We have to show that, for each $X \in \mathcal{T}$, the functor $\mathcal{T}(-,X)|_{\mathcal{G}}$, which, a priori, is in Mod \mathcal{G} , is in fact coherent. We choose a morphism $\coprod_{i \in I} G_i \to X$, $G_i \in \mathcal{G}_0$, such that each $G \to X$, $G \in \mathcal{G}_0$, factors through a morphism $G_i \to X$. Then

$$\mathcal{T}(-, \prod_{i \in I} G_i)|_{\mathcal{G}} \to \mathcal{T}(-, X)|_{\mathcal{G}}$$

is an epimorphism in $\operatorname{Mod} \mathcal{G}$. We form a distinguished triangle

$$X' \to \prod_{i \in I} G_i \to X \to \Sigma X'$$

in \mathcal{T} . We can continue the construction and choose a morphism $\coprod_{i \in I'} G'_i \to X', G'_i \in \mathcal{G}_0$, such that each $G \to X'$, $G \in \mathcal{G}_0$, factors through a morphism $G'_i \to X'$. Then the sequence

$$\mathcal{T}(-, \coprod_{i \in I'} G'_i)|_{\mathcal{G}} \to \mathcal{T}(-, \coprod_{i \in I} G_i)|_{\mathcal{G}} \to \mathcal{T}(-, X)|_{\mathcal{G}} \to 0$$

is a presentation of $\mathcal{T}(-,X)|_{\mathcal{G}}$.

b) Let $(G_i)_{i \in I}$ be a family of objects of \mathcal{G} . We have to show that the canonical morphism

$$\operatorname{coh}(\mathcal{G})(h(\coprod_{i\in I}G_i),F)\to \prod_{i\in I}\operatorname{coh}(\mathcal{G})(h(G_i),F)$$

is invertible for each coherent functor F. Since h(G) is projective for each G in \mathcal{G} , it is enough to check this for representable functors F. For these, it follows from Yoneda's lemma and the definition of $\coprod_{i \in I} G_i$.

c) We suppose that (G2) holds for \mathcal{G}_0 .

First step. For each family $(X_i)_{i \in I}$ of \mathcal{T} , the canonical morphism $\coprod_{i \in I} h(X_i) \xrightarrow{\varphi} h(\coprod_{i \in I} X_i)$ is an epimorphism. Indeed, for each $i \in I$, let $G_i \to X_i$ be a morphism such that

$$h(G_i) \to h(X_i)$$

is an epimorphism, where G_i belongs to \mathcal{G} . By b), the functor $h : \mathcal{G} \to \operatorname{coh}(\mathcal{G})$ commutes with coproducts. Thus, we obtain a commutative square

By condition (G2), π is an epimorphism. Thus, φ is an epimorphism.

Second step. For each family $(X_i)_{i \in I}$ of \mathcal{T} , the canonical morphism $\coprod_{i \in I} h(X_i) \xrightarrow{\varphi} h(\coprod_{i \in I} X_i)$ is an isomorphism. Indeed, for each $i \in I$, we choose distinguished triangles

$$X'_i \to G_i \to X_i \to \Sigma X'_i$$
,

and morphisms $G'_i \to X'_i$, where $G_i \to X_i$ is as in the first step and G'_i belongs to \mathcal{G} , such that

$$h(G'_i) \to h(X'_i)$$

is an epimorphism. Then the sequence

$$0 \to h(\prod_{i \in I} X'_i) \xrightarrow{\iota} h(\prod_{i \in I} G_i) \xrightarrow{\pi} h(\prod_{i \in I} X_i) \to 0$$

is exact. Indeed, coproducts preserve distinguished triangles and h is cohomological since it is the composition of the Yoneda functor with the restriction functor $F \mapsto F|_{\mathcal{G}}$, which is clearly exact. In particular, ι is a monomorphism. Since the coproduct functor $\coprod_{i \in I}$ is right exact, the top morphism of the square

is an epimorphism. By the first step, it follows that the morphism φ is an epimorphism. By b), the morphism $\coprod_{i \in I} h(G'_i) \to h(\coprod_{i \in I} G'_i)$ is an isomorphism. Therefore, the morphism

$$h(\coprod_{i\in I}G'_i)\to h(\coprod_{i\in I}X'_i)$$

is an epimorphism and the sequence

$$h(\coprod_{i\in I}G'_i) \to h(\coprod_{i\in I}G_i) \xrightarrow{\pi} h(\coprod_{i\in I}X_i) \to 0$$

is exact. The claim now follows from b) since, $\coprod_{i \in I}$ being a right exact functor, we have a diagram with exact rows

$$\begin{split} & \coprod_{i \in I} h(G'_i) \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} h(G_i) \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} h(X_i) \longrightarrow 0 \\ & \downarrow^{\wr} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\wr} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\varphi} \\ & h(\coprod_{i \in I} G'_i) \longrightarrow h(\coprod_{i \in I} G_i) \longrightarrow h(\coprod_{i \in I} X_i) \longrightarrow 0. \end{split}$$

We suppose now that h commutes with coproducts. We will show that condition (G2) holds for \mathcal{G} . Let $(f_i : X_i \to Y_i)_{i \in I}$ be a family of morphisms in \mathcal{T} such that $\mathcal{T}(G, f_i) :$ $\mathcal{T}(G, X_i) \to \mathcal{T}(G, Y_i)$ is surjective for all $i \in I$ and all $G \in \mathcal{G}_0$. Then $\mathcal{T}(\coprod_{l \in L} G_l, f_i) :$ $\mathcal{T}(\coprod_{l \in L} G_l, X_i) \to \mathcal{T}(\coprod_{l \in L} G_l, Y_i)$ is surjective for all the families $(G_l)_{l \in L}$ of \mathcal{G}_0 and all $i \in I$, thanks to the isomorphisms $\mathcal{T}(\coprod_{l \in L} G_l, X_i) \to \prod_{l \in L} \mathcal{T}(G_l, X_i)$. Moreover, it is trivial to verify that $\mathcal{T}(A, f_i) : \mathcal{T}(A, X_i) \to \mathcal{T}(A, Y_i)$ is surjective, for all $i \in I$, for each direct factor A of any object $G \in \mathcal{G}_0$. Therefore, $\mathcal{T}(G, f_i)$ is surjective for all $i \in I$ and all $G \in \mathcal{G}$. Thus, $\mathcal{T}(-, X_i)|_{\mathcal{G}} \to \mathcal{T}(-, Y_i)|_{\mathcal{G}}$ is an epimorphism for all $i \in I$. The coproduct $\coprod_{i \in I} \mathcal{T}(-, X_i)|_{\mathcal{G}} \to \coprod_{i \in I} \mathcal{T}(-, Y_i)|_{\mathcal{G}}$ is still an epimorphism. Since h commutes with coproducts, it follows that $\mathcal{T}(G, \coprod_{i \in I} X_i) \to \mathcal{T}(G, \coprod_{i \in I} Y_i)$ is surjective for all $G \in \mathcal{G}$, in particular for all $G \in \mathcal{G}_0$.

Consider a triangulated category \mathcal{T} and a class of its objects \mathcal{G}_0 , satisfying some or all the conditions of definition 3.1. It will be important for us to know if these conditions continue to hold for different closures of \mathcal{G}_0 .

Proposition 3.4. Let \mathcal{T} be a cocomplete triangulated category, i.e. \mathcal{T} admits all small coproducts. Let \mathcal{G}_0 be a class of objects in \mathcal{T} , stable under Σ and Σ^{-1} , satisfying conditions (G2) and (G3) of the definition 3.1. Let α be an infinite cardinal. Let \mathcal{G} be the closure of \mathcal{G}_0 under Σ and Σ^{-1} , extensions and α -small coproducts. Then, conditions (G3) and (G4) hold for \mathcal{G} .

Proof. (G3) We directly show that condition (G3) holds for shifts, α -coproducts and extensions of objects in \mathcal{G}_0 .

Since the functor $\Sigma : \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}$ is an equivalence, an object X of \mathcal{T} is α -small iff ΣX is α -small. Thus, condition (G3) holds for all objects $\Sigma^n G, G \in \mathcal{G}_0, n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Since α -small coproducts commute with α -filtered colimits, condition (G3) holds for α -small coproducts of objects of \mathcal{G}_0 . Indeed, let $(G_j)_{j \in J}$, $|J| < \alpha$, be a family of α -small objects of \mathcal{G}_0 and let $(X_i)_{i \in I}$ be an arbitrary family of objects of \mathcal{T} . We have

the following sequence of isomorphisms:

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(\coprod_{j\in J} G_j, \coprod_{i\in I} X_i) = \prod_{j\in J} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(G_j, \coprod_{i\in I} X_i)$$
$$= \prod_{j\in J} \operatorname{colim}_{I'\subset I} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(G_j, \coprod_{i\in I'} X_i)$$
$$\operatorname{colim}_{I'\subset I} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(\prod_{j\in J} G_j, \coprod_{i\in I'} X_i) = \operatorname{colim}_{I'\subset I} \prod_{j\in J} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(G_j, \coprod_{i\in I'} X_i),$$

where the cardinality of the subset I' is strictly smaller than α . The only non trivial isomorphism is the vertical third which holds since the cardinal α is supposed regular, hence the colimit is taken over an α -filtered set I.

Let us consider the (mapping) cone of an arbitrary morphism $G \to G'$ of \mathcal{G}_0

$$G \longrightarrow G' \longrightarrow C \longrightarrow \Sigma G.$$

We can form two long exact sequences by applying the cohomological functors

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(-, \coprod_{i \in I} X_i) \quad \text{and} \quad \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(-, \coprod_{i \in J} X_i)$$

to the last distinguished triangle. Now we consider the colimit over the subsets $J \subset I$ of cardinality strictly smaller than α of the long exact sequence induced by $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(-,\coprod_{i\in J}X_i)$. We obtain a long sequence which is still exact since we are using filtered colimits. There is a natural map of the two long exact sequences just formed. Let us represent a part of it in the following diagram, where we write col_J for $\operatorname{colim}_{J\subseteq I}$

The vertical arrows are isomorphisms since G, G' are in \mathcal{G}_0 , and we have seen that ΣG is α -small. Thus, the third vertical arrow is an isomorphism by the Five-Lemma and C is α -small, too.

(G4) We call \mathcal{U} the full subcategory of \mathcal{T} formed by the objects $X \in \mathcal{G}$ which satisfy the following condition. Given a morphism

$$f: X \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} Y_i ,$$

where $(Y_i)_{i \in I}$ is a family of objects in \mathcal{T} , there exists a family $(X_i)_{i \in I}$ of objects of \mathcal{G} and some morphisms $\varphi_i : X_i \to Y_i$ such that f factors as in the diagram



We shall show:

- a) the subcategory \mathcal{U} contains \mathcal{G}_0 ;
- b) the subcategory \mathcal{U} is stable under formation of α -coproducts;
- c) the subcategory \mathcal{U} is closed under Σ , Σ^{-1} and under extensions.

It follows by the properties a), b), c) that $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{G}$, which shows that condition (G4) holds for \mathcal{G} .

a) Let G_0 be an object in \mathcal{G}_0 and $f: G_0 \to \coprod_{i \in I} Y_i$ a morphism in \mathcal{T} , where $(Y_i)_{i \in I}$ is a family of objects in \mathcal{T} . For every $i \in I$, let $(G_{ij} \to Y_i)_{j \in J_i}$, where $G_{ij} \in \mathcal{G}$, be a family of morphisms such that every morphism $G_0 \to Y_i$ factors through one of the morphisms $G_{ij} \to Y_i$. Then, the morphism

$$\varphi_i: \coprod_{j \in J_i} G_{ij} \longrightarrow Y_i$$

induces a surjection

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(G_0, \coprod_{j \in J_i} G_{ij}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(G_0, Y_i),$$

for every $i \in I$. By (G2), the map

$$\operatorname{Hom}(G_0, \coprod_{i \in I} \coprod_{j \in J_i} G_{ij}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(G_0, \coprod_{i \in I} Y_i)$$

is a surjection. Therefore, there exists a morphism

$$\widetilde{f}: G_0 \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} \coprod_{j \in J_i} G_{ij}$$

such that the composition

$$G_0 \xrightarrow{\widetilde{f}} \coprod_{i \in I} \coprod_{j \in J_i} G_{ij} \xrightarrow{\coprod_{i \in I} \varphi_i} \coprod_{i \in I} Y_i$$

is equal to f. We have supposed that G is α -small (condition (G3) holds for \mathcal{G}_0). Therefore the morphism

$$G_0 \xrightarrow{f} \coprod_{i \in I} \coprod_{j \in J_i} G_{ij} = \coprod_{(i,j) \in \mathcal{L}} G_{ij} ,$$

where \mathcal{L} is the set of pairs (i, j) with $i \in I$ and $j \in J_i$, factors through the sub-sum

$$\coprod_{(i,j)\in\Lambda} G_{ij} = \coprod_{j\in\widetilde{I}} \coprod_{j\in\widetilde{J}_i} G_{ij} ,$$

where $\Lambda \subseteq \mathcal{L}$ is a subset of cardinality strictly smaller than α . Let \widetilde{I} be the set of indices $i \in I$ such that Λ contains a pair of the form (i, j). Then \widetilde{I} is of cardinality strictly smaller than α . Now for each $i \in \widetilde{I}$, let \widetilde{J}_i be the set of indices $j \in J_i$ such that Λ contains the pair (i, j). Then each \widetilde{J}_i is of cardinality strictly smaller than α . Now for $i \notin \widetilde{I}$, put $\widetilde{J}_i = \emptyset$. Then we have

$$\coprod_{(i,j)\in\Lambda} G_{ij} = \coprod_{i\in I} \coprod_{j\in\widetilde{J}_i} G_{ij}.$$

Let $Y_i = \coprod_{j \in \widetilde{J}_i} G_{ij}$. Then f factors as

$$G_0 \longrightarrow \prod_{i \in I} Y_i \xrightarrow{\coprod_{i \in I} (\varphi_i|_{Y_i})} \prod_{i \in I} X_i.$$

As $|\widetilde{J}| < \alpha$, Y_i lies in \mathcal{G} for all $i \in I$.

b) Let $(U_j)_{j \in J}$ be a family of \mathcal{U} where $|J| < \alpha$. Let

$$f: \coprod_{j\in J} U_j \longrightarrow \coprod_{i\in I} X_i$$
,

be a morphism in \mathcal{T} , where $(X_i)_{i \in I}$ is a family of \mathcal{T} . Let

$$f_j: U_j \longrightarrow \prod_{i \in I} X_i$$

be the component of f associated to $j \in J$. For each $j \in J$, since U_j lies in \mathcal{U} , there exists a factorization



where $(Y_{ji})_{i \in I}$ is a family of \mathcal{G} . Then, we have the factorization

$$\prod_{j\in J} U_j \longrightarrow \prod_{j\in J} \prod_{i\in I} Y_{ji} \stackrel{\varphi}{\longrightarrow} \prod_{i\in I} X_i ,$$

which we can write as

$$\coprod_{j \in J} U_j \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} \coprod_{j \in J} Y_{ji} \xrightarrow{\coprod_{i \in I} \varphi_i} \coprod_{i \in I} X_i ,$$

where $\coprod_{i \in J} Y_{ji}$ belongs to \mathcal{G} since $|J| < \alpha$. Therefore, $\coprod_{i \in J} U_i$ lies in \mathcal{U} .

c) Clearly, \mathcal{U} is stable under the action of Σ and Σ^{-1} . Let

$$X \longrightarrow X' \longrightarrow X'' \longrightarrow \Sigma X$$

be a distinguished triangle of \mathcal{T} such that X, X' are in \mathcal{U} . Let

$$X'' \xrightarrow{f''} \coprod_{i \in I} Y_i$$

be a morphism of \mathcal{T} where $(Y_i)_{i \in I}$ is a family of \mathcal{T} . We have the factorization



where $X' \in \mathcal{G}$ and $\varphi_i : X'_i \to Y_i$ are morphisms in \mathcal{T} for all $i \in I$. We can extend each φ_i to a distinguished triangle, take coproducts over I and then complete the square

above to a morphism of distinguished triangles (using axiom TR3 of triangulated categories):



The objects X, X' and ΣX belong to \mathcal{U} . Thus, the morphisms f, f' and Σf above factor through a coproduct taken over I of objects in \mathcal{G} . We have the commutative diagram

where the morphisms $u_i : X_i \to X'_i$, $i \in I$, are in \mathcal{G} . Now, we extend the morphisms u_i to distinguished triangles and then form the distinguished triangle of coproducts over I. Successively, we form morphisms of distinguished triangles using axiom TR3 of triangulated categories, obtaining the maps g and $\coprod_{i \in I} \psi_i$ as shown in the diagram

Note that the subdiagram between X'' and $\coprod_{i \in I} Y_i$ does *not* commute, *i.e.* the composition $(\coprod_I \psi_i) \circ g$ is in general *not* equal to f''. Anyway, by composing with $\coprod_I \varepsilon_i$, we obtain

$$(\coprod_{I} \varepsilon_{i}) \circ (\coprod_{I} \psi_{i}) \circ g = (\coprod_{I} \varepsilon_{i}) \circ f''.$$

Therefore, by applying $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(X'', -)$ to the distinguished triangle in the third row of the last diagram, it is immediate that

$$(\coprod_I \psi_i) \circ g - f'' = (\coprod_I \varphi_i) \circ h ,$$

for some morphism $h: X'' \to \coprod_{i \in I} X'_i$, as in the diagram. Then, the correct expression of f'' is

$$f'' = (\coprod_I \psi_i) \circ g + (\coprod_I \varphi_i) \circ (-h)$$

which shows that f'' factors as

The previous factorization of f'' is trivially equivalent to the following

$$X'' \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} (X''_i \oplus X'_i) \longrightarrow_{II_I[\psi_i, \varphi_i]} \coprod_{i \in I} Y_i.$$

Now, $X''_i \oplus X'_i$ is in \mathcal{G} for all $i \in I$ by construction.

There are two immediate and useful corollaries.

Corollary 3.5. Let \mathcal{T} be a cocomplete triangulated category. Let \mathcal{G}_0 be a class of objects in \mathcal{T} satisfying all the conditions of the last proposition. Let α be an infinite cardinal. Let \mathcal{G} be the closure of \mathcal{G}_0 under Σ and Σ^{-1} , extensions, α -small coproducts and direct factors, i.e. $\mathcal{G} = \langle \mathcal{G}_0 \rangle_{\alpha}$ in the notation of 4.2 below. Then, conditions (G3) and (G4) hold for \mathcal{G} .

Proof. The proof of the preceding proposition works for (G4) if we verify that the subcategory \mathcal{U} is also closed under direct factors, *i.e.* that it is thick (4.2).

Let U be an object in \mathcal{U} and $U = U' \oplus U''$. Then, there is a section i of the projection $p: U \to U'$. Let $f: U' \to \coprod_{i \in I} W_i$ be a morphism in \mathcal{T} . The composition $f \circ p$ factors as



where the objects V_i are in \mathcal{G} and the morphisms $\phi : V_i \to W_i$ in \mathcal{T} , for all $i \in I$. Then f also factors over $\coprod_{i \in I} V_i$, through the morphism $g \circ i$. Indeed, $f \circ p = (\coprod_I \phi_i) \circ g$, and $f \circ p \circ i = (\coprod_I \phi_i) \circ g \circ i$, but $p \circ i$ is the identity morphism of U'.

The proof of the preceding proposition works for (G3) if we verify that the direct factors of the objects in \mathcal{G}_0 are α -small, too. This requires the construction of a diagram structurally identical to the one above. Therefore, we omit it.

Corollary 3.6. Let α be an infinite regular cardinal. Let \mathcal{T} be a triangulated category α -compactly generated by a set \mathcal{G}_0 . Let \mathcal{G} be the closure of \mathcal{G}_0 under Σ and Σ^{-1} , extensions and α -small coproducts. Let $\langle \mathcal{G}_0 \rangle_{\alpha}$ be the closure of \mathcal{G} under direct factors. Then, \mathcal{T} is α -compactly generated by both \mathcal{G} and $\langle \mathcal{G}_0 \rangle_{\alpha}$.

Proof. The condition (G1) clearly holds for both \mathcal{G} and $\langle \mathcal{G}_0 \rangle_{\alpha}$, since they contain \mathcal{G}_0 . The conditions (G3) and (G4) hold for \mathcal{G} by proposition 3.4 and for $\langle \mathcal{G}_0 \rangle_{\alpha}$ by corollary 3.5. Moreover, condition (G4) easily implies (G2).

3.2. Equivalences of well generated triangulated categories. This subsection is devoted to establishing a small set of conditions which allows us to show that two well generated triangulated categories are triangle equivalent.

Proposition 3.7. Let \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{T}' be two triangulated categories admitting arbitrary set-indexed coproducts. Let α be a regular cardinal and $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{T}$ and $\mathcal{G}' \subset \mathcal{T}'$ two α localizing subcategories, i.e. thick and closed under formation of α -small coproducts (4.2). Suppose that \mathcal{G} and \mathcal{G}' satisfy conditions (G1), (G2), (G3) for the cardinal α . Let $F : \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}'$ be a triangle functor which commutes with all coproducts and induces an equivalence $\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{G}'$. Then F is an equivalence of triangulated categories.

Proof. 1^{st} step: The functor F induces an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G}'.$$

As F commutes with coproducts and induces a functor $\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{G}'$, F induces a functor $\operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G} \to \operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G}'$. Clearly, the induced functor is essentially surjective. Let us show that it is fully faithful. For any objects G and G' in $\operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G}$ we consider the map

$$F(G,G'): \mathcal{T}(G,G') \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}'(FG,FG').$$

By hypothesis, it is bijective if G and G' are in \mathcal{G} . Let G be in \mathcal{G} and $G' = \coprod_{i \in I} G'_i$, where $(G'_i)_{i \in I}$ is a family in \mathcal{G} . Then, F(G, G') is still bijective since we have the following sequence of isomorphisms

$$\mathcal{T}(G,G') = \mathcal{T}(G,\coprod_{i\in I}G'_i)$$

(6)
$$= \operatorname{colim}_{J \subset I} \mathcal{T}(G, \prod_{i \in J} G'_i)$$

(7)
$$\xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{colim}_{J \subset I} \mathcal{T}'(F(G), F(\coprod_{i \in J} G'_i))$$

(8)
$$\xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{colim}_{J \subset I} \mathcal{T}'(F(G), \coprod_{i \in J} F(G'_i))$$

(9)
$$= \mathcal{T}'(F(G), \coprod_{i \in I} F(G'_i))$$

(10)
$$\mathcal{T}'(F(G), F(G')) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{T}'(F(G), F(\coprod_{i \in I} G'_i)),$$

where J runs through the subsets of cardinality strictly smaller than α of I. Here, we have used: (6) G is α -small; (7) \mathcal{G} contains $\prod_{i \in J} G_i$ since \mathcal{G} is α -localizing; (8) Fcommutes with coproducts; (9) F(G) is α -small; (10) F commutes with coproducts.

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{T}(G,G') &= \mathcal{T}(\coprod_{i\in I} G_i,G') \\ &\stackrel{\sim}{\to} \prod_{i\in I} \mathcal{T}(G_i,G') \\ &\stackrel{\sim}{\to} \prod_{i\in I} \mathcal{T}'(F(G_i),F(G')) \\ &\stackrel{\leftarrow}{\leftarrow} \mathcal{T}'(\coprod_{i\in I} F(G_i),F(G')) \\ \mathcal{T}'(F(G),F(G')) &= \mathcal{T}'(F(\coprod_{i\in I} G_i),F(G')). \end{aligned}$$

 2^{nd} step: For each object G in \mathcal{G} and each object X in \mathcal{T} , F induces a bijection

$$\mathcal{T}(G,X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}'(FG,FX)$$

Let \mathcal{U} be the full subcategory of \mathcal{T} formed by the objects X such that F induces a bijection

$$\mathcal{T}(G,X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}'(FG,FX)$$
,

for each G in \mathcal{G} . Clearly, \mathcal{U} is a triangulated subcategory. Let us show that \mathcal{U} is stable under formation of coproducts. Let $(X_i)_{i \in I}$ be a family of objects in \mathcal{U} . We will show that the map

$$\mathcal{T}(G, \coprod_{i \in I} X_i) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}'(FG, F(\coprod_{i \in I} X_i)) = \mathcal{T}'(FG, \coprod_{i \in I} F(X_i))$$

is bijective. Let us show that it is surjective. Let

$$f: FG \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} F(X_i)$$

a morphism in \mathcal{T}' . The condition (G4) holds for the subcategory \mathcal{G}' by corollary 3.5. Therefore, as F is an equivalence $\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{G}'$, there exists a family of objects $(G_i)_{i \in I}$ in \mathcal{G} and a factorization of f

$$FG \xrightarrow{g} \prod_{i \in I} F(G_i) \xrightarrow{\Pi_{i \in I} h_i} \prod_{i \in I} F(X_i),$$

for a family of morphisms $h_i : F(G_i) \to F(X_i)$. As each X_i is in \mathcal{U} , we have $h_i = F(k_i)$ for some morphisms $k_i : G_i \to X_i$. Since the object

$$\prod_{i \in I} F(G_i) = F(\prod_{i \in I} G_i)$$

is in $\operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G}'$ and F induces an equivalence

$$\operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G}' ,$$

there exists a morphism $l: G \to \coprod_{i \in I} G_i$ such that F(l) gives g. Thus, f is the image of the composition

$$G \xrightarrow{l} \lim_{i \in I} G_i \xrightarrow{\lim_{i \in I} k_i} \prod_{i \in I} X_i$$

under F. Let us show that it is injective. Let

$$f:G\longrightarrow \coprod_{i\in I} X_i$$

be a morphism such that F(f) = 0. As \mathcal{G} has property (G4) by corollary 3.5, we have a factorization

$$G \xrightarrow{g} \prod_{i \in I} G_i \xrightarrow{\prod_{i \in I} h_i} \prod_{i \in I} X_i ,$$

for a family of objects G in \mathcal{G} and a family of morphisms $h_i: G_i \to X_i$. We have

$$F(\prod_{i\in I}h_i)\circ F(g)=0.$$

Let us extend the morphism $\prod_{i \in I} h_i$ and form a distinguished triangle

$$\prod_{i \in I} Y_i \xrightarrow{\prod_{i \in I} k_i} \prod_{i \in I} G_i \xrightarrow{\prod_{i \in I} h_i} \prod_{i \in I} X_i \xrightarrow{\sum \prod_{i \in I} Y_i}$$

There exists a morphism $m: FG \to \coprod_{i \in I} Y_i$ such that

$$F(\coprod_{i\in I}k_i)\circ m=F(g).$$

Note that each Y_i is in \mathcal{U} since G_i and X_i are in \mathcal{U} . By the surjectivity already shown, we have

$$m = F(l)$$

for a morphism $l: G \to \coprod_{i \in I} Y_i$. Thus,

$$F(\coprod_{i\in I}k_i\circ l)=F(g)$$

As G and $\coprod_{i \in I} G_i$ are in Add \mathcal{G} , it follows that

$$\prod_{i\in I}k_i\circ l=g$$

Thus,

$$f = (\prod_{i \in I} h_i) \circ g = (\prod_{i \in I} h_i) \circ (\prod_{i \in I} k_i) \circ l = 0.$$

 3^{rd} step: The functor F is fully faithful.

Let Y be an object in \mathcal{T} . Let \mathcal{U} be the full subcategory of \mathcal{T} formed by the objects X such that F induces a bijection

$$\mathcal{T}(X,Y) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}'(FX,FY).$$

By the second step, \mathcal{U} contains \mathcal{G} . Clearly, \mathcal{U} is a triangulated subcategory. Let us show that \mathcal{U} is stable under formation of coproducts. Let $(X_i)_{i \in I}$ be a family of

objects in \mathcal{U} . Then we have

$$\mathcal{T}(\coprod_{i\in I} X_i, Y) \xrightarrow{\sim} \prod_{i\in I} \mathcal{T}(X_i, Y)$$
$$\xrightarrow{\sim} \prod_{i\in I} \mathcal{T}'(F(X_i), F(Y))$$
$$= \mathcal{T}'(\coprod_{i\in I} F(X_i), F(Y)).$$

Thus, $\coprod_{i \in I} X_i$ is indeed in \mathcal{U} . It is easy to see that \mathcal{U} contains the direct factors of its objects. So, we have checked that \mathcal{U} is an α -localizing subcategory of \mathcal{T} and contains \mathcal{G} . By proposition 4.6 below, the smallest localizing subcategory containing \mathcal{G} is the whole category \mathcal{T} . It follows that $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{T}$.

 4^{th} step: The functor F is essentially surjective.

The functor F induces an equivalence from \mathcal{T} onto a localizing subcategory \mathcal{V} of \mathcal{T}' by the third step. Indeed, \mathcal{V} is triangulated, stable under coproducts and thick since F is a triangle functor commuting with coproducts. It follows that $\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{T}'$, as \mathcal{V} contains \mathcal{G}' , which generates \mathcal{T}' .

It remains to find conditions such that the functor F of the preceding proposition commutes with coproducts. This is made in the following

Theorem 3.8. Let α be a regular cardinal. Let \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{T}' be two cocomplete triangulated categories. Let $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{T}$ and $\mathcal{G}' \subset \mathcal{T}'$ be two α -localizing subcategories, both of them satisfying conditions (G1), (G2), (G3) for α . Let $F : \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}'$ be a triangle functor. Suppose that F induces a functor

$$\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{G}'$$

which is essentially surjective and induces bijections

$$\mathcal{T}(G,X) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{T}'(FG,FX)$$

for all G in \mathcal{G} and X in \mathcal{T} . Then F is an equivalence of triangulated categories.

Remark 3.9. We do not suppose that F commutes with coproducts.

Proof. 1st step: For each family $(G_i)_{i \in I}$ in \mathcal{G} , the morphism

$$\coprod_{i\in I} F(G_i) \longrightarrow F(\coprod_{i\in I} G_i)$$

is invertible.

It is sufficient to show that, for all G' in \mathcal{G}' , the map

$$\mathcal{T}'(G', \coprod_{i \in I} F(G_i) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}'(G', F(\coprod_{i \in I} G_i))$$

is bijective since \mathcal{G}' verifies (G1). As $F : \mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{G}'$ is essentially surjective, it is sufficient to verify this for G' = FG for all G in \mathcal{G} . Let $G \in \mathcal{G}$. We have

 πl

(11)
$$\mathcal{T}'(FG, \coprod_{i \in I} FG_i) = \operatorname{colim}_{J \subset I} \mathcal{T}'(FG, \coprod_{i \in J} FG_i)$$

(12)
$$= \operatorname{colim}_{J \subset I} \mathcal{T}'(FG, \coprod_{i \in J} FG_i)$$

(13)
$$= \operatorname{colim}_{J \subset I} \mathcal{T}(G, \coprod_{i \in J}^{\mathcal{G}} G_i)$$

(14)
$$= \mathcal{T}(G, \coprod_{i \in I} G_i),$$

where J are subsets of I of cardinality strictly smaller than α . Here, we have used: (11) FG is α -small; (12) \mathcal{G}' has α -small coproducts; (13) F induces an equivalence $\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{G}'$; (14) G is α -small. On the other hand, we have

$$\mathcal{T}'(FG, F \coprod_{i \in I} G_i) \xleftarrow{\sim} \mathcal{T}(G, \coprod_{i \in I} G_i),$$

by the hypothesis, with $X = \coprod_{i \in I} G_i$.

 2^{nd} step: The functor F induces an equivalence Add $\mathcal{G} \to \operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G}'$.

By the first step and the essential surjectivity of $F : \mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{G}'$, F induces an essentially surjective functor from $\operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G} \to \operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G}'$. By hypothesis, for G in \mathcal{G} and X in $\operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G}$, F induces a bijection

$$\mathcal{T}(G,X)\longrightarrow \mathcal{T}'(FG,FX).$$

Let $(G_i)_{i \in I}$ be a family in \mathcal{G} and X an object in Add \mathcal{G} . Then,

$$\mathcal{T}(\prod_{i \in I} G_i, X) \xrightarrow{\sim} \prod_{i \in I} \mathcal{T}(G_i, X)$$
$$\xrightarrow{\sim} \prod_{i \in I} \mathcal{T}'(F(G_i), F(X))$$
$$\mathcal{T}'(F(\prod_{i \in I} G_i), F(X)) = \mathcal{T}'(\prod_{i \in I} F(G_i), F(X)).$$

Thus, F restricted to Add \mathcal{G} is fully faithful.

 3^{rd} step: The functor F commutes with coproducts.

Let us consider the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{T} \xrightarrow{F} \mathcal{T}' \\ h_{\mathcal{T}} \downarrow & \downarrow h'_{\mathcal{T}} \\ \operatorname{coh}(\operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{coh}(\operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G}'). \end{array}$$

We will show that it commutes up to isomorphism. Let X be an object in \mathcal{T} and let

$$h(G_1) \longrightarrow h(G_0) \longrightarrow h(X) \longrightarrow 0$$

be a projective presentation, where G_1 , G_0 are in Add \mathcal{G} . Then, for all G in \mathcal{G} , we obtain an exact sequence

$$\mathcal{T}(G,G_1) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}(G,G_0) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}(G,X) \longrightarrow 0$$

Therefore, the sequence

$$\mathcal{T}'(FG, FG_1) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}'(FG, FG_0) \longrightarrow \mathcal{T}'(FG, FX) \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact (since isomorphic to the first). It follows that the sequence

$$h(FG_1) \longrightarrow h(FG_0) \longrightarrow h(FX) \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact (since the objects h(FG), $G \in \mathcal{G}$, form a family of projective generators of $\operatorname{coh}(\operatorname{Add} \mathcal{G}')$). Thus,

$$F^*(h(X)) = \operatorname{cok}(h(FG_1) \longrightarrow h(FG_0))$$

is indeed canonically isomorphic to h(FX). To conclude, note that F^* (which is an equivalence!) and $h_{\mathcal{T}}$ commute with coproducts and that $h'_{\mathcal{T}}$ detects the isomorphisms.

 4^{th} step: The claim follows thanks to the preceding proposition 3.7.

4. THICK SUBCATEGORIES AND LOCALIZATION OF TRIANGULATED CATEGORIES

We recall now some known results about the localizations of triangulated categories and about their thick subcategories, before stating the most important theorem of this section concerning the localization of *well generated* triangulated categories. For complete proofs of the cited results, we refer to Neeman's book [27, Ch. 2, p. 73] and the classical [38, Ch. 2.2, p. 111-133].

4.1. Localization of triangulated categories. We begin with a collection of properties of the *triangle quotient* [38, Ch. 2.2, p. 111-133] of triangulated categories.

Proposition 4.1. Let \mathcal{T} be a triangulated category with arbitrary coproducts, let Φ be a set of morphisms in \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{N} the smallest triangulated subcategory of \mathcal{T} containing the cone(s), with $s \in \Phi$, stable under arbitrary coproducts. Then the following assertions hold:

- a) \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} is a triangulated category and admits arbitrary coproducts;
- b) the canonical functor $Q: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N}$ commutes with all coproducts;
- c) the morphisms Q(s) are invertible for all $s \in \Phi$;
- d) if $F : \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{S}$ is a triangle functor, where \mathcal{S} is a triangulated category which admits all coproducts and the functor F commutes with all coproducts and makes every $s \in \Phi$ invertible in \mathcal{S} , then $F = \overline{F} \circ Q$ for a unique coproduct preserving triangle functor $\overline{F} : \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} \to \mathcal{S}$;
- e) more precisely, if S is a triangulated category with arbitrary coproducts, there is an isomorphism of categories

$$\mathcal{F}un_{cont}(\mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N},\mathcal{S}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{F}un_{cont,\Phi}(\mathcal{T},\mathcal{S}),$$

where $\mathcal{F}un_{cont}$ is the category of triangulated functors commuting with arbitrary coproducts, and $\mathcal{F}un_{cont,\Phi}$ is the category of the functors in $\mathcal{F}un_{cont}$ which have the additional property of making all $s \in \Phi$ invertible.

Proof. See Chapter 2 in [27] or [38, Ch. 2.2, p. 111-133]. We give only an argument for the commutativity of Q with coproducts because it is a general one, useful in other contexts. Let $\prod_I \mathcal{T}$ be the product category of copies of \mathcal{T} indexed by I. Using the universality of coproducts it is easy to check that the functor $\prod_{i \in I} : \prod_I \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}$ which takes a family $(X_i)_{i \in I}$ to the coproduct $\prod_{i \in I} X_i$ is left adjoint to the diagonal functor Δ . It is clear that $\Delta(\Phi) \subseteq \prod_I (\Phi)$ and that $\prod_{i \in I} (\prod_I (\Phi)) \subseteq \Phi$. Therefore, the pair $\prod_{i \in I} \dashv \Delta$ induces the following commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \prod_{I} \mathcal{T} & \xrightarrow{can} & (\prod_{I} \mathcal{T})[(\prod_{I} \Phi)^{-1}] = \prod_{I} (\mathcal{T}[\Phi^{-1}]) \\ & \coprod_{i \in I} & & \coprod_{i \in I} & & \coprod_{i \in I} \\ \mathcal{T} & \xrightarrow{can} & \mathcal{T}[\Phi^{-1}] \end{array}$$

which entails the required commutativity of Q with all the coproducts over the set I. Of course, this construction is possible for every set I.

The functor Q is usually called *(canonical) quotient functor*, even if \mathcal{T} does not have coproducts. In general, the morphisms between two objects in a triangle quotient do not form a set. However, this is the case if the quotient functor Q admits a right adjoint Q_{ρ} , because Q_{ρ} is automatically fully faithful.

Definition 4.2. Let \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{T}' be triangulated categories. A triangle functor $F : \mathcal{T}' \to \mathcal{T}$ is a *localization functor* if it is fully faithful and admits a left adjoint functor.

If $F : \mathcal{T}' \to \mathcal{T}$ is a localization functor and F_{λ} is left adjoint, then F_{λ} induces an equivalence from the triangle quotient $\mathcal{T}/\ker(F_{\lambda})$ to \mathcal{T}' . Via this equivalence, F_{λ} identifies with the quotient functor $\mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}/\ker(F_{\lambda})$ and F with its right adjoint.

4.2. Some thick subcategories of triangulated categories. Let us recall that a full triangulated subcategory of a triangulated category is called *thick*, (*épaisse* in the French literature, saturée in the original definition in Verdier's thesis [38, 2.2.6, p. 114) if it contains the direct factors of its objects. We remark that this property is automatically verified if the triangulated category has countable coproducts, since in this case idempotents splits (see [2], [27, Prop. 1.6.8, p. 65] for definitions and properties of idempotents in triangulated categories). Now we give definitions and notations about some important subcategories of a triangulated category \mathcal{T} with arbitrary coproducts and suspension functor Σ . The best reference for this material is [27, Ch. 3-4]. We recall that a full triangulated subcategory \mathcal{S} of \mathcal{T} is called *localizing* if it is closed under arbitrary coproducts. It is called α -localizing, for a given regular cardinal α , if it is thick and closed under α -coproducts of its objects, *i.e.* coproducts of objects formed over a set of cardinality strictly smaller than α . We write $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\alpha}$ (resp. $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle$) for the smallest α -localizing (resp. localizing) subcategory of \mathcal{T} containing \mathcal{S} , where \mathcal{S} is a set or a class of objects in \mathcal{T} and α a regular cardinal. Note that in the above definitions the requirement that the subcategories are thick is necessary only for the case $\alpha = \aleph_0$, since for $\alpha > \aleph_0$ these subcategories are automatically thick as we underlined at the beginning of the section. In his book [27, Ch. 3-4] Neeman shows the very important properties of the previous subcategories and of the subcategories of the α -small objects $\mathcal{T}^{(\alpha)}$ and that of the α -compact objects \mathcal{T}^{α} . They are triangulated, α -localizing and thick subcategories of \mathcal{T} for $\alpha > \aleph_0$. There is the following filtration: if $\alpha \leq \beta$ then $\mathcal{T}^{\alpha} \subseteq \mathcal{T}^{\beta}$. Clearly $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle = \bigcup_{\alpha} \langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\alpha}$, but if \mathcal{S} contains a good set of generators for \mathcal{T} , then $\mathcal{T} = \bigcup_{\alpha} \langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\alpha} = \langle \mathcal{S} \rangle$, where α runs over all regular cardinals. If \mathcal{T} is a well generated triangulated category, then $\mathcal{T} = \bigcup_{\alpha} \mathcal{T}^{\alpha}$, where α runs over all regular cardinals.

We have the

Theorem 4.3 ([27, Lemma 3.2.10, p. 107]). Let β be an infinite cardinal. Let \mathcal{T} be a triangulated category closed under the formation of coproducts of fewer than β of its objects. Let \mathcal{N} be a β -localizing subcategory of \mathcal{T} . Then \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} is closed with respect to the formation of coproducts of fewer than β of its objects, and the universal functor $F: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N}$ preserves coproducts.

and its

Corollary 4.4 ([27, Cor. 3.2.11, p. 110]). If \mathcal{T} is a triangulated category with all coproducts and \mathcal{N} is a localizing subcategory of \mathcal{T} , then \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} is a triangulated

category which admits all coproducts and the universal functor $\mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N}$ preserves coproducts.

Now we state one of the major results in the theory of triangulated categories. This result has a long story (see for example [5], [26]), which comes from algebraic topology. We state it in the modern and general form Neeman gives it in his book, see [27, Thm. 1.17, p. 16] and [27, Thm. 8.3.3, p. 282] for a more general statement and the proof.

Theorem 4.5. (Brown representability). Let \mathcal{T} be a well-generated triangulated category. Let H be a contravariant functor $H : \mathcal{T}^{op} \to \mathcal{A}b$. The functor H is representable if and only if it is cohomological and takes coproducts in \mathcal{T} to products of abelian groups.

Let us now clarify the meaning of two similar but different notions. Let \mathcal{T} be a triangulated category and \mathcal{G} a set of objects in \mathcal{T} . We say that \mathcal{T} is generated by \mathcal{G} or, equivalently, that \mathcal{G} generates \mathcal{T} if $\mathcal{T} = \langle \mathcal{G} \rangle$. In contradistinction, we say that \mathcal{G} is a generating set for \mathcal{T} if condition (G1) of definition 3.1 holds for the subset \mathcal{G} of \mathcal{T} . Let us recall condition (G1): an object $X \in \mathcal{T}$ is zero if and only if $\mathcal{T}(G, X) = 0$ for all G in \mathcal{G}_0 (we always assume that $\Sigma \mathcal{G}_0 = \mathcal{G}_0$). The former notion is stronger than the latter. If \mathcal{G} generates \mathcal{T} , then \mathcal{G} is a generating set for \mathcal{T} , whereas the converse is not true in general but holds if \mathcal{G} is assumed further to be a \aleph_1 -perfect generating set for \mathcal{T} in the sense of Neeman (*cf.* [27, Ch. 8, Def. 8.1.2, p. 273]). Moreover, we give another link between the two notions, which is useful because it covers the case of well generated triangulated categories.

Proposition 4.6. Let \mathcal{T} be a well generated triangulated category and \mathcal{G} a generating set for \mathcal{T} , i.e. condition (G1) holds for \mathcal{G} . Then \mathcal{G} generates \mathcal{T} , i.e. $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle = \mathcal{T}$.

Proof. Let us call \mathcal{N} the subcategory $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle$. Since \mathcal{N} is a localizing subcategory generated by the set \mathcal{G} , it is well generated by corollary 4.12 below. Then, the Brown representability theorem (4.5) holds for \mathcal{N} . Therefore, for each object $X \in \mathcal{T}$, the functor $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(-,X)|_{\mathcal{G}} : \langle \mathcal{G} \rangle^{op} \to \mathcal{A}b$, which is cohomological and sends coproducts into products, is representable. For each object X in \mathcal{T} there exists an object $X_{\mathcal{N}}$ in \mathcal{N} such that $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(-,X)|_{\mathcal{G}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{N}}(-,X_{\mathcal{N}})$. Thus, we have obtained a functor i_{ρ} right adjoint to the fully faithful inclusion: $i: \mathcal{N} \to \mathcal{T}$. Consider now, for every $X \in \mathcal{T}$, the distinguished triangle in \mathcal{T}

$$ii_{\rho}X \longrightarrow X \longrightarrow Y \longrightarrow \Sigma ii_{\rho}X.$$

Applying to the triangle the covariant functor $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(iN, -)$, N an object of \mathcal{N} , we obtain a long exact sequence of abelian groups. Consider the part corresponding to the input triangle: The map from the first term $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(iN, ii_{\rho}X)$ to the second term $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(iN, X)$ is easily seen to be an isomorphism, since i is fully faithful and i_{ρ} is its right adjoint. Similarly, the map from the fourth to the fifth term is an isomorphism. Therefore, the third group $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(iN, Y)$ must be zero for all $N \in \mathcal{N}$. This forces the object Y to lie in \mathcal{N}^{\perp} . But \mathcal{N}^{\perp} is zero. Indeed, condition (G1) holds for \mathcal{G} , *i.e.* $\mathcal{G}^{\perp} = 0$. Thus, the inclusion $\mathcal{G} \subseteq \mathcal{N}$ gives $\mathcal{N}^{\perp} \subseteq \mathcal{G}^{\perp} = 0$, *i.e.* $\mathcal{N}^{\perp} = 0$. Therefore, we have Y = 0. By the triangle above, this means $ii_{\rho}X \xrightarrow{\sim} X$, for all X in \mathcal{T} . It follows that i is an equivalence of categories, which gives $\mathcal{T} = \langle \mathcal{G} \rangle$.
4.3. Localization of well generated triangulated categories. In this section, we will state a Theorem about particular localizations of well generated triangulated categories, those which are triangle quotients by a subcategory generated by a set. One could obtain this result using Thomason's powerful Theorem [36, Key Proposition 5.2.2, p. 338] in its generalized form given by Neeman in [27, Thm. 4.4.9, p. 143]. Neeman himself does this in [28] in proving that the derived category of a Grothendieck category is always a well generated triangulated category. We will give a more detailed and slightly different proof in order to make clear the machinery behind Thomason-Neeman's Theorem. Before doing this task we recall the key ingredient of the proof. We give a proof of this result to make clear that it works also with the definition 3.1 of Krause.

Theorem 4.7 ([27, Ch. 4, Thm. 4.3.3, p. 131]). Let \mathcal{T} be a triangulated category with small coproducts. Let β be a regular cardinal. Let \mathcal{S} be some class of objects in \mathcal{T}^{β} . Let X be a β -compact object of \mathcal{T} , i.e. $X \in \mathcal{T}^{\beta}$, and let Z be an object of $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle$. Suppose that $f: X \to Z$ is a morphism in \mathcal{T} . Then there exists an object $Y \in \langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\beta}$ so that f factors as $X \to Y \to Z$.

Proof. Let \mathcal{W} be the full subcategory of $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle$ whose objects are all the $W \in \langle \mathcal{S} \rangle$ such that, for every object $X \in \mathcal{T}^{\beta}$ and every morphism $X \to W$, there does exist a factorization



where the object Y lies in $\langle S \rangle_{\beta}$. Clearly, it suffices to show that $\langle S \rangle \subseteq \mathcal{W}$. We will show that \mathcal{W} contains \mathcal{S} , that it is a triangulated subcategory and that it is closed under formation of arbitrary small coproducts. This is sufficient since $\langle S \rangle$ is minimal with these properties. Note that \mathcal{W} will also automatically be thick, since to be a localizing subcategory means to be α -localizing for every regular cardinal α .

It is clear that \mathcal{W} contains \mathcal{S} . Indeed, we can factor any morphism $X \to Z$, with $Z \in \mathcal{S}$ through the identity morphism of Z, and Z lies in $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\beta}$.

Note that if W is in \mathcal{W} , then ΣW is in \mathcal{W} , too. Indeed, consider an arbitrary morphism

$$p: X \longrightarrow \Sigma W$$
,

with X in \mathcal{T}^{β} . Since the functor Σ^{-1} is an endoequivalence of \mathcal{T} the morphism p uniquely corresponds to a morphism $\Sigma^{-1}p: \Sigma^{-1}X \to W$. This morphism factors through an object $Y \in \langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\beta}$



as W lies in \mathcal{W} and $\Sigma^{-1}X$ is in \mathcal{T}^{β} . Apply another time Σ^{-1} to get the factorization



As ΣY is in $\langle S \rangle_{\beta}$, ΣW is in \mathcal{W} . Similarly, one sees that $\Sigma^{-1}W$ is in \mathcal{W} .

Consider an arbitrary morphism

 $h: W \longrightarrow W'$

in \mathcal{W} . We want to show that there is a distinguished triangle in \mathcal{W}

$$(*) W \xrightarrow{h} W' \xrightarrow{l} W'' \xrightarrow{m} \Sigma W$$

which contains the morphism h.

Consider the distinguished triangle in $\langle S \rangle$

$$W \xrightarrow{h} W' \xrightarrow{l'} S \xrightarrow{m'} \Sigma W$$

which contains the morphism h. We want to show that the object S lies in \mathcal{W} , too. Let us consider an arbitrary morphism

$$q: X \longrightarrow S$$

where X is an object in \mathcal{T}^{β} . By composition with m' we get the morphism

$$m' \circ q : X \longrightarrow \Sigma W.$$

Since $X \in \mathcal{T}^{\beta}$ and we have seen that $\Sigma W \in \mathcal{W}$ this morphism factors through an object Y' of $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\beta}$



Therefore, the square



is commutative. Using the axioms of triangulated categories we can extend this square to a morphism of distinguished triangles



38

Notice that the subcategory $\langle S \rangle_{\beta}$ is contained in \mathcal{T}^{β} . Indeed, \mathcal{T}^{β} is β -localizing, it contains S, and $\langle S \rangle_{\beta}$ is minimal with these properties. Hence the first distinguished triangle in the preceding diagram lies in \mathcal{T}^{β} . As $\Sigma W'$ is in \mathcal{W} we have the factorization of t



with Y'' in $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\beta}$. Form the composition

$$p' \circ r' : Y' \longrightarrow Y''$$
,

and extend it to a distinguished triangle in $\langle S \rangle_{\beta}$

$$\Sigma^{-1}Y''' \xrightarrow{q''} Y' \xrightarrow{p' \circ r'} Y'' \xrightarrow{q'} Y'''$$

Putting together the preceding distinguished triangles we obtain the following morphisms of triangles



Indeed by axiom TR3, there are morphisms t' and t'' which make the diagram commute. Hence the morphisms $\Sigma^{-1}t'$ and $\Sigma^{-1}t''$ complete the diagram. Notice that $s' \circ p'$ equals t whereas $t'' \circ t'$ is not equal to Σq and so $\Sigma^{-1}t'' \circ \Sigma^{-1}t'$ is not equal to q. Anyway, the compositions $\Sigma m' \circ t'' \circ t'$ and $\Sigma m' \circ \Sigma q$ are equal. Therefore, by applying $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(\Sigma X, -)$ to the distinguished triangle in the third row of the last diagram, it is immediate that

$$t'' \circ t' - \Sigma q = m''' \circ \varphi ,$$

for some morphism $\varphi: \Sigma X \to \Sigma W'$, as in the diagram. Then, the correct expression of Σq is

$$\Sigma q = m''' \circ (-\varphi) + t'' \circ t'$$

which shows that Σq factors as

$$\Sigma X \xrightarrow{\qquad \qquad } \Sigma W' \oplus Y''' \xrightarrow{\qquad \qquad \qquad } \Sigma S.$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} -\varphi \\ t' \end{bmatrix}$$

Since ΣX is in \mathcal{T}^{β} and $\Sigma W'$ in \mathcal{W} , the morphism φ factors through an object \overline{Y} lying in $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\beta}$



By composition, we have

$$\Sigma q = m''' \circ (\overline{q} \circ (-\overline{p})) + t'' \circ t'$$

which provides a further factorization of Σq through $\overline{Y} \oplus Y'''$

$$\Sigma X \xrightarrow[-\overline{p}]{} \overline{Y} \oplus Y''' \xrightarrow{[m'''\circ\overline{q}, t'']} \Sigma S$$

Thus we have proved that the morphism $q: X \to S$ factors through the object $\Sigma^{-1}(\overline{Y} \oplus Y'')$ lying in $\langle S \rangle_{\beta}$. Hence the object S lies in \mathcal{W} and can be identified with the object $W'' \in \mathcal{W}$ in the distinguished triangle (*). Hence \mathcal{W} is triangulated.

It remains to show that \mathcal{W} is closed under formation of arbitrary small coproducts. Let I be an arbitrary set and W_i , $i \in I$, a family of objects of \mathcal{W} . Consider an arbitrary morphism

$$X \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} W_i ,$$

with X in \mathcal{T}^{β} . The objects of \mathcal{T}^{β} are β -small. Therefore, by condition (G3) of definition 3.1 we have the factorization



where J is a subset of I of cardinality strictly smaller than α . Now we can apply condition (G4) to the morphism $X \to \coprod_{i \in J} W_i$. For all $i \in J$, there exist objects $X_i \in \mathcal{T}^\beta$ and morphisms $f_i : X_i \to W_i$ so that the following factorization holds



Each morphism f_i factors through an object Y_i lying in $\langle S \rangle_{\beta}$, for all $i \in J$,

$$X_i \xrightarrow{\sigma_i} Y_i \xrightarrow{\rho_i} W_i.$$

40

Therefore we have the factorization



Putting together the preceding factorizations we obtain the commutative triangle



Note that the object $\coprod_{i \in J} Y_i$ belongs to $\langle S \rangle_{\beta}$ since it is a β -small coproduct of objects of $\langle S \rangle_{\beta}$. This shows that $\coprod_{i \in I} W_i$ lies in \mathcal{W} . Thus, \mathcal{W} equals $\langle S \rangle$, and we are done.

The power of this factorization property is seen at once, since it is the key to obtain the following results.

Corollary 4.8 ([27, Ch. 4, Lemma 4.4.5, p. 140 for item a) and Lemma 4.4.8, p. 142 for item b)]). Let \mathcal{T} be a triangulated category with small coproducts. Let \mathcal{S} be some class of objects in \mathcal{T}^{α} for some infinite cardinal α . Let $\beta \geq \alpha$ be a regular cardinal. Then:

- a) if $\langle S \rangle = T$, then the inclusion $\langle S \rangle_{\beta} \subseteq T^{\beta}$ is an equality;
- b) let $\mathcal{N} = \langle \mathcal{S} \rangle$. Then there is an inclusion $\mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{T}^{\beta} \subseteq \mathcal{N}^{\beta}$.

Proof. a) Let X be an object of \mathcal{T}^{β} and consider the identity map $\mathbf{1}_X : X \to X$. As X is at the same time in \mathcal{T}^{β} and in $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle$ we can apply the theorem 4.7 and factor $\mathbf{1}_X$ through some object $Y \in \langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\beta}$. Thus the object X is a direct factor of Y. Since $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\beta}$ is thick, we have $X \in \langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\beta}$.

b) Let K be an object of $\mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{T}^{\beta}$. Then K is β -small as an object of \mathcal{N} since the inclusion $\mathcal{N} \subseteq \mathcal{T}$ commutes with coproducts. Now, let $K \to \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$ be a morphism, where the objects X_i belong to \mathcal{N} . It factors through a morphism $\coprod_{i \in I} f_i :$ $\coprod_{i \in I} K_i \to \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$, where the objects K_i belong to \mathcal{T}^{β} . By the theorem above, each morphism $K_i \to X_i$ factors through an object K'_i belonging to $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\beta} \subseteq \mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{T}^{\beta}$. Therefore the class $\mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{T}^{\beta}$ satisfies (G4) in \mathcal{N} and we obtain the required inclusion.

The next proposition states some useful properties of the images in the quotient category \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} of the maps of the subcategories $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ of \mathcal{T} under the canonical quotient functor Q.

Proposition 4.9. Let α be a regular cardinal. Let \mathcal{T} be a triangulated category with small coproducts, generated by a class of objects $\mathcal{G} \subseteq \mathcal{T}^{\alpha}$. Let \mathcal{S} be an arbitrary class of objects in \mathcal{T}^{α} and Q the canonical quotient functor

$$Q: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}/\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle.$$

Let $\beta \geq \alpha$ be a regular cardinal. Then:

a) each morphism $u: Q(G) \to Q(X)$, where G is an object of $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ and Q(X)an arbitrary object of \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} , is the equivalence class of a diagram in \mathcal{T}



where the object G' belongs to $\mathcal{T}^{\beta} = \langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ and the arrow $\xrightarrow{\sim}$ means a morphism whose image under Q is invertible; in particular, the morphisms from Q(G)to Q(X) in $\mathcal{T} \langle \mathcal{S} \rangle$ form a set if \mathcal{G} is a set;

- b) the image of $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ under the (restriction of the) functor Q is a full triangulated subcategory of \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} ;
- c) if β is uncountable, then $\langle Q\mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ equals $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta})$. If β is countable, then $\langle Q\mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ equals the closure of $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta})$ under taking direct factors.

Proof. a) Let $u: Q(G) \to Q(X)$ be a morphism in \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} . It is the equivalence class of a 'roof' diagram in \mathcal{T}



where the object T belongs to \mathcal{T} . We can form the distinguished triangle

$$N \longleftarrow G \xleftarrow{\sim} T \xleftarrow{} \Sigma^{-1}N$$
,

where N and $\Sigma^{-1}N$ lie in $\langle S \rangle$. The object G is β -compact in \mathcal{T} . Therefore, we can apply theorem 4.7 to the morphism $N \leftarrow G$ and factor it as

$$N \longleftarrow N' \longleftarrow G$$
,

where N' belongs to $\langle S \rangle_{\beta}$. The class $\langle S \rangle_{\beta}$ is contained in \mathcal{T}^{β} , since S is contained in \mathcal{T}^{β} by the hypothesis. Therefore, we can complete the morphism $N' \leftarrow G$ to a distinguished triangle in \mathcal{T}^{β}

$$N' \longleftarrow G \xleftarrow{\sim} G' \longleftarrow \Sigma^{-1} N'$$

and deduce a map of distinguished triangles



adding the morphism $G' \to T$. The wavy arrow stands for the given morphism $Q(G) \to Q(X)$ in \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} , whereas the dotted arrow is the composition $G' \to T \xrightarrow{\sim} X$. The roof diagrams $G \xleftarrow{\sim} G' \to X$ and $G \xleftarrow{\sim} T \to X$ are clearly equivalent. We have supposed that \mathcal{T} has small coproducts and that $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle = \mathcal{T}$, with \mathcal{G} contained in \mathcal{T}^{α} , hence in \mathcal{T}^{β} . Therefore, $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta} = \mathcal{T}^{\beta}$ by point a) of corollary 4.8. This shows that G' also lies in $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$.

b) Clearly, the image of $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ under Q is stable under Σ and Σ^{-1} . We have to show that it is stable under forming cones. Let G_1 and G_2 be two objects of $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ and u a morphism from QG_1 to QG_2 . By part a), the morphism u equals the equivalence class of a diagram



where G'_1 belongs to $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$. Therefore, the cone C on v still belongs to $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$. Clearly, the cone on u is isomorphic to Q(C), which still belongs to the image under Q of $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$.

c) Let \mathcal{U} be the closure of $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta})$ under taking direct factors. We claim that \mathcal{U} equals $\langle Q\mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ for all $\beta \geq \alpha$. Indeed, we have $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}) \subseteq \langle Q\mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ since Q is a triangle functor and commutes with arbitrary coproducts. It follows that $\mathcal{U} \subseteq \langle Q\mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ since $\langle Q\mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ is thick. For the reverse inclusion, we notice that \mathcal{U} contains $Q\mathcal{G}$, that it is a triangulated subcategory since $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta})$ is a triangulated subcategory (by b), and that it is thick (by definition). We have thus proved the claim for countable β . Now suppose β is uncountable. Then $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta})$ is a triangulated subcategory stable under forming countable coproducts. Therefore, it is stable under taking direct factors (cf. 4.2) and thus equals $\mathcal{U} = \langle Q\mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$.

Now we can state the most important theorem of this section. This theorem has been inspired by Neeman's generalization to well generated categories [27, Thm. 4.4.9, p. 143] of Thomason-Trobaugh's theorem [36, Key Proposition 5.2.2, p. 338].

Theorem 4.10. Let \mathcal{T} be an α -compactly generated triangulated category and \mathcal{G} a set of good generators for \mathcal{T} , contained in \mathcal{T}^{α} . Let \mathcal{S} be a set of objects contained in \mathcal{T}^{γ} , for some fixed regular cardinal γ . Let $\mathcal{N} = \langle \mathcal{S} \rangle$ and Q the canonical quotient functor

$$Q: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N}.$$

a) The localizing triangulated subcategory \mathcal{N} is the union

$$\mathcal{N} = igcup_{\delta \geq \gamma} \mathcal{N}^{\delta}$$
 .

where δ runs through the regular cardinals. Equivalently, \mathcal{N} is given by the same union as above, formed over all regular cardinals;

- b) the subcategory \mathcal{N} is δ -compactly generated for all regular cardinals $\delta \geq \gamma$ by the set $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\gamma}$;
- c) the subcategory $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta})$ equals $\langle Q \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ for $\beta > \aleph_0$ and its closure under taking direct factors equals $\langle Q \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ for $\beta = \aleph_0$;
- d) the quotient category \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} is a δ -compactly generated triangulated category for all regular cardinals $\delta \geq \beta$, where $\beta = \sup(\alpha, \gamma)$, with set of good generators $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta})$.

Proof. It is clearly sufficient to prove b) for $\delta = \gamma$ and c) for $\delta = \beta$.

a) The triangulated category \mathcal{T} is well generated. Therefore, it is the union over all the regular cardinals σ of its subcategories \mathcal{T}^{σ} [17, Corollary of Thm. A]. We know from the hypothesis that $\mathcal{S} \subseteq \mathcal{T}^{\gamma}$, hence $\mathcal{S} \subseteq \mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{T}^{\gamma}$. Clearly, $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\gamma} \subseteq \mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{T}^{\gamma}$, since $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\gamma}$ is the smallest γ -localizing subcategory of \mathcal{T} containing the set \mathcal{S} . Moreover, $\mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{T}^{\gamma} \subseteq \mathcal{N}^{\gamma}$ by point b) of corollary 4.8. Thus, we have the following sequence of inclusions:

$$\mathcal{S} \subseteq \langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\gamma} \subseteq \mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{T}^{\gamma} \subseteq \mathcal{N}^{\gamma}.$$

Therefore, for each regular cardinal $\delta \geq \gamma$, we obtain $\langle S \rangle_{\delta} = \mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{T}^{\delta} = \mathcal{N}^{\delta}$, by point a) of corollary 4.8. The claim now follows by the equalities

$$\mathcal{N} = \mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{T} = \mathcal{N} \cap (\bigcup_{\lambda} \mathcal{T}^{\lambda}) = \bigcup_{\lambda} (\mathcal{N} \cap \mathcal{T}^{\lambda}) = \bigcup_{\delta \ge \gamma} \mathcal{N}^{\delta} = \bigcup_{\lambda} \mathcal{N}^{\lambda}.$$

The two last equalities hold since the set of the subcategories \mathcal{N}^{λ} is filtered over regular cardinals. This means that $\mathcal{N}^{\alpha} \subseteq \mathcal{N}^{\beta}$ if $\alpha \leq \beta$, for all regular cardinals α and β .

b) The isomorphism classes of the objects of the subcategory $\langle S \rangle_{\gamma}$ form a set, since it is explicitly constructed from the objects in S, which is also a set. Moreover, $\langle S \rangle_{\gamma}$ is stable under shifts because it is triangulated. Let us show condition (G1). Let Ybe an object of \mathcal{N} such that $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{N}}(X,Y) = 0$ for all X in $\langle S \rangle_{\gamma}$. Then, it is easy to check that this equality holds for X in $\langle S \rangle$. In particular it holds for X = Y. Hence Y vanishes. Therefore, condition (G1) holds for $\langle S \rangle_{\gamma}$. By the proof of point a), $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle_{\gamma} = \mathcal{N}^{\gamma}$. Therefore, conditions (G2) and (G3) trivially hold by the definition of \mathcal{N}^{γ} .

c) All the conditions of proposition 4.9 hold. Thus, this point results from part c) of proposition 4.9.

d) The subcategory \mathcal{N} is well generated by point b). Thus, the Brown representability theorem (4.5) holds for \mathcal{N} and we conclude that the inclusion *i* of \mathcal{N} into \mathcal{T} admits a right adjoint i_{ρ} as in the proof of proposition 4.6. Now this implies that the quotient functor $Q: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N}$ admits a right adjoint Q_{ρ} (which takes an object X to the cone of the adjunction morphism $ii_{\rho}X \to X$). The functor Q_{ρ} is a localization functor (4.2). Thus, it is fully faithful. Let us sum up the situation in the following diagram,

$$\mathcal{N} \xleftarrow{i}{i_{\rho}} \mathcal{T} \xleftarrow{Q}{q_{\rho}} \mathcal{T} / \mathcal{N}.$$

We have to show that the conditions (G1), (G2) and (G3) of definition 3.1 hold for $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta})$. We begin by observing that the sets \mathcal{G} and \mathcal{S} are both contained in \mathcal{T}^{β} , since we have chosen $\beta = \sup(\alpha, \gamma)$. The condition (G1) holds even for the smaller set $Q\mathcal{G}$, hence for $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta})$. Indeed, suppose $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N}}(Q\mathcal{G}, X) = 0$, for an arbitrary object X in \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} . By the adjunction, this is equivalent to $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{G}, Q_{\rho}(X)) = 0$. The condition (G1) holds for the set \mathcal{G} in \mathcal{T} and implies $Q_{\rho}(X) = 0$. Therefore, $X = QQ_{\rho}X = 0$, since QQ_{ρ} is naturally equivalent to the identity endofunctor of \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} . Thus, condition (G1) holds for the set $Q\mathcal{G}$. The subcategory $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta})$ contains its β -coproducts because Q commutes with all coproducts and its objects form a set. Therefore, conditions (G2) and (G4) are equivalent for $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta})$ (cf. [17, Lemma 4]). Let us now simultaneously show that conditions (G4) and (G3) hold for $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta})$. Consider a morphism $u : Q(G) \to \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$, where G is an arbitrary object in $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$. We know from point a) of proposition 4.9 that u is the equivalence class of a diagram in \mathcal{T}



where the object G' belongs to $\mathcal{T}^{\beta} = \langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$. The conditions (G3) and (G4) also hold for $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$, by corollary 3.6. Therefore, there exists a set $J \subset I$ of cardinality strictly smaller than β and a set of morphisms $(f_i : G_i \to X_i)_{i \in I}$, where G_i lies in $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta}$ for all $i \in J$, so that the morphism $f : G' \to \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$ factors through $\coprod_{i \in J} X_i$ (G3)



and through the morphism $\coprod_{i \in I} f_i$ (G4)



The image under Q of the last two diagrams shows that the morphism u factors in \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} in the same way. Therefore, conditions (G3) and (G4) hold for $Q(\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\beta})$. \Box

Remark 4.11. The construction of the cardinal β in the preceding proof is not optimized at all. In spite of the constructive proof, this result will be useful mainly for existence problems.

The next corollary is a result about the localization of well generated categories obtained by inverting a *set* of arrows, implicitly contained in Neeman's book [27].

Corollary 4.12. Let \mathcal{T} be a well generated triangulated category and \mathcal{N} a localizing triangulated subcategory of \mathcal{T} generated by a set of objects \mathcal{S} . Then \mathcal{N} and \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N} are well generated triangulated categories.

Proof. Take the coproduct of all the objects in S. Since S is a set, the coproduct will be in \mathcal{T}^{γ} for some regular cardinal γ . Therefore, we have $S \subseteq \mathcal{T}^{\gamma}$, because \mathcal{T}^{γ} is thick in \mathcal{T} and so contains the direct factors of its objects. Now apply theorem 4.10.

5.1. The α -continuous derived category. In this subsection, we construct the α -continuous derived category of a homotopically α -cocomplete DG category. This construction enjoys a useful and beautiful property. Given a homotopically α -cocomplete (*cf.* below) pretriangulated DG category \mathcal{A} , we will show that its α -continuous derived category $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$ is α -compactly generated by the free DG modules. The categories $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$ will be the prototypes of the α -compactly generated algebraic DG categories.

Definition 5.1. Let α be a regular cardinal and \mathcal{A} a small DG *k*-category. We assume that \mathcal{A} is *homotopically* α -cocomplete, *i.e.* that the category $H^0(\mathcal{A})$ admits all α -small coproducts. For each α -small family $(A_i)_{i \in I}$ of objects of \mathcal{A} , we write

$$\prod_{i\in I}^{H^0} A_i$$

for their coproduct in $H^0(\mathcal{A})$. Each DG functor $M : \mathcal{A}^{op} \to \mathcal{C}_{dg}(k)$ induces a functor $H^0M : (H^0(\mathcal{A}))^{op} \to \mathcal{H}(k)$ and so we have a canonical morphism

$$(H^*M)(\prod_{i\in I}^{H^0} A_i) \longrightarrow \prod_{i\in I} (H^*M)(A_i).$$

Let \mathcal{DA} be the derived category of \mathcal{A} . The α -continuous derived category $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$ is defined as the full subcategory of \mathcal{DA} whose objects are the DG functors M such that, for each α -small family of objects $(A_i)_{i \in I}$ of \mathcal{A} , the canonical morphism above is invertible.

Remark 5.2. All the small k-linear DG categories which are α -cocomplete, *i.e.* admit all α -small coproducts, are homotopically α -cocomplete. A partial converse is given in conjecture 5.4 below.

This definition describes $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$ as a subcategory of $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$. One can give an equivalent definition in terms of a localization of $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$, which yields a category $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}/\mathcal{N}$ triangle equivalent to $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$. For this, let us define some *sets* of morphisms in $\mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}$. We recall that the notation \mathcal{A}^{\wedge} means $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(-, \mathcal{A})$. Let Σ_0 be the set of all morphisms of $\mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}$

$$\sigma_{\lambda} : \prod_{i \in I} A_i^{\wedge} \longrightarrow (\prod_{i \in I}^{H^0} A_i)^{\wedge},$$

where λ ranges over the set Λ of all families $(A_i)_{i \in I}$ in \mathcal{A} of cardinality strictly smaller than α . We define Σ to be the set of cofibrations between cofibrant DG modules (see definitions in subsection 6.1)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \sigma_{\lambda} \\ -\iota \end{bmatrix} : \prod_{i \in I} A_i^{\wedge} \rightarrowtail (\prod_{i \in I}^{H^0} A_i)^{\wedge} \oplus I(\prod_{i \in I} A_i^{\wedge})$$

where $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and, for each object X, the morphism $\iota : X \longrightarrow IX$ is the inclusion of X into the cone over its identity morphism.

Remark that it is clear from the definition that the DG modules $\coprod_{i\in I} A_i^{\wedge}$ and $(\coprod_{i\in I}^{H^0} A_i)^{\wedge} \oplus I(\coprod_{i\in I} A_i^{\wedge})$ are cofibrant. Moreover, the morphisms $[\sigma_{\lambda}, -\iota]^t$ are cofibrations by lemma 6.9.

We can also consider the set

$$\mathcal{M} = \{ N_{\lambda} \longrightarrow IN_{\lambda} \mid N_{\lambda} = \operatorname{cone}(\sigma_{\lambda}), \ \lambda \in \Lambda \}.$$

The cones over the morphisms in Σ_0 , Σ or \mathcal{M} generate the same localizing subcategory \mathcal{N} of \mathcal{DA} because the objects IX are contractible and thus become zero objects in \mathcal{DA} . The quotient functor

$$\mathcal{DA} \longrightarrow \mathcal{DA}/\mathcal{N}$$

induces an equivalence

$$\mathcal{D}_{lpha}\mathcal{A} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}/\mathcal{N}$$

Following [7], we say that a DG category \mathcal{A} is *pretriangulated* if the essential image of the Yoneda functor is a triangulated subcategory of the derived category \mathcal{DA} . In the case of pretriangulated DG categories, the definition of *quasi-equivalence of* DG *categories* of section 2.2 specializes to the following.

Definition 5.3. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' be pretriangulated DG categories. A DG functor

$$F: \mathcal{A} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}'$$

is a quasi-equivalence of pretriangulated DG categories if the induced triangle functor

$$H^0(F): H^0(\mathcal{A}) \longrightarrow H^0(\mathcal{A}')$$

is an equivalence of triangulated categories.

The next conjecture states that a homotopically α -cocomplete pretriangulated DG category contains α -small coproducts up to a quasi-equivalence. This would establish the link with the article [34].

Conjecture 5.4 (Strictification Theorem for α -coproducts). Let \mathcal{A} be a homotopically α -cocomplete pretriangulated DG category. Then, there exists a quasiequivalence $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}'$, where \mathcal{A}' is a pretriangulated DG category which is α -cocomplete.

We now come to the result which motivated the definition of the α -continuous derived category. We have two proofs. In the first, presented here, the result follows as a corollary of the powerful theorem 4.10. In the second, we use the projective model category structure on CA. It can be considered as a DG version of the theorem, since it does not make use of the triangulated structure present on the derived category at all (see section 6).

Theorem 5.5. Let \mathcal{A} be a homotopically α -cocomplete pretriangulated DG category. The α -continuous derived category of \mathcal{A} is α -compactly generated by the images of the free DG modules A^{\wedge} , $A \in \mathcal{A}$. More precisely, the full subcategory \mathcal{G} of $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$ formed by the images of the free DG modules A^{\wedge} , $A \in \mathcal{A}$, is a triangulated subcategory satisfying conditions (G1), (G2) and (G3) of definition 3.1.

Remark 5.6. We prove the theorem in the case where α is strictly greater than \aleph_0 , the case $\alpha = \aleph_0$ being trivial. In fact, \aleph_0 -coproducts are finite coproducts. Thus, the morphisms σ_{λ} above are isomorphisms already in \mathcal{DA} , and $\mathcal{D}_{\aleph_0}\mathcal{A}$ equals \mathcal{DA} .

48

Proof. This proof depends heavily on theorem 4.10. Therefore, let us explain how the notations correspond. The triangulated category \mathcal{T} is \mathcal{DA} . The set \mathcal{S} is formed by the cones on the following morphisms

$$\sigma_{\lambda}: \prod_{i\in I} (A_i^{\wedge}) \longrightarrow (\prod_{i\in I}^{H^0} A_i)^{\wedge},$$

where λ ranges over the set Λ of all families $(A_i)_{i \in I}$ in \mathcal{A} of cardinality strictly smaller then α . The set \mathcal{G} is formed by the free DG modules A^{\wedge} , $A \in \mathcal{A}$. It is contained in \mathcal{T}^{\aleph_0} , whereas \mathcal{S} is contained in \mathcal{T}^{α} . We have $\beta = \sup(\aleph_0, \alpha) = \alpha$. Let \mathcal{N} be $\langle \mathcal{S} \rangle$ and Q the projection functor

$$Q: \mathcal{D}\mathcal{A} \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A} \cong \mathcal{T}/\mathcal{N}.$$

Then, according to theorem 4.10, the α -continuous derived category $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$ is α compactly generated by $\langle Q\mathcal{G} \rangle_{\alpha}$. Hence, the claim of the theorem is equivalent to the
following claim: $\langle Q\mathcal{G} \rangle_{\alpha} = Q\mathcal{G}$ and the functor Q induces an equivalence $\mathcal{G} \xrightarrow{\sim} Q\mathcal{G}$. We begin with the equivalence $\mathcal{G} \xrightarrow{\sim} Q\mathcal{G}$. It amounts to the same as to show that
the functor $Q|_{\mathcal{G}}$ is fully faithful. We know from the proof of the point d) of theorem 4.10 that Q admits a right adjoint Q_{ρ} (4.2). From the general theory of Bousfield
localizations [27, Ch. 9], we have that $Q|_{\mathcal{N}^{\perp}} : \mathcal{N}^{\perp} \to \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$ is an equivalence of triangulated categories. In particular $Q|_{\mathcal{N}^{\perp}}$ is fully faithful. Therefore, it is sufficient
to show that \mathcal{G} is contained in \mathcal{N}^{\perp} . By definition, \mathcal{N} is the localizing subcategory
generated by the cones $\operatorname{cone}(\sigma_{\lambda})$, which we call $C_{(A_I)}$. We have to show that each $A^{\wedge} \in \mathcal{G}$ is right orthogonal to the objects $C_{(A_I)}$. By applying the cohomological
functor $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}}(-, \Sigma^n A^{\wedge}), n \in \mathbb{Z}$, to the distinguished triangle

$$\prod_{i\in I} (A_i^{\wedge}) \longrightarrow (\prod_{i\in I}^{H^0} A_i)^{\wedge} \longrightarrow C_{(A_I)} \longrightarrow \Sigma \prod_{i\in I} (A_i^{\wedge}),$$

it is clear that it is sufficient to show that the natural morphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{DA}}(\coprod_{i\in I}(A_i^{\wedge}),\Sigma^n A^{\wedge}) \longleftarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{DA}}((\coprod_{i\in I}^{H^0}A_i)^{\wedge},\Sigma^n A^{\wedge})$$

is an isomorphism for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. This follows from the following sequence of isomorphisms

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}}(\coprod_{i\in I}(A_{i}^{\wedge}),\Sigma^{n}A^{\wedge}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \prod_{i\in I}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}}(A_{i}^{\wedge},\Sigma^{n}A^{\wedge})$$
$$= \prod_{i\in I}H^{n}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(A_{i},A)$$
$$\stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} H^{n}(\prod_{i\in I}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(A_{i},A))$$
$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}}((\coprod_{i\in I}^{H^{0}}A_{i})^{\wedge},\Sigma^{n}A^{\wedge}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{n}(\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\coprod_{i\in I}^{H^{0}}A_{i},A)).$$

The second and the last isomorphisms are justified by the following one

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}}(A^{\wedge}, \Sigma^{n}B^{\wedge}) = H^{n}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(A, B)$$

valid for all A and B in A. The third isomorphism is the fact that cohomology commutes with formation of products. For the fourth, we observe that the natural homomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\coprod_{i\in I}^{H^0}A_i, A) \longrightarrow \prod_{i\in I} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(A_i, A)$$

is a homotopy equivalence, by the definition of \coprod^{H^0} . Therefore, it becomes invertible in cohomology.

It is trivial that $Q\mathcal{G}$ is stable under shifts. Moreover, it is automatically thick for $\alpha > \aleph_0$ (4.2). To prove that $Q\mathcal{G}$ equals $\langle Q\mathcal{G} \rangle_{\alpha}$ it is then sufficient to show that $Q\mathcal{G}$ is closed under α -coproducts and extensions. We have

$$\prod_{i \in I} (QA_i^{\wedge}) \xrightarrow{\sim} Q(\prod_{i \in I} A_i^{\wedge}) \xrightarrow{\sim} Q((\prod_{i \in I} A_i)^{\wedge}),$$

where the cardinality of I is strictly smaller than α and the last isomorphism holds by the construction of \mathcal{N} . This shows that $Q\mathcal{G}$ is closed under formation of α coproducts. Finally, $Q\mathcal{G}$ is stable under extensions in $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$. Indeed, \mathcal{G} is stable under extensions in $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$ and hence in \mathcal{N}^{\perp} , since we have shown that \mathcal{G} is contained in \mathcal{N}^{\perp} . We have also seen that the restriction $Q|_{\mathcal{N}^{\perp}}$ is an equivalence of the categories \mathcal{N}^{\perp} and $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$. It follows that $Q\mathcal{G}$ is stable under extensions in $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$.

5.2. Algebraic triangulated categories. Let us recall that an exact category \mathcal{E} (6.2) is a Frobenius category if it has enough injectives, enough projectives, and the two classes of the injectives and projectives coincide. For all pairs of objects X, Yof \mathcal{E} , let $I_{\mathcal{E}}(X,Y)$ be the subgroup of the abelian group $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{E}}(X,Y)$ formed by the morphisms which factor over an injective-projective object of \mathcal{E} . The stable category of \mathcal{E} , written $\underline{\mathcal{E}}$, is the category which has the same objects as \mathcal{E} and the morphisms

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{E}}(X,Y) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{E}}(X,Y)/I_{\mathcal{E}}(X,Y).$$

Definition 5.7. [16] An *algebraic* triangulated category is a k-linear triangulated category which is triangle equivalent to the stable category $\underline{\mathcal{E}}$ of some k-linear Frobenius category \mathcal{E} .

The class of algebraic triangulated categories is stable under taking triangulated subcategories and forming triangulated localizations (up to a set-theoretic problem). Examples abound since categories of complexes up to homotopy are algebraic. Therefore, the categories arising in homological contexts in algebra and geometry are algebraic. The area where one often encounters non algebraic triangulated categories is topology. In particular the stable homotopy category of spectra is not algebraic. More examples can be found in section 3.6 of [16]. 5.3. The main theorem. We recall [14] that a graded category over a commutative ring k is a k-linear category \mathcal{B} whose morphism spaces are \mathbb{Z} -graded k-modules

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{B}}(X,Y) = \prod_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{B}}(X,Y)^{p}$$

such that the composition maps

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{B}}(X,Y) \otimes_k \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{B}}(Y,Z) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{B}}(Y,Z)$$

are homogeneous of degree 0, for all X, Y, Z in \mathcal{B} . Now we can state and prove the main theorem of this thesis.

Theorem 5.8. Let \mathcal{T} be a triangulated category. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) \mathcal{T} is algebraic and well generated;
- (ii) there is a small DG category \mathcal{A} such that \mathcal{T} is triangle equivalent to a localization of $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$ with respect to a localizing subcategory generated by a set of objects.

Moreover, if \mathcal{T} is algebraic and α -compactly generated, and $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathcal{T}$ is a full triangulated subcategory stable under α -small coproducts and such that conditions (G1), (G2) and (G3) of definition 3.1 hold for \mathcal{U} , then there is an associated localization functor (4.2) $\mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$ for some small DG category \mathcal{A} such that $H^*(\mathcal{A})$ is equivalent to the graded category \mathcal{U}_{gr} whose objects are those of \mathcal{U} and whose morphisms are given by

$$\mathcal{U}_{gr}(U_1, U_2) = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{T}(U_1, \Sigma^n U_2).$$

Proof. $(ii) \Longrightarrow (i) : \mathcal{T}$ is a localization of \mathcal{DA} , *i.e.* there is a fully faithful functor

$$\mathcal{T} \xrightarrow{\widetilde{F}} \mathcal{DA},$$

admitting a left adjoint functor. The category \mathcal{DA} is algebraic. Triangulated subcategories of algebraic categories are algebraic, implying that \mathcal{T} is algebraic, too. Moreover, \mathcal{DA} is compactly generated by the *set* (\mathcal{A} is small)

$$\{ X^{\wedge}[n] \mid n \in \mathbb{Z}, X \in \mathcal{A} \}$$

thanks to the isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{DA}}(X^{\wedge}[n], M) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{-n}(M(X)),$$

where M is a DG module and X is an object of \mathcal{A} (*cf.* 2.4). Therefore, \mathcal{T} is well generated by Corollary 4.12, since it is assumed to be a localization generated by a set of the \aleph_0 -compactly generated category \mathcal{DA} .

 $(i) \Longrightarrow (ii)$: for the sake of clarity, we will give the proof of this implication in several steps, after making the main construction.

Let \mathcal{T} be an algebraic, well generated triangulated category, *i.e.* \mathcal{T} is equivalent to $\underline{\mathcal{E}}$ for some Frobenius category \mathcal{E} . By the definition of well generated triangulated category (in the sense of Krause), there are a regular cardinal α and a set of α -good generators $\mathcal{G}_0 \subseteq \mathcal{T}$ such that $\Sigma \mathcal{G}_0 = \mathcal{G}_0$ and the conditions (G1), (G2) and (G3) of definition 3.1 hold. Let \mathcal{G} be the closure of the set \mathcal{G}_0 under extensions and α coproducts. The set \mathcal{G} is stable under the suspension functor Σ of \mathcal{T} and under its
inverse. Therefore, it is a small triangulated subcategory of \mathcal{T} . Let us recall and
summarize the properties which hold for \mathcal{G} .

- (G0) The set \mathcal{G} is a small full triangulated subcategory of \mathcal{T} , stable under the formation of all α -small coproducts;
- (G1) the set \mathcal{G} is a generating set for \mathcal{T} : An object $X \in \mathcal{T}$ is zero if $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(G, X) = 0$ for all G in \mathcal{G} ;
- (G3) all the objects $G \in \mathcal{G}$ are α -small: For each family of objects X_i , $i \in I$, of \mathcal{T} , we have $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(G, \coprod_I X_i) = \operatorname{colim}_{J \subset I} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(G, \coprod_J X_i)$, where the sets J have cardinality strictly smaller than α ;
- (G4) for each family of objects X_i , $i \in I$, of \mathcal{T} , and each object $G \in \mathcal{G}$, each morphism

$$G \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

factors through a morphism $\coprod_{i \in I} \phi_i$: $\coprod_{i \in I} G_i \to \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$, with G_i in \mathcal{G} for all $i \in I$.

Condition (G0) clearly holds for \mathcal{G} . Condition (G3) of definition 3.1 has just been rewritten using colimits. Condition (G4) holds for \mathcal{G} by proposition 3.4. Note that conditions (G2) and (G4) are equivalent for \mathcal{G} . Indeed, we can apply [17, Lemma 4], since the set \mathcal{G} has α -coproducts and its objects are α -small.

We may assume that the category \mathcal{E} is of the form $Z^0(\tilde{\mathcal{E}})$ for an exact DG category $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}$ by the argument of the proof of theorem 4.4 of [14]. Let us recall that a DG category \mathcal{A} is an *exact* DG *category* [15] if the full subcategory $Z^0(\mathcal{A})$ of $\mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}$ formed by the image of the Yoneda functor is closed under shifts and extensions (in the sense of the exact structure of subsection 2.4). Then, $H^0(\mathcal{A})$ becomes a triangulated subcategory of $\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{A})$ and the subcategory of the representable functors becomes a triangulated subcategory of $\mathcal{H}(\mathcal{A})$ and the subcategory of the representable functors becomes a triangulated DG category (*cf.* subsection 5.1). Let us now define a small full DG subcategory $\mathcal{A} \subset \tilde{\mathcal{E}}$ as follows. For each isomorphism class of objects of \mathcal{G} , we choose a representative G and we denote by A_G the same object considered in the category $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}$. By definition, these objects A_G are objects of \mathcal{A} . Then, clearly, the category $H^0(\mathcal{A})$ is a full subcategory of $H^0(\tilde{\mathcal{E}}) = \underline{\mathcal{E}} = \mathcal{T}$ and it is equivalent to \mathcal{G} by the functor sending A_G to G. In particular, $H^0(\mathcal{A})$ is a triangulated category and it admits all α -small coproducts. Thus, \mathcal{A} is a homotopically α -cocomplete pretriangulated DG category. We define the functor

$$F: \mathcal{T} \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$$

by sending an object X of $\mathcal{T} = H^0(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}})$ to the DG module FX taking $A_G \in \mathcal{A}$ to $\operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}}(G, X)$. A priori, FX lies in $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$. Let us show that it belongs in fact to the full subcategory $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$ of $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$. Let A_{G_i} , $i \in I$, be an α -small family in \mathcal{A} . Then the coproduct $\coprod_{i \in I}^{H^0} A_{G_i}$ of the A_{G_i} in $H^0(\mathcal{A})$ is isomorphic to $A_{\coprod_{i \in I} G_i}$. Thus, we have a

quasi-isomorphism

$$(FX)(\coprod_{i\in I}^{H^0}A_{G_i}) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}}(\coprod_{i\in I}^{\mathcal{T}}G_i, X) \longrightarrow \prod_{i\in I}\operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}}(G_i, X) = \prod_{i\in I}(FX)(A_{G_i}),$$

induced by liftings to $\mathcal{E} = Z^0(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}})$ of the canonical morphisms $G_j \to \coprod_{i \in I}^{\mathcal{T}} G_i$ in \mathcal{T} , respectively by representatives in $Z^0(\mathcal{A})$ of the canonical morphisms $A_{G_j} \to \coprod_{i \in I}^{H^0} A_{G_i}$ in $H^0(\mathcal{A})$. For $A_G \in \mathcal{A}$, we have

$$FG = \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}}(-, G) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(-, A_G) = A_G^{\wedge},$$

which shows that F induces an essentially surjective functor from \mathcal{G} to the full subcategory of the A_G^{\wedge} in $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$. For A_G in \mathcal{A} and X in \mathcal{T} , we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}}(FG, FX) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}}(A_{G}^{\wedge}, FX)$$
$$= \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}}(A_{G}^{\wedge}, FX)$$
$$= H^{0}(FX(A_{G}))$$
$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(G, X) = H^{0}(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}(G, X)).$$

We would like to apply theorem 3.8 to conclude that F is a triangle equivalence: In the notations of theorem 3.8, we take $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}$, $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}$, $\mathcal{T}' = \mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$ and \mathcal{G}' to be the full subcategory on the objects A_G^{\wedge} in $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}\mathcal{A}$. By theorem 5.5, \mathcal{T}' and \mathcal{G}' do satisfy the hypothesis of theorem 3.8 and so F is indeed a triangle equivalence.

Now suppose that \mathcal{T} is an algebraic well generated triangulated category. Let $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathcal{T}$ be a full small subcategory as in the last assertion of the theorem. Then the conditions (G0), (G1) and (G3) above hold for $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{U}$. Moreover, condition (G4) holds for $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{U}$ by [17, Lemma 4]. Therefore, we can construct a DG category \mathcal{A} and an equivalence $F : \mathcal{T} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{D}_{\alpha} \mathcal{A}$ as above in the proof of the implication from i) to ii). Moreover, $H^*(\mathcal{A})$ equals \mathcal{U}_{gr} . Indeed, both have the same objects and we have

$$H^{n}(\mathcal{A})(A_{G_{1}}, A_{G_{2}}) = \mathcal{H}\mathcal{A}(A_{G_{1}}^{\wedge}, \Sigma^{n}(A_{G_{2}}^{\wedge}))$$

$$= \mathcal{H}\mathcal{A}(A_{G_{1}}^{\wedge}, (\Sigma^{n}A_{G_{2}})^{\wedge})$$

$$= H^{0}(\mathcal{A})(A_{G_{1}}, \Sigma^{n}A_{G_{2}})$$

$$\mathcal{U}_{gr}(G_{1}, G_{2})^{n} = \mathcal{U}(G_{1}, \Sigma^{n}G_{2}).$$

If \mathcal{T} is compactly generated we recover a result obtained by B. Keller in [14, Thm. 4.3]:

Corollary 5.9. Let \mathcal{T} be an algebraic triangulated category. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) \mathcal{T} is compactly generated;
- (ii) \mathcal{T} is equivalent to the derived category $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$ for some small DG category \mathcal{A} .

Proof. See remark 5.6

5.4. **Application.** We apply theorem 5.8 to a certain class of subcategories of algebraic triangulated categories we are going to define.

Definition 5.10. Let \mathcal{T} be an algebraic triangulated category which is triangle equivalent to the stable category of the Frobenius category \mathcal{E} and admits arbitrary coproducts. Let $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}$ be a DG category (not necessarily small) such that $H^0(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}})$ is triangle equivalent to \mathcal{T} . Given a subcategory \mathcal{G} of \mathcal{T} , let $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}$ be the DG subcategory of \mathcal{A} with the same objects as \mathcal{G} . Thus, the category $H^0(\widetilde{\mathcal{G}})$ is isomorphic to \mathcal{G} . We will say that \mathcal{G} is a *compactifying* subcategory of \mathcal{T} if it is small and the functor

$$\mathcal{T} \longrightarrow \mathcal{D} \, \mathcal{G} , \ X \longmapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}}(-, X)|_{\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}}$$

is fully faithful.

For example, W. T. Lowen and M. Van den Bergh proved in [21, Ch. 5] that, given a Grothendieck category \mathcal{A} with a generator G, the one-object subcategory $\mathcal{G} = \{G\}$ of the derived category $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$ is a compactifying subcategory. For this reason we call such a generator G compactifying.

Theorem 5.11. Let \mathcal{T} be a well generated algebraic triangulated category. Then there is a regular cardinal α such that the subcategory $\operatorname{sk}(\mathcal{T}^{\beta})$ formed by a system of representatives of the isomorphism classes of \mathcal{T}^{β} is compactifying for each regular cardinal $\beta \geq \alpha$.

Proof. Suppose that α is the first regular cardinal such that $\mathcal{T} = \langle \mathcal{T}^{\alpha} \rangle$. This cardinal exists because the category \mathcal{T} is well generated. For each $\beta \geq \alpha$, the subcategory $\mathrm{sk}(\mathcal{T}^{\beta})$ is small and satisfies conditions (G1), (G2) and (G3) of definition 3.1 by definition of the subcategory \mathcal{T}^{β} and the filtration by increasing regular cardinals. Now the claim follows from the last part of theorem 5.8.

6. DG enhancement of the α -continuous derived category

In this section, we give a characterization of the α -compact objects of \mathcal{DA} (*cf.* definition 3.1) using the (projective) model category structure on \mathcal{CA} . In his book [11], Hirschhorn gives a definition of α -compact objects in a model category. In subsection 6.5, we compare the two notions. It turns out that our notion is not a particular case of Hirschhorn's.

6.1. The (Quillen) model category structure on the category of DG mod**ules.** Sometimes on a category one can put a *model structure*, *i.e.* the data of three special classes of morphisms, called fibrations, cofibrations and weak equivalences, which satisfy a given set of axioms [12]. This structure was invented by Quillen in the sixties [33] to give a formal general setting for abstract homotopy theory. In the last years people recognized more and more the foundational importance of this notion, and were lead to the definition of the modern *Model Categories*. Excellent sources for this material are the books [11], [12]. We recall that a model category is a category with all small limits and colimits which admits a model structure. Therefore, a model category always has an initial object \emptyset (the colimit of the empty diagram) and one defines the *cofibrant objects* to be the objects P such that the unique morphism from \emptyset to P is a cofibration. The *fibrant objects* are defined by the dual property. Let \mathcal{A} be a small DG category. The (big) category of DG modules \mathcal{CA} has (at least) two model category structures (cf. Thm. 3.2 in [16] which generalizes Thm. 2.3.11 in [12]). We are interested in the projective structure, where the fibrations are the epimorphisms (pointwise surjective maps), the weak equivalences are the quasi-isomorphisms and consequently the *cofibrations* are the morphisms having the left lifting property (LLP) with respect to the trivial fibrations. This means that, given the solid commutative square,



where the trivial fibration is the right vertical arrow and the cofibration is the left vertical one, there always exists a morphism (the dotted arrow) which makes the diagram commute.

An exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow L \longrightarrow M \longrightarrow N \longrightarrow 0$$

of DG modules is *graded split* if it splits in the category of graded \mathcal{A} -modules. A straightforward adaptation of proposition 2.3.9 in [12] allows us to characterize the cofibrations as the *graded split monomorphisms* with cofibrant cokernel.

In the projective model structure each object is fibrant and an object P is cofibrant if and only if it is cofibrant as a DG module, *i.e.* if and only if there is a commutative diagram



for every trivial fibration $L \xrightarrow{\sim} M$ and every morphism $P \longrightarrow M$ in the category of DG modules. The subcategory of cofibrant DG modules can be described as the closure of the subcategory of the representables under left and right shifts, arbitrary small coproducts, extensions, and formation of direct factors [14, subsection 3.1].

Let us recall that in the category $C\mathcal{A}$, we have the usual notion of cochain homotopy. Indeed, we say that two morphisms $f, g : M \to N$ between DG modules are *cochain homotopic* and we write $f \approx g$ if there exists a morphism

$$h: M \longrightarrow N$$

of graded \mathcal{A} -modules, homogeneous of degree -1, such that

$$(*) f - g = d_N \circ h + h \circ d_M.$$

Notice that the morphism h is *not* a morphism of DG modules.

Clearly, we also have the notion of homotopy given by the model category structure which is present on CA. We recall that a cylinder object for an object B in some fixed model structure is a factorization of the codiagonal morphism $\nabla_B = [\mathbf{1}_B, \mathbf{1}_B]$ through a cofibration and a weak equivalence as follows



Let f_0 and f_1 be two morphisms between B and an object Z. A left homotopy from f to g for some cylinder object cyl(B) is a morphism $H : cyl(B) \to Z$ such that $H \circ i_0 = f_0, H \circ i_1 = f_1, i.e.$ the diagram



commutes.

Under a mild condition, the notion of left homotopy for the projective model structure on CA reduces to that of cochain homotopy. We have the

Lemma 6.1. Let f_0 , $f_1 : M \to N$ be morphisms of DG modules, where we assume M to be cofibrant. Then, f_0 and f_1 are chain homotopic if and only if they are left homotopic in the sense of the projective model structure on CA.

Proof. Let us fix notations. Given a morphism of DG modules $f : X \to Y$, its *(mapping) cone*, cone(f), is the DG module $Y \oplus \Sigma X$ whose differential is

$$d_{\operatorname{cone}(f)} = \begin{bmatrix} d_Y & \Sigma f \\ 0 & d_{\Sigma X} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} d_Y & \Sigma f \\ 0 & -\Sigma d_X \end{bmatrix}.$$

The (mapping) cylinder cyl(f) of f is the cone of the DG module morphism $[-\mathbf{1}_X, f]^t$: $X \to X \oplus Y$, *i.e.* the DG module $X \oplus Y \oplus \Sigma X$ whose differential is

$$d_{\text{cyl}(f)} = \begin{bmatrix} d_X & 0 & -\Sigma \mathbf{1}_X \\ 0 & d_Y & \Sigma f \\ 0 & 0 & -\Sigma d_X \end{bmatrix}.$$

If B is a *cofibrant* DG module, then the cylinder $cyl(\mathbf{1}_B)$ is a cylinder object for B. Indeed, consider the factorization of the codiagonal morphism



Here, $i_0 = [\mathbf{1}_B, 0, 0]^t$, $i_1 = [0, \mathbf{1}_B, 0]^t$. It is easy to see that they are morphisms of DG modules. Thus, the DG module morphism $[i_0, i_1]$ sends each pair (x, y) in $B \oplus B$ to the triple (x, y, 0). Here is the crucial point which we have to require that the DG module B is cofibrant for: in general the graded split monomorphism $[i_0, i_1]$ is not a cofibration if B is not cofibrant, since its cokernel ΣB may not be cofibrant.

The DG module morphism p is defined by p(a, b, c) = a + b, for each triple (a, b, c)in $cyl(\mathbf{1}_B)$. It is clear that $p \circ i_0 = p \circ i_1 = \mathbf{1}_M$ and that $p \circ [i_0, i_1] = [\mathbf{1}_M, \mathbf{1}_M] = \nabla$. Moreover, we remark that p is a fibration. We also have to show that p is a quasiisomorphism. Let us define the morphisms

$$s_0, s_1 : \operatorname{cyl}(\mathbf{1}_M) \longrightarrow \operatorname{cyl}(\mathbf{1}_M)$$

of graded \mathcal{A} -modules, homogeneous of degree -1, by the formulas

$$s_0(x, y, z) = (0, z, y), \ s_1(x, y, z) = (z, 0, x).$$

An easy calculation gives

$$(i_0 \circ p)(x, y, z) = (x + y, 0, 0) = (\mathbf{1}_{cyl(\mathbf{1}_B)} - (d_{cyl(\mathbf{1}_B)} \circ s_0 + s_0 \circ d_{cyl(\mathbf{1}_B)}))(x, y, z)$$

and

$$(i_1 \circ p)(x, y, z) = (0, x + y, 0) = (\mathbf{1}_{cyl(\mathbf{1}_B)} + (d_{cyl(\mathbf{1}_B)} \circ s_1 + s_1 \circ d_{cyl(\mathbf{1}_B)}))(x, y, z).$$

Since $i_j \circ p$ and $p \circ i_j$, $j \in \{0, 1\}$, induce the identity morphisms on cohomology, i_0 , i_1 and p are quasi-isomorphisms.

Note that, if a morphism f_0 is left homotopic to f_1 , it is always possible to factor H through a cofibration $\operatorname{cyl}(B) \longrightarrow \operatorname{cyl}(\mathbf{1}_{\operatorname{cyl}(B)})$ followed by a trivial fibration. Therefore, f_0 and f_1 are left homotopic if and only if there is a factorization through the DG module $\operatorname{cyl}(\mathbf{1}_{\operatorname{cyl}(B)})$.

Now we can show the equivalence of the two notions of homotopy. We have already observed why the DG module M must be cofibrant.

Let the morphisms f_0 and f_1 from M to N be cochain homotopic. By definition, for each $X \in \mathcal{A}^{op}$ and each $i \in \mathbb{Z}$, there exists a morphism $h : M \to N$ of graded \mathcal{A} -modules, homogeneous of degree -1, such that the equality (*) holds. Define $H = [f_0, f_1, -h]$ from cyl($\mathbf{1}_M$) to N. Using (*) it is easy to see that H is a morphism of DG modules. Let the DG module morphisms i_0 and i_1 be as above. Clearly, we have $H \circ i_0 = f_0$ and $H \circ i_1 = f_1$. Thus, H is a left homotopy between f_0 and f_1 since we have already seen that $cyl(\mathbf{1}_M)$ is a cylinder object for M.

Conversely, suppose that two morphism f_0 and f_1 are left homotopic with respect to the projective model category structure. We have already observed that in this case we can replace the cylinder object cyl(M) which they factor through with the cylinder object $cyl(\mathbf{1}_M)$. So, we can write $H = (\varphi, \psi, \rho)$, where $\rho : M \to N$ is a morphism of graded \mathcal{A} -modules, homogeneous of degree -1. By imposing the factorizations $H \circ i_0 = f_0$ and $H \circ i_1 = f_1$, we get $\varphi = f_0$ and $\psi = f_1$. By imposing that H must be a morphism of DG modules, we get that φ and ψ also have to be morphisms of DG modules (but *not* ρ) and that

$$d_N \circ \rho = -(f_0 - f_1) - \rho \circ d_M.$$

This shows that we can take $-\rho: M \to N$ as cochain homotopy between f_0 and f_1 .

We have the dual notions of *path object* and *right homotopy*. For them, the dual statement of lemma 6.1 holds: Two morphisms between two DG modules whose codomain is fibrant are right homotopic if and only if they are cochain homotopic. When two morphisms are both left and right homotopic they are said *homotopic*.

Remark 6.2. Since in the projective model structure every DG module is fibrant, the notion of cochain homotopy and right homotopy coincide in CA (*cf.* also observations after theorem 2.3.11 in [12]). Therefore, two morphisms of CA between two DG modules whose domain is cofibrant are left homotopic if and only if they are right homotopic. This is always the case in the subcategory CA_{cof} .

The next point to be recalled is the construction of the homotopy category of a model category, obtained by formally inverting the weak equivalences. In particular, we are interested in the derived category of the category of DG modules. Using Quillen's theorem [12, Thm. 1.2.10] it is possible to compare the model category construction of the derived category of DG modules with the one given in subsection 2.4. In the subcategory $CA_{cof,fib}$ of fibrant and cofibrant objects of CA left and right homotopy coincide and homotopy is an equivalence relation [12, section 1.2]. Thus, forming the quotient is well defined. We have

$$\mathcal{DA} := \mathcal{CA}[qiso^{-1}] = \operatorname{Ho}(\mathcal{CA}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{CA}_{cof, fib} / \sim ,$$

where \sim denotes the homotopy relation and the last two equivalences come from the definition of the homotopy category of a model category [12] and from Quillen's theorem respectively. So, using Quillen's important result, we get

$$\mathcal{DA} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{CA}_{cof,fib}/\!\sim$$
 .

In the projective model structure on the category of DG modules we have $CA_{fib} = CA$ and therefore $CA_{cof,fib} = CA_{cof}$. Thus, we have the remarkable equivalence

$$\mathcal{DA} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{CA}_{cof} / \sim ,$$

which shows that we can construct the derived category \mathcal{DA} identifying homotopic morphisms between cofibrant DG modules. Moreover, it becomes clear that each DG module is quasi-isomorphic to some cofibrant DG module.

We remark that the notion of cochain homotopy of DG modules gives us another interpretation of the category \mathcal{HA} . Indeed, cochain homotopy is an equivalence relation on \mathcal{CA} . Clearly, we have

$$\mathcal{HA} = \mathcal{CA} / pprox$$
 .

Now we can state two observations useful in the sequel. Let us give the

Definition 6.3. Let \mathcal{A} be a small DG category. We write $\mathcal{D}_{dg}(\mathcal{A})$ for the full DG subcategory of $\mathcal{C}_{dg}(\mathcal{A})$ such that $Z^0(\mathcal{D}_{dg}(\mathcal{A}))$ is the subcategory of the cofibrant DG modules with respect to the projective model structure on $\mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}$.

We have the following

Proposition 6.4. Let \mathcal{A} be a small DG category. Then $H^0(\mathcal{D}_{dg}(\mathcal{A}))$ is equivalent to the derived category $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$.

Proof. We have the following equivalences

(15)
$$H^{0}(\mathcal{D}_{dg}(\mathcal{A})) = \mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}_{cof} / \approx$$
$$= \mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}_{cof} / \sim$$

(16)
$$= \mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}_{cof,fib} / \sim$$
$$\xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Ho}(\mathcal{C}\mathcal{A})$$
$$= \mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}[qiso^{-1}]$$
$$= \mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}.$$

Here, everything is clear. We have used lemma 6.1 in (15) and Quillen's theorem about the homotopy category in (16). We remark that (16) is an equivalence and not an isomorphism. \Box

Proposition 6.5. Let \mathcal{A} be a small DG category and $\mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}$ its category of DG modules. Let Σ be a class of cofibrations between cofibrant modules of $\mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}$ and \mathcal{N} the localizing subcategory of $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$ associated with the image of Σ , i.e. $\mathcal{N} = \langle \mathcal{S} \rangle$, where $\mathcal{S} = \{\text{cone}(s) \mid s \in \Sigma\}$. Then every morphism ϕ in Σ -cell becomes invertible in the localization $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}/\mathcal{N}$.

Proof. We know from [12, Ch. 2] that such a morphism ϕ is a *transfinite composition* of pushouts of coproducts of elements of Σ such as



i.e. a colimit of a λ -sequence of pushouts of cofibrations $\coprod_{i \in I_k} s_i$, $s_i \in \Sigma$, for some ordinal λ :

 $X_0 \rightarrowtail X_1 \rightarrowtail X_2 \rightarrowtail \cdots \rightarrowtail X_{\omega} \rightarrowtail X_{\omega+1} \rightarrowtail \cdots \rightarrowtail X_{\beta} \rightarrowtail \cdots,$

where $\beta < \lambda$.

We begin by considering the case of an ω -sequence, where ω is the colimit of the finite ordinals, *i.e.* we have $X_{\omega} = \operatorname{colim}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} X_k$. The cones of the morphisms $s_i \in \Sigma$

are in the subcategory \mathcal{N} and are homotopically equivalent, hence quasi-isomorphic, to the cokernels $\operatorname{cok}(s_i)$, for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$. Indeed, $\operatorname{cone}(s_i) \cong \operatorname{cok}(s_i) \oplus IA_i$ (cf. lemma 6.9 below) and IA_i is a contractible cofibrant DG module, for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$ (see lemma 6.11):

$$A_i \xrightarrow{s_i} B_i \longrightarrow B_i/A_i \sim \operatorname{cone}(s_i).$$

Thus, at the step k of the ω -sequence, we have

Here, $\operatorname{cok}(\coprod_{I_k} s_i) \in \mathcal{N}$ implies $X_{k+1}/X_k \in \mathcal{N}$. Therefore, the morphisms $X_k \longrightarrow X_{k+1}$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, are invertible in the localized category \mathcal{DA}/\mathcal{N} . Therefore, by induction, the image of every composition $X_0 \longrightarrow X_i$, $i \in \mathbb{N}$, is invertible in \mathcal{DA}/\mathcal{N} . We can take the colimit over \mathbb{N} of the horizontal exact sequences of the diagram



and get



where each $N_i \in \mathcal{N}_{\Sigma}$ by recurrence. Then we find $N_{\omega} := \operatorname{colim}_{i \in \mathbb{N}} N_i = \operatorname{cok} \Phi$ lying in \mathcal{N} , where Φ is the morphism defined in the commutative diagram



where $\phi_i : N_i \to N_{i+1}$, proving that the colimit $X_0 \to X_\omega$ becomes an isomorphism in \mathcal{DA}/\mathcal{N} .

In order to generalize the result obtained for ω to higher ordinals it is useful to remember the pair of adjoint functors:

$$\mathcal{D}(kI\otimes\mathcal{A})\xrightarrow[]{\operatorname{colim}_{I}}{\overset{\operatorname{colim}_{I}}{\overset{}{\overset{}}{\overset{}}}}\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A},$$

60

where kI is the k-linear category associated to a filtered category I. The functor Δ is the diagonal functor. The category $\mathcal{D}(kI \otimes \mathcal{A})$ is isomorphic to the localization of the category $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})^I$ with respect to the class of morphisms $L \to M$ such that $L_i \to M_i$ is a quasi-isomorphism of $\mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}$ for all $i \in I$. The functor colim_I is exact since I is filtered, thus it induces the derived left adjoint functor of Δ , $\mathbf{L} \operatorname{colim}_I$, which is naturally equivalent to colim_I. In other words, it suffices to show that: if $N \in \mathcal{D}(kI \otimes \mathcal{A})$ such that $N_i \in \mathcal{N}$, for all $i \in I$, then $\operatorname{colim}_I N \in \mathcal{N}$. We define the triangulated subcategory of $\mathcal{D}(kI \otimes \mathcal{A})$ stable under coproducts

$$\mathcal{N}_I = \{ N \in \mathcal{D}(kI \otimes \mathcal{A}) \mid N_i \in \mathcal{N}, \ \forall i \in I \} \subseteq \mathcal{D}(kI \otimes \mathcal{A}).$$

Recall that colim_I commutes with coproducts because it has a right adjoint Δ . Now it is sufficient to find a class $\Xi \subseteq \mathcal{N}_I$ such that \mathcal{N}_I is the smallest triangulated subcategory stable under coproducts of $\mathcal{D}(kI \otimes \mathcal{A})$ containing Ξ and to show that colim_I $N \in \mathcal{N}$, for all $N \in \Xi$. This is sufficient since, if \mathcal{N} contains the colimits of the objects in Ξ , then it also contains the colimits of the objects in $\langle \Xi \rangle = \mathcal{N}_I$. We can consider, for all $i \in I$, the evaluation functor ev_i and its left adjoint $-\otimes i$

$$\begin{array}{cccc} L \otimes i & \mathcal{D}(kI \otimes \mathcal{A}) & X \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & - \otimes i \\ & & & & \\ L & & \mathcal{D}\mathcal{A} & & X_i \end{array}$$

where the symbol of tensor product \otimes is only utilized as a convention for

$$(L \otimes i)(j) := \prod_{I(i,j)} L , \; \forall i, j \in I ,$$

where I(i, j) denotes the set of morphisms in I from i to j. Then $\operatorname{colim}_{j \in I}(L \otimes i)(j) \xrightarrow{\sim} L$ since I is filtered. Let us give an example to be clear. If $I = \mathbb{N}$, we could have

and then $(Y \otimes 2)(4) := \coprod_{\mathbb{N}[2,4]} Y = Y$. According to the previous definition for the 'tensored' objects, we will let $X(j) = \coprod_{k \in I(0,j)} X_k$ for a generic object X of $\mathcal{D}(kI \otimes \mathcal{A})$. The searched class is $\Xi := \{N \otimes i \mid N \in \mathcal{N}, i \in I\}$. Indeed, take an object $Y \in \mathcal{N}_I$, the unit of the adjunction $Y_i \otimes i \to Y$ yields the short exact sequence in $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})^I$

$$0 \longrightarrow \ker \Psi \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} (Y_i \otimes i) \xrightarrow{\Psi} Y \longrightarrow 0 ,$$

which splits pointwise since for each $j \in I$ the epimorphism

$$(\coprod_{i\in I}(Y_i\otimes i))_j \xrightarrow{\Psi_j} Y_j$$

splits. This implies that ker Ψ belongs to \mathcal{N}_I too, since the sequence gives rise to a distinguished triangle of $\mathcal{D}(kI \otimes \mathcal{A})$ and Y and the coproduct of the $Y_i \otimes i$ belong to \mathcal{N}_I . Then we can iterate the construction and obtain an acyclic resolution of Y

$$\cdots \longrightarrow C^{-2} \longrightarrow C^{-1} \longrightarrow C^0 \longrightarrow Y$$

by means of a cochain complex $C=C^*$ of DG modules. Notice that for each $j\in I,$ the induced complex

$$\cdots \longrightarrow C_j^{-2} \longrightarrow C_j^{-1} \longrightarrow C_j^0 \longrightarrow Y_j \longrightarrow 0$$

is contractible. For a complex

$$K: \qquad \cdots \longrightarrow K^p \longrightarrow K^{p+1} \longrightarrow \cdots$$

of DG \mathcal{A} -modules we define the associated total DG \mathcal{A} -module $\operatorname{Tot}^{\oplus}(K)$ as the DG functor

$$A \longmapsto \operatorname{Tot}^{\oplus}(K(A)), \ A \in \mathcal{A},$$

where $\operatorname{Tot}^{\oplus}(K(A))$ denotes the sum-total complex. For the complex C above, we define the object $\operatorname{Tot}^{\oplus}(C)$ of $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})^{I}$ to be the functor

$$j \mapsto \operatorname{Tot}^{\oplus}(C_j), \ j \in I.$$

Then, for each $j \in I$, the natural morphism $\operatorname{Tot}^{\oplus}(C) \to Y$ induces a homotopy equivalence

$$\operatorname{Tot}^{\oplus}(C_j) \longrightarrow Y_j.$$

Therefore, the morphism $\operatorname{Tot}^{\oplus}(C) \to Y$ is a quasi-isomorphism in $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})^{I}$. Moreover, $\operatorname{Tot}^{\oplus}(C)$ lies in $\langle \Xi \rangle$ because of Milnor's telescope argument, showing that $\mathcal{N}_{I} = \langle \Xi \rangle$. Indeed, one can think of the double complex C as $C = \operatorname{colim}_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} C^{[-p]}$, where $C^{[-p]} := \prod_{i \geq -p} C^{i,*}$, which yields the filtration

$$C^{[0]} \subset C^{[-1]} \subset C^{[-2]} \subset \dots,$$

where all the inclusions split in $(\mathcal{GA})^I$. Then, the first two objects of the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \coprod_{p \in \mathbb{N}} C^{[-p} \stackrel{\Phi}{\longrightarrow} \coprod_{p \in \mathbb{N}} C^{[-p} \longrightarrow C \longrightarrow 0$$

lie in $\langle \Xi \rangle$. Moreover, the sequence is split exact in $(\mathcal{GA})^I$ and hence exact. This forces the third object to lie in $\langle \Xi \rangle$ too, since $\langle \Xi \rangle$ is a thick subcategory.

6.2. The Frobenius structure on the category of DG modules. In this subsection we recall the Frobenius structure present on the category CA and study the relation with the projective model structure that we have seen in the preceding subsection.

We recall the definition of exact category. It differs from Quillen's original definition [32], but it is equivalent to that one [13, App. A].

Definition 6.6. Let \mathcal{A} be an additive category. A pair (i; d) of composable morphisms

$$X \xrightarrow{i} Y \xrightarrow{d} Z$$

is *exact* if *i* is a kernel of *d* and *d* a cokernel of *i*. The category \mathcal{A} endowed with a class \mathcal{E} of exact pairs closed under isomorphism and satisfying the following axioms (Ex0), (Ex1), (Ex2) and (Ex2^{op}), is an *exact category*. The pairs (i, d) in the class \mathcal{E} are by definition the *conflations*. The first and second components *i* and *d* of the conflations (i, d) are, respectively, the *inflations* and the *deflations*.

- (Ex0) The identity morphism of 0 is a deflation;
- (Ex1) the composition of two deflations is a deflation;
- (Ex2) for each $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(Z', Z)$ and each deflation $d \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(Y, Z)$, there is a cartesian square (pull-back)

$$Y' - - - \stackrel{d'}{-} \longrightarrow Z'$$

$$\downarrow f$$

$$\downarrow f$$

$$Y \xrightarrow{d} Z,$$

where d' is a deflation;

(Ex2^{op}) for each $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(X, X')$ and each inflation $i \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(X, Y)$, there is a cocartesian square (push-out)



where i' is an inflation.

We recall some very useful properties from the first proposition in [13, App. A], which permit to work easily with inflations, deflations and conflations.

a) For all X and Z in \mathcal{E} , the pair

$$X \xrightarrow{[\mathbf{1}_X, 0]^t} X \oplus Z \xrightarrow{[0, \mathbf{1}_X]} Z$$

is a conflation.

b) In the setting of Ex2 the pair

$$Y' \xrightarrow[-d',f']^t} Z' \oplus Y \xrightarrow[[f,d]]{} Z'$$

is a conflation.

c) In the setting of Ex2^{op} the pair

$$X \xrightarrow[-i,f]^t} Y \oplus X' \xrightarrow[f',i'] \xrightarrow{} Y'$$

is a conflation.

We have the following

Lemma 6.7. Let \mathcal{E} be an exact category, where idempotents split. Let

be a conflation of \mathcal{E} . Suppose that there is an isomorphism

 $Z \xleftarrow{\sim} Z' \oplus P ,$

where P is a projective object. Then, the sequence (*) is isomorphic to the direct sum of the conflation

$$0 \longrightarrow P \xrightarrow{\mathbf{1}_P} P$$

with a conflation

$$X \xrightarrow{i'} Y' \xrightarrow{p'} Z'.$$

Proof. Let

be the given isomorphism. Since P is projective, there exists $\tilde{v}: P \to Y$ such that $p \circ \tilde{v} = v$. Therefore we obtain a morphism of conflations

 $[u,v]: Z' \oplus P \xrightarrow{\sim} Z$

$$0 \xrightarrow{0} P \xrightarrow{\mathbf{1}_{P}} P$$

$$\downarrow_{0} \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{\widetilde{v}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{v}$$

$$X \xrightarrow{i} Y \xrightarrow{p} Z.$$

Let

$$\begin{bmatrix} u'\\v'\end{bmatrix}:Z\xrightarrow{\sim} Z'\oplus P$$

be the inverse of the given isomorphism [u, v]. We obtain a morphism of conflations

$$\begin{array}{ccc} X \xrightarrow{i} Y \xrightarrow{p} Z' \\ 0 & & & \downarrow v' \circ p & \downarrow v \\ 0 \xrightarrow{} 0 \xrightarrow{} P \xrightarrow{} 1_P P. \end{array}$$

The composition of the two morphisms of conflations that we have obtained above is the identity morphism of the conflation

 $0 \xrightarrow{0} P \xrightarrow{\mathbf{1}_P} P.$

Indeed, $v' \circ v = \mathbf{1}_P$ and $(v' \circ p) \circ \tilde{v} = v' \circ v = \mathbf{1}_P$, since

$$\begin{bmatrix} u'\\v'\end{bmatrix} \circ [u,v] = \begin{bmatrix} u' \circ u & u' \circ v\\v' \circ u & v' \circ v \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{1}_{Z'} & 0\\0 & \mathbf{1}_P \end{bmatrix}$$

It follows that the conflation (*) is the direct sum of the conflation

$$0 \xrightarrow{0} P \xrightarrow{\mathbf{1}_P} P$$

and the cokernel of the morphism of conflations $(0, \tilde{v}, v)$. This cokernel exists (since the idempotents split) and it is isomorphic to the conflation

$$X \rightarrowtail Y' \longrightarrow Z'$$

for a direct factor Y' of Y.

Remark 6.8. Clearly, the dual of the preceding lemma is also true.

An exact category \mathcal{E} is a Frobenius category if it has enough injectives, enough projectives, and the two classes of the injectives and projectives coincide. For all pairs of objects X, Y of \mathcal{E} , let $I_{\mathcal{E}}(X, Y)$ be the subgroup of the abelian group $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{E}}(X, Y)$ formed by the morphisms which factor over an injective-projective object of \mathcal{E} . The stable category of \mathcal{E} , written $\underline{\mathcal{E}}$, is the category which has the same objects as \mathcal{E} and the morphisms

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{E}}(X,Y) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{E}}(X,Y)/I_{\mathcal{E}}(X,Y).$$

The stable category $\underline{\mathcal{E}}$ is a triangulated category [8]. The suspension functor Σ is defined by choosing a *standard conflation*

$$X \longrightarrow IX \longrightarrow \Sigma X$$

for each object X, where IX is an injective-projective object of \mathcal{E} .

By definition, the distinguished triangles of $\underline{\mathcal{E}}$ are those isomorphic to a triangle

$$X \xrightarrow{\overline{i}} Y \xrightarrow{\overline{p}} Z \xrightarrow{\overline{e}} \Sigma X$$

where the morphisms \overline{i} , \overline{p} , \overline{e} are the equivalence classes of the morphisms i, p, e obtained from the conflations (i, p) which fit into the commutative diagram in \mathcal{E}

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X \xrightarrow{i} Y \xrightarrow{p} Z \\ \mathbf{1}_X \\ \| & \downarrow \\ X \xrightarrow{} IX \xrightarrow{p} \Sigma X. \end{array}$$

Let us consider the important example of the Frobenius category $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}$ whose conflations are defined to be the graded split short exact sequences [10], [14]. For each DG module X in $\mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}$ we write IX for the (mapping) cone on the identity morphism of X and PX for the (mapping) cocone on the same morphism. The objects IX and PX are injective-projective DG modules for each $X \in \mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}$. We can choose

$$X \xrightarrow{[\mathbf{1}_X, d_X]^t} IX \xrightarrow{[-d_X, \mathbf{1}_X]} \Sigma X$$

as standard conflation. By dualizing the definition of the suspension functor Σ we obtain the loop (or cosuspension) functor Ω . These two endofunctors of \mathcal{CA} , Σ and Ω , are respectively the shift functor in the right and left directions. With this choice, Σ and Ω are inverse to each other. The (triangulated) stable category $\underline{\mathcal{CA}}$ is the category \mathcal{HA} of DG modules up to homotopy.

We list some useful properties of the functors I, P, Σ, Ω . Since Σ and Ω are exact functors, I and P are exact, too. By the isomorphisms

(*)
$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{CA}}(IX,Y) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{GA}}(X,Y) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{CA}}(X,PY),$$

for all X, Y in CA, we have that I is left adjoint to P. Moreover, I and P commute with arbitrary small coproducts. In particular, for each regular cardinal α , they commute with α -small coproducts. It is clear that $I\Omega = P$ and $P\Sigma = I$. Moreover, applying Σ to the standard conflation for X, we have the conflation

$$\Sigma X \longrightarrow \Sigma I X \longrightarrow \Sigma^2 X ,$$

which equals the standard conflation for ΣX

$$\Sigma X \longrightarrow I \Sigma X \longrightarrow \Sigma^2 X.$$

This shows that I commutes with Σ . Similarly, Ω and P commute.

As an application of property c) above we show that the morphisms $[\sigma_{\lambda}, -\iota]^t$ in subsection 5.1 are cofibrations. This follows immediately by the following

Lemma 6.9. Let A and B be cofibrant DG modules. Let ι be the inclusion $A \rightarrow IA$. For any morphism $f : A \rightarrow B$ the morphism

$$A \xrightarrow[[f,-\iota]^t]{} B \oplus IA$$

is a cofibration.

Proof. Indeed, the morphism $[f, -\iota]^t$ can be constructed from the cocartesian square

$$\begin{array}{ccc} A & \xrightarrow{\iota} & IA \\ f & & & \downarrow \\ f & & & \downarrow f' \\ B & \xrightarrow{\iota'} & & & \forall \\ B & \xrightarrow{\iota'} & & & & C \end{array}$$

where ι' is an inflation. By item c) after definition 6.6 the pair

$$A \xrightarrow[[f,-\iota]^t]{} B \oplus IA \xrightarrow{[\iota',f']} C$$

is a conflation. Therefore, the morphism $[f, -\iota]^t$ is an inflation. Hence, it is a monomorphism. Moreover, the inclusion ι has a retraction r in \mathcal{GA} , which in its turn induces a retraction in \mathcal{GA} of $[f, -\iota]^t$ by composition with the projection

$$B \oplus IA \longrightarrow IA.$$

Thus, the conflation above splits and the cokernel C of $[f, -\iota]^t$ is $B \oplus \Sigma A$, which is a cofibrant DG module since we assume A and B cofibrant. It follows that the morphism $[f, -\iota]^t$ is a cofibration.

In order to study the relation between injective-projective with respect to the exact structure and (cochain) contractible DG modules, we introduce the following

Definition 6.10. (Cochain) homotopically equivalent and (cochain) contractible DG modules.

a) Two DG modules M and N are cochain homotopically equivalent or, equivalently, have the same cochain homotopy type if there exist two DG morphisms $f: M \to N$ and $g: N \to M$ such that the compositions $g \circ f$ and $f \circ g$ are respectively cochain homotopic to the identity morphisms of M and N. Briefly, we write $M \approx N$. If M and N are cofibrant, M and N are cochain homotopically equivalent if and only if they are also homotopically equivalent or, equivalently, have the same homotopy type with respect to the projective model structure on \mathcal{CA} (cf. remark 6.2). Briefly, we write $M \sim N$.

66

b) A DG module M is cochain contractible if it is cochain homotopically equivalent to the zero DG module (*i.e.* if its identity morphism $\mathbf{1}_M$ is cochain null-homotopic, *i.e.* cochain homotopical to the zero morphism). Briefly, we write $M \approx 0$. If M is cofibrant and cochain contractible, then it is also contractible with respect to the projective model structure on \mathcal{CA} (cf. remark 6.2). Briefly, we write $M \sim 0$.

There is a very useful characterization of contractible DG modules.

Lemma 6.11. Let F be a DG module. Let CA be endowed with the projective model structure. Then the following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) F is cochain contractible;
- (ii) F is injective-projective with respect to the exact structure;
- (iii) F is a direct factor of a DG module IX, i.e. the mapping cone on the identity morphism $\mathbf{1}_X$, for some DG module X.

Proof. $(i) \Longrightarrow (iii)$: Let h be a contracting cochain homotopy for $\mathbf{1}_F$. We have

$$d_F \circ h + h \circ d_F = \mathbf{1}_F.$$

Define

$$r: IF \longrightarrow F$$

to be the morphism $[\mathbf{1}_F, h]$. Then it is easy to check that r is a morphism of DG modules and that r is a retraction of the canonical morphism

$$i = [\mathbf{1}_F, 0]^t : F \longrightarrow IF.$$

 $(iii) \Longrightarrow (ii)$: It suffices to show that if X is a DG module, then IX is projective with respect to the exact structure. For this, it suffices to show that the functor $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{CA}}(IX, -)$ takes graded split short exact sequences to exact sequences. But this is clear from the isomorphism of functors (*)

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{CA}}(IX, -) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{GA}}(X, -).$$

 $(ii) \implies (i)$: Since F is injective with respect to the exact structure, every inflation

$$F \rightarrow IF$$

splits in the category CA. Therefore F is a direct factor of IF. As IF is the cone of the identity morphism of F, it is cochain contractible. Thus, F is cochain contractible as well as any direct factor of a cochain contractible DG module.

We will frequently use the following particular case of the preceding lemma: A cofibrant DG module is contractible if and only if it is a direct factor of the cone of the identity morphism of some cofibrant DG module.

Notice that the null-homotopic morphisms are exactly those that factor through an injective-projective object. 6.3. Different closures of representable DG modules in CA. In this subsection, we introduce different closures of the class of representable DG modules in CA with respect to the exact structure and study the relations among them and with the analogous triangulated subcategories of DA.

Definition 6.12. Let \mathcal{A} be a small DG category. Let \mathcal{U} be a class of DG modules of \mathcal{CA} . We define the *subcategory* $[\mathcal{U}]_{\alpha}$ to be the closure of \mathcal{U} in \mathcal{CA} under

- a) the actions of Σ and Ω ;
- b) formation of α -small coproducts;
- c) formation of graded split extensions;
- d) formation of direct factors.

The subcategory $[\mathcal{U}]$ is the closure of \mathcal{U} in \mathcal{CA} under the operations of points a), c), d) and formation of arbitrary set-indexed coproducts.

Let \mathcal{G} be the subcategory of \mathcal{CA} formed by the representable objects. In this section we are interested in some closures of \mathcal{G} . Therefore, we begin with the following simple

Lemma 6.13. The following equality holds

$$[\mathcal{G}] = \bigcup_{\alpha} [\mathcal{G}]_{\alpha} ,$$

where α runs through the infinite regular cardinals.

Proof. Clearly $[\mathcal{G}]$ contains $\bigcup_{\alpha} [\mathcal{G}]_{\alpha}$, as it contains each $[\mathcal{G}]_{\alpha}$. We have to show the reverse inclusion. The category $\bigcup_{\alpha} [\mathcal{G}]_{\alpha}$ contains \mathcal{G} , is stable under left and right shifts, extensions and formation of direct factors of its objects. Therefore, it suffices to check that it is also closed under arbitrary set-indexed coproducts, by the minimality of $[\mathcal{G}]$ for these properties. Let $(X_i)_{i\in I}$ be an arbitrary family of DG modules contained in $\bigcup_{\alpha} [\mathcal{G}]_{\alpha}$, indexed over the set I. Let the cardinality of I be β and suppose that for each $i \in I$ the DG module X_i lies in $[\mathcal{G}]_{\beta_i}$, for some cardinal β_i . Let γ be a regular cardinal greater than the sum of β and the β_i 's. The DG module X_i is in $[\mathcal{G}]_{\gamma}$ for all $i \in I$. Moreover, since $\gamma > \beta$, the coproduct of the X_i 's, that is of β objects of $[\mathcal{G}]_{\gamma}$, must lie in $[\mathcal{G}]_{\gamma}$. Hence, it lies in $\bigcup_{\alpha} [\mathcal{G}]_{\alpha}$.

Notation 6.14. Let C be a class of cofibrant DG modules of CA_{cof} . We denote \tilde{C} the class of cofibrant DG modules which are homotopically equivalent to some DG module of C.

For example, let \mathcal{G}_0 be the full subcategory of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} whose unique object is the zero DG module. Then $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0$ is the full subcategory of contractible cofibrant DG modules.

Lemma 6.15. The class formed by the objects of $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0$ is stable under

- a) the action of Σ and Ω ;
- b) formation of arbitrary set-indexed coproducts;
- c) graded split extensions;
- d) formation of direct factors.

That is, $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0$ equals its closure $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0]$.

b) Suppose that $(C_i)_{i \in I}$ is a family of contractible DG modules of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} , with I a set of arbitrary cardinality. The coproduct $\coprod_{i \in I} C_i$ lies in \mathcal{CA}_{cof} and is a direct factor of $I(\coprod_{i \in I} X_i)$, since I commutes with coproducts.

c) Let C and C' be contractible objects of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} . Their extension is the cofibrant DG module E which fits in the conflation

 $C \rightarrowtail E \longrightarrow C'.$

This conflation splits since C is injective and C' is projective. This is also a particular case of lemma 6.7. Therefore E equals $C \oplus C'$ which is a contractible DG module of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} .

d) Let C be a contractible DG module of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} . Then C is a direct factor of IX, for some DG module X. Suppose that D is a direct factor of C. Clearly D is a direct factor of IX, too. Hence it is a contractible DG module of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} .

In the following we will always work with small DG categories in order to ensure that the (large) category of DG modules has small Hom-sets. Nevertheless, some results would be true even if we had not made this smallness assumption.

We need to prove that the closures (-) and $[-]_{\alpha}$ of a class of cofibrant DG modules commute for every regular cardinal α . It turns out that this property is crucial for the constructions that we will do in the sequel.

Proposition 6.16. Let S be a class of cofibrant DG modules. Let α be an arbitrary regular cardinal. Then we have

$$\widetilde{[\mathcal{S}]}_{\alpha} \subseteq \widetilde{[\mathcal{S}]}_{\alpha} \text{ and } \widetilde{[\mathcal{S}]} = \widetilde{[\mathcal{S}]}.$$

The subcategory $[\widetilde{S}]_{\alpha}$ is stable under homotopy equivalences and its image in \mathcal{HA} is stable under formation of direct factors.

Moreover, if $\alpha > \aleph_0$, we have the equality

$$\widetilde{[\mathcal{S}]_{\alpha}} = [\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}.$$

Proof. We begin by showing that $\widetilde{[\mathcal{S}]}_{\alpha} \subseteq [\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$, for all the regular cardinals α .

Since it is clear that $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$ contains $[\mathcal{S}]_{\alpha}$, it is sufficient to verify that $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$ is stable under homotopy equivalences. Indeed, the subcategory $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$ is minimal for these properties.

Actually, it turns out that it is enough to verify that the following property holds:

• the subcategory $[\tilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$ is stable under adding objects of the form IZ, where Z is an arbitrary cofibrant DG module.

Indeed, let X be in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$ and let X' be a cofibrant DG module homotopically equivalent to X. We have to show that X' is in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$, too.

By definition there are morphisms of DG modules $f : X' \to X$ and $g : X \to X'$ so that $f \circ g \sim \mathbf{1}_X$ and $g \circ f \sim \mathbf{1}'_X$. The cone of the morphism f is given by the push-out



where i is the canonical inclusion. Here, i' is a graded split monomorphism (since it is obtained by a push-out from a graded split monomorphism) and f' is still a homotopy equivalence (since it is obtained by a push-out along a graded split monomorphism). By point c) after definition 6.6 we have the graded split exact sequence (conflation)

$$X' \xrightarrow[[f,-i]^t]{} X \oplus IX' \xrightarrow{[i',f']} \operatorname{cone}(f).$$

As cone(f) is homotopically equivalent to IX', it is contractible and cofibrant. By lemma 6.11 it is projective, too. Therefore the last conflation splits in CA and X' is a direct factor of $X \oplus IX'$. Thus, since the subcategory $[\widetilde{S}]_{\alpha}$ is stable under formation of direct factors, in order to show that X' lies in $[\widetilde{S}]_{\alpha}$ it suffices to verify that the subcategory $[\widetilde{S}]_{\alpha}$ is stable under sums with DG modules of the form IZ, for any cofibrant DG module Z.

It remains to verify that the subcategory $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$ has property •.

We begin and remark that \tilde{S} is stable under adding objects IZ, where Z is an arbitrary cofibrant DG module. Then, we verify that, given a subcategory C which is stable under adding objects IZ (Z an arbitrary cofibrant DG module), the same property holds for

- a) the closure of \mathcal{C} under Σ and Ω , say $\mathcal{C}_{\Sigma\Omega}$;
- b) the closure of \mathcal{C} under α -small coproducts, say $\mathcal{C}_{\text{IL}_{\alpha}}$;
- c) the closure of C under graded split extensions, say C_{Ext} ;
- d) the closure of \mathcal{C} under direct factors, say \mathcal{C}_{\ominus} .

This guarantees that the closure $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$ has the property \bullet , too.

Point a) : Let A be an object in \mathcal{C} , Z a cofibrant DG module, and consider the sum $\Sigma A \oplus IZ$. We can write (*cf.* considerations after lemma 6.7) $\Sigma A \oplus IZ$ as

$$\begin{split} \Sigma A \oplus IZ &= \Sigma A \oplus I \Sigma \Omega Z \\ &= \Sigma A \oplus \Sigma I \Omega Z \\ &= \Sigma (A \oplus I (\Omega Z)). \end{split}$$

As $A \in \mathcal{C}$ and ΩZ is cofibrant, the object $A \oplus I(\Omega Z)$ is in \mathcal{C} , by the assumed property of \mathcal{C} . It follows that $\Sigma(A \oplus I(\Omega Z))$ lies in $\mathcal{C}_{\Sigma\Omega}$.

Point b) : Let I be a set of cardinality strictly smaller than α . Let A_i , $i \in I$, be a family of cofibrant DG modules in \mathcal{C} . Consider the sum of the α -small coproduct $\coprod_{i \in I} A_i$ with the object IZ, where Z is an arbitrary cofibrant DG module. We can write

$$(\coprod_{i\in I} A_i) \oplus IZ = (\coprod_{i\in I\setminus\{i_0\}} A_i) \oplus (A_{i_0} \oplus IZ),$$

for an arbitrary element $i_0 \in I$. By the assumed property, $A_{i_0} \oplus IZ$ is in \mathcal{C} . Therefore, the term on the right in the last equation is an α -small coproduct of objects of \mathcal{C} . Hence $(\coprod_{i \in I} A_i) \oplus IZ$ lies in $\mathcal{C}_{\coprod_{\alpha}}$.

Point c) : Let A and B be two cofibrant DG modules lying in the subcategory C. Consider the sum of an extension E of A and B with an object IZ, where Z is a cofibrant DG module. We think of IZ as of the split extension of the DG modules IZ and 0. Then, by adding these two extensions, we get the conflation

$$A \oplus IZ \longrightarrow E \oplus IZ \longrightarrow B.$$

Since $A \oplus IZ$ is in \mathcal{C} by the assumed property, the object $E \oplus IZ$ lies in \mathcal{C}_{Ext} .

Point d) : Let F be a direct factor of an object A lying in C. Consider the object $F \oplus IZ$, where Z is a cofibrant DG module. Clearly, $F \oplus IZ$ is a direct factor of $A \oplus IZ$. Since this object is in C by the assumed property, the object $F \oplus IZ$ lies in C_{\ominus} .

Now we show that, if α is strictly greater than \aleph_0 , then $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha} \subseteq [\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$.

It is clear that $\widetilde{[\mathcal{S}]}_{\alpha}$ contains $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}$. Therefore it suffices to show that $\widetilde{[\mathcal{S}]}_{\alpha}$ is stable under Σ , Ω , α -small coproducts, graded split extensions and direct factors. Indeed, $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$ is minimal for these properties.

The functors Σ and Ω preserve homotopy equivalences since they are DG functors. The same is true for arbitrary small coproducts. Let us consider a graded split extension of two objects X, X' in $\widetilde{[S]}_{\alpha}$

$$X \xrightarrow[i]{} E \xrightarrow[p]{} Y.$$

By definition of $\widetilde{[S]}_{\alpha}$ there are two objects X', Y' in $[S]_{\alpha}$ which are respectively homotopically equivalent to X and Y. Let $u : X \to X'$ and $v' : Y \to Y'$ be two homotopy equivalences. Let us form the push-out of the morphisms i and u

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X & \xrightarrow{i} & E & \xrightarrow{p} & Y \\ u & \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ u' & & \downarrow & \\ X' & \xrightarrow{i'} & \xrightarrow{p'} & F & \xrightarrow{p'} & Y. \end{array}$$

Here i' is a graded split monomorphism (since it is obtained by a push-out from a graded split monomorphism) and u' is still a homotopy equivalence (since it is obtained by a push-out along a graded split monomorphism). Now we form the pull-back along v' to obtain the diagram

Then u'' is a homotopy equivalence, as in the case of push-out. By the transitivity of homotopy equivalence among cofibrant DG modules we get that E is homotopically equivalent to G. Since G is in $[\mathcal{S}]_{\alpha}$, as an extension of objects in $[\mathcal{S}]_{\alpha}$, it follows that E lies in $\widetilde{[\mathcal{S}]}_{\alpha}$, *i.e.* $\widetilde{[\mathcal{S}]}_{\alpha}$ is stable under graded split extensions. Let F be a direct factor of an object X lying in $[\mathcal{S}]_{\alpha}$. Thus, there are morphisms $i : F \to X$ and $r : X \to F$ such that $r \circ i = \mathbf{1}_F$. Let e be the composed morphism $i \circ r$. The morphism $e : X \to X$ is idempotent. Moreover, there exist a DG module $X' \in [\mathcal{S}]_{\alpha}$ and two morphisms $f : X \to X'$ and $g : X' \to X$ so that $g \circ f \sim \mathbf{1}_X$ and $f \circ g \sim \mathbf{1}_{X'}$. This situation induces the endomorphism $e' := f \circ i \circ r \circ g$ of X'. Note that e' is not idempotent, nevertheless it is "homotopically idempotent", *i.e.* e'^2 is homotopically equivalent to the identity morphism of X'. This implies that in the homotopy category $[\mathcal{S}]_{\alpha}/\sim \subseteq \mathcal{HA}$ the equivalence class $\overline{e'}$ is a strict idempotent. Since in \mathcal{HA} idempotents split for α strictly greater than \aleph_0 , we get a direct factor $\overline{F'}$ of the image of X' in $[\mathcal{S}]_{\alpha}/\sim$ which is isomorphic to the image of F. Clearly there is a representative DG module F' in $[\mathcal{S}]_{\alpha}$ which is homotopically equivalent to a DG module F' in $[\mathcal{S}]_{\alpha}$. Hence F lies in $[\mathcal{S}]_{\alpha}$ and we are done.

Clearly the equality $\widetilde{[\mathcal{S}]} = [\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]$ also holds.

The following lemma gives a characterization of the subcategories $[\tilde{S}]_{\alpha}$ and $[\tilde{S}]$ as the closures of the union of S with the contractible DG modules. It is in these terms that we will often consider the subcategories $[\tilde{S}]_{\alpha}$ and $[\tilde{S}]$ in the sequel.

Lemma 6.17. Let α be an (infinite) regular cardinal. Let \mathcal{A} be a DG category and \mathcal{S} a class of cofibrant DG modules of \mathcal{A} . Then, the following equalities hold

$$[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha} = [\mathcal{S} \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0]_{\alpha} \quad , \quad [\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}] = [\mathcal{S} \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0].$$

Remark that it is equivalent to take the closures of $S \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0$ in \mathcal{CA} or in \mathcal{CA}_{cof} , since \mathcal{CA}_{cof} is closed under the operations $[-]_{\alpha}$ and [-].

Proof. We give only the proof for the closure $[-]_{\alpha}$, as it also works for [-].

Let us begin by showing that $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$ contains $[\mathcal{S} \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0]_{\alpha}$. Remark that the subcategory $[\mathcal{S}]_{\alpha}$ contains the zero object, which is the sum of the empty family. Therefore, the subcategory $\widetilde{[\mathcal{S}]}_{\alpha}$ contains the subcategory of contractible cofibrant DG modules $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0$. By the first part of proposition 6.16 the subcategory $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$ contains $\widetilde{[\mathcal{S}]}_{\alpha}$, for all regular cardinals α . It follows that $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$ contains $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0$. Hence the subcategory $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\alpha}$ also contains the union $\mathcal{S} \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0$. Since the subcategory $[\mathcal{S} \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0]_{\alpha}$ is the smallest full DG subcategory of \mathcal{CA} containing $\mathcal{S} \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0$ and stable under Σ , Ω , α -small coproducts, graded split extensions and direct factors, the claim follows.

For the reverse inclusion, it suffices to show that $[\mathcal{S} \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0]_{\alpha}$ contains $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}$ and that it is stable under right and left shifts, formation of α -small coproducts, extensions, direct factors. By definition, $[-]_{\alpha}$ is the closure under these operations. Thus, it remains only to prove that $[\mathcal{S} \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0]_{\alpha}$ contains $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}$.

Consider an arbitrary DG module $X \in \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}$, *i.e.* X is cofibrant and $X \sim X'$, for some $X' \in \mathcal{S}$. Then, there are two morphisms $f : X \to X'$ and $g : X' \to X$ whose compositions $f \circ g$ and $g \circ f$ are respectively homotopical to the identity morphisms
of X' and X. By point c) after definition 6.6, from the cocartesian square (push-out)

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X' & \xrightarrow{\iota} & IX' \\ g & & \downarrow \\ g & & \downarrow g' \\ \chi & \xrightarrow{\iota'} & & \forall \\ X & \xrightarrow{\iota'} & \xrightarrow{\iota'} & \operatorname{cone}(g) \end{array}$$

where ι is the inclusion inflation and ι' is an inflation, too, we have the conflation

$$X' \xrightarrow[[g,-\iota]^t]{} X \oplus IX' \xrightarrow{[\iota',g']} \infty \operatorname{cone}(g).$$

We observe that the morphism $[g, -\iota]^t$ is a quasi-isomorphism. Therefore, the cohomology of the DG module $\operatorname{cone}(g)$ is zero. Since $\operatorname{cone}(g)$ is also cofibrant, by Quillen's theorem about the homotopy category of a model category, it is contractible, too. This shows that $\operatorname{cone}(g)$ lies in $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0$. As $X' \in \mathcal{S}$, the extension $X \oplus IX'$ lies in $[\mathcal{S} \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0]_{\alpha}$. Thus, the direct factor X is in $[\mathcal{S} \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0]_{\alpha}$ and the assertion follows.

Now we can consider the subcategories $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ and $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]$ of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} , where \mathcal{G} is the class of representable DG modules. These subcategories turn out to be the DG analogues of the triangulated subcategories $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\alpha}$ and $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle$ of the derived category \mathcal{DA} , which in their turn coincide respectively with the subcategories of α -compact objects $(\mathcal{DA})^{\alpha}$ and all of \mathcal{DA} (*cf.* proposition 4.6 and corollary 4.8). We will show that a version 'up to homotopy' of the conditions (G3) and (G4), which were used to define $(\mathcal{DA})^{\alpha}$, holds for the category $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$.

Remark that, for S = G, lemma 6.17 gives the useful relation

$$[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha} = [\mathcal{G} \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0]_{\alpha}, \qquad [\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}] = [\mathcal{G} \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0].$$

The link with the derived category is given by the inversion of quasi-isomorphisms.

Proposition 6.18. Let \mathcal{A} be a DG category and \mathcal{G} the subcategory of the representable DG modules.

- a) Let α be a regular cardinal strictly greater than \aleph_0 . Then the subcategory of the α -compact objects of the derived category $\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}$ is equivalent to the localization of $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ at the class of quasi-isomorphisms or, equivalently, to the quotient category of $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ by the homotopy relation.
- b) Let α equal the regular cardinal ℵ₀. Then the subcategory of the (ℵ_o-)compact objects of the derived category DA is equivalent to the idempotent completion of the localization of [G̃]_{ℵ0} at the class of quasi-isomorphisms or, equivalently, of the quotient category of [G̃]_{ℵ0} by the homotopy relation.

Proof. By item a) of corollary 4.8 with $\alpha = \aleph_0$, we have that the equality $(\mathcal{DA})^{\alpha} = \langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\alpha}$ holds for all regular cardinals. We recall that $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\alpha}$ is the closure in \mathcal{DA} of \mathcal{G} under right and left shifts, α -small coproducts, extensions (in the triangulated sense) and direct factors. Therefore the triangulated subcategory $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\alpha}$ is triangle equivalent to the closure \mathcal{U} in \mathcal{CA}_{cof}/\sim of \mathcal{G} under the same operations.

a) To conclude we have to show that, for all the regular cardinals strictly greater than \aleph_0 , the subcategory \mathcal{U} equals $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}/\sim$, *i.e.* the image of $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ in \mathcal{CA}_{cof}/\sim . Let

us consider the projection functor

$$\mathcal{CA}_{cof} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{CA}_{cof} / \sim .$$

The image of \mathcal{G} under π is clearly contained in \mathcal{U} . Therefore \mathcal{U} also contains the image of $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}$, as the two images are the same in \mathcal{DA} . Hence we have

$$\pi([\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}) \subseteq \mathcal{U},$$

since \mathcal{U} is stable under Σ , Ω , α -small coproducts, triangle extensions and direct factors. We remark that this inclusion holds for all regular cardinals α .

For the reverse inclusion, it suffices to show that $\pi([\mathcal{G}]_{\alpha})$ contains \mathcal{G} and that it is stable under Σ , Ω , α -small coproducts, triangle extensions and direct factors.

Here, the non trivial properties to verify are the stability of $\pi([\tilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha})$ under triangle extensions and direct factors.

Let us remark that $\pi([\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha})$ is stable under isomorphisms in \mathcal{CA}_{cof}/\sim since $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ is stable under homotopy equivalences as it equals $\widetilde{[\mathcal{G}]}_{\alpha}$, by the part of proposition 6.16 concerning the regular cardinals $\alpha > \aleph_0$. Moreover, $\pi([\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha})$ is stable under cones. Therefore it is stable under triangle extensions (recall that the cone construction is unique only up to isomorphisms).

Since, for $\alpha > \aleph_0$ the subcategory $\pi([\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha})$ is idempotent complete in \mathcal{CA}/\sim , it is closed under direct factors (*cf.* [2]). This shows the claimed reverse inclusion, hence the equivalence of point a) in the statement, for all the reguler cardinals strictly greater than \aleph_0 .

b) Let \mathcal{C}^{\ominus} denote the idempotent completion of a (sub-)category \mathcal{C} . We have to show that

$$\pi([\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\aleph_0})^{\ominus} = \mathcal{U}.$$

As we already know that the inclusion " \subseteq " also holds in the case $\alpha = \aleph_0$, we need to show the reverse inclusion only.

The subcategory $\pi([\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\aleph_0})^{\ominus}$ contains \mathcal{G} , is clearly stable under Σ , Ω , finite coproducts and direct factors. It remains to verify stability under extensions. For this, as the subcategory $\pi([\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\aleph_0})$ is closed under extensions, it suffices to show that the direct factors of objects of $\pi([\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\aleph_0})$ are closed under extensions. Let the diagram $f': X' \to Y'$ be a direct factor of the diagram $f: X \to Y$ of

Let the diagram $f': X' \to Y'$ be a direct factor of the diagram $f: X \to Y$ of $\pi([\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\aleph_0})$. Then, the identity of the diagram $f': X' \to Y'$ factors as



Let us extend the rows of this diagram to distinguished triangles. We obtain the commutative diagram



Here, the dashed arrows come from axiom (T3) of triangulated categories. The composition $r \circ k$ is an isomorphism, since $p \circ i = \mathbf{1}_{X'}$, $q \circ j = \mathbf{1}_{Y'}$, $\Sigma p \circ \Sigma i = \mathbf{1}_{\Sigma X'}$, but it is *not* necessarily the identity of Z'. Anyway, there exists an inverse h of $r \circ k$. Thus, the composition of k with the morphism $h \circ r : Z \to Z'$ is the identity of Z'. This shows that Z' is a direct factor of Z. As $\pi([\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\aleph_0})$ is stable under extensions, the object Z is in $\pi([\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\aleph_0})$. It follows that Z' is in $\pi([\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\aleph_0})^{\ominus}$ and we are done. \Box

Remark 6.19. Note that the reason of the different behaviour in the case $\alpha = \aleph_0$ is due to the fact that idempotents in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ may not split in this case.

Moreover, there are inclusions $[\mathcal{G}]_{\alpha} \subseteq [\mathcal{G}]_{\beta}$ and $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha} \subseteq [\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$, for all regular cardinals $\alpha \leq \beta$, analogous to those of the triangulated subcategories $\langle \mathcal{G} \rangle_{\alpha}$ of \mathcal{DA} .

6.4. The homotopically α -small DG modules. In this subsection, we define and study the DG analogue ($\widetilde{G3}$) of condition (G3), which was used in the definition of the subcategory $(\mathcal{DA})^{\alpha}$ of α -compact objects of the (triangulated) derived category \mathcal{DA} .

Definition 6.20. Let \mathcal{A} be a DG category. A cofibrant DG module M is homotopically α -small if the following condition holds

 $(\widetilde{G3})$ for each family of DG modules $X_i, i \in I$, of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} and each morphism

$$f: M \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$
,

there exist a subset $J\subseteq I$ of cardinality strictly smaller than α and a factorization



where the \widetilde{X}_i are cofibrant DG modules such that: If $i \in J$, then the morphism $f_i : \widetilde{X}_i \to X_i$ is a homotopy equivalence, whereas, if $i \in I \setminus J$, then \widetilde{X}_i is a contractible cofibrant DG module, *i.e.*, by lemma 6.11, a direct factor of an object of the form IZ, for some cofibrant DG module Z.

Remark 6.21. The DG modules \widetilde{X}_i and the morphisms f_i which are required to exist in the definition of the homotopically α -small DG modules are of course not unique.

Note that condition (G3) 'reduces' to condition (G3) of definition 3.1 if we neglect the homotopy equivalences. This fact justifies the term "homotopically" that we have just introduced in definition 6.20.

The relation between conditions (G3) and (G3) is clarified in the next

Proposition 6.22. Let X be a cofibrant DG module. Then property (G3) holds for the image of X in \mathcal{DA} if and only if property ($\widetilde{G3}$) holds for X in \mathcal{CA}_{cof} .

Proof. Suppose that property (G3) holds for X in \mathcal{DA} . Let $X_i, i \in I$, be a family of objects in \mathcal{CA}_{cof} and

$$f: X \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

a morphism of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} . Then the image of f in \mathcal{DA} factors as

$$X \xrightarrow{\gamma} \coprod_{i \in J} X_i \xrightarrow{can} \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

for a subset J of I, of cardinality strictly smaller than α and a morphism γ of \mathcal{DA} . Since X is cofibrant (and all objects of \mathcal{CA} are fibrant), the morphism γ lifts to a morphism g of \mathcal{CA} and the difference $f - can \circ g$ is null-homotopic. Then the difference factors as

$$X \xrightarrow{h} \coprod_{i \in I} PX_i \xrightarrow{\coprod_{i \in I} p_{X_i}} \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

for some morphism h of CA and the canonical projections $p_{X_i} : PX_i \to X_i$. We get the factorization

$$X \xrightarrow{[g,h]^t} (\coprod_{i \in J} X_i) \oplus (\coprod_{i \in I} PX_i) \xrightarrow{[can, \coprod_{i \in I} p_{X_i}]} \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

of f in \mathcal{CA} . Clearly, if we put $\widetilde{X}_i = X_i \oplus PX_i$ for $i \in J$ and $\widetilde{X}_i = PX_i$ for $i \notin J$ we get a factorization as required by ($\widetilde{G3}$).

Conversely, suppose that (G3) holds for X. Let X_i , $i \in I$, be a family in \mathcal{DA} and

$$\varphi: X \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

a morphism of \mathcal{DA} . Since X is cofibrant, φ lifts to a morphism

$$f: X \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

of \mathcal{CA} . Let

$$X \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} \widetilde{X_i} \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

be a factorization as in ($\widetilde{G3}$). Then for $i \in J$, the morphism $\widetilde{X}_i \to X_i$ becomes an isomorphism in \mathcal{DA} and for $i \notin J$, the object \widetilde{X}_i vanishes in \mathcal{DA} . Clearly this implies that φ factors through $\coprod_{i \in J} X_i$ in \mathcal{DA} .

From propositions 6.22 and 6.18 we get, as a corollary, the following result.

Theorem 6.23. Let \mathcal{A} be a DG category. Let α be an infinite regular cardinal. Let $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ be as in definition 6.12 and notation 6.14. Then, condition ($\widetilde{G3}$) holds for the subcategory $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$.

Proof. Suppose that α is an infinite regular cardinal and let G be in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$. By proposition 6.18 we have that the image of G in \mathcal{DA} lies in $(\mathcal{DA})^{\alpha}$. So, G has property (G3) in \mathcal{DA} . By proposition 6.22, this implies that G has property $\widetilde{G3}$ in \mathcal{CA}_{cof} .

6.5. The homotopically α -compact DG modules. In this subsection, we define and study the DG analogue ($\widetilde{G4}$) of condition (G4), which was used in the definition of the subcategory $(\mathcal{DA})^{\alpha}$ of α -compact objects of the (triangulated) derived category \mathcal{DA} .

Definition 6.24. Let \mathcal{A} be a DG category and \mathcal{C} a class of cofibrant DG modules in $\mathcal{C}\mathcal{A}$. We say that condition ($\widetilde{G4}$) holds for \mathcal{C} if

 $(\widetilde{G4})$ for each object $C \in \mathcal{C}$, for each family of DG modules X_i , $i \in I$, of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} and for any morphism of DG modules

$$f: C \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$
,

there exist morphisms $\phi_i : C_i \to X_i, i \in I$, such that the following factorization holds



where the DG modules C_i lie in \mathcal{C} , for all $i \in I$.

Theorem 6.28 below claims that, for all regular cardinals α strictly greater than \aleph_0 , condition ($\widetilde{G4}$) holds for the subcategory [$\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}$]_{α} of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} . We remark that this is the smallest subcategory of \mathcal{CA} closed under operations a), b), c), d) of definition 6.12, which contains the representables \mathcal{G} , the contractibles $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0$ and for which both conditions ($\widetilde{G3}$) and ($\widetilde{G4}$) hold. Therefore, in analogy with the triangulated case, we call the objects of [$\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}$]_{α} homotopically α -compact DG modules.

Remark 6.25. Note that condition (G4) 'reduces' to condition (G4) of definition 3.1 if we neglect the homotopy equivalences. This fact justifies the term "homotopically" that we have just introduced.

The definition above is different from the definition of α -compact objects in a model category that Hirschhorn gives in his book (*cf.* definitions 10.8.1, 11.4.1 and 12.1.1 in [11]). In order to see what the α -compact objects of Hirschhorn's definition are in our case we recall that the model category CA is *cofibrantly generated* [12].

78

For each integer $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and each object X of \mathcal{A} , we denote by $S^n \otimes X^{\wedge}$ the DG module $\Sigma^n X^{\wedge}$ and by $D^n \otimes X^{\wedge}$ the cone on the identity of $S^{n-1} \otimes X^{\wedge}$. The set \mathcal{I} of generating cofibrations consists of the cofibrations

$$S^{n-1} \otimes X^{\wedge} \longrightarrow D^n \otimes X^{\wedge}, \ n \in \mathbb{Z}, \ X \in \mathcal{A}.$$

The set \mathcal{I} of generating trivial cofibrations consists of the cofibrations

$$0 \longrightarrow D^n \otimes X^{\wedge}, \ n \in \mathbb{Z}, \ X \in \mathcal{A}.$$

Let λ be an α -filtered ordinal, where α is a regular cardinal. Let

 $s: X \longrightarrow \operatorname{colim}_{\sigma < \lambda} X_{\sigma}$

be a morphism in \mathcal{I} -cell (*cf.* [12] and the proof of proposition 6.5). A DG module K is α -compact according to Hirschhorn's definition if, given an arbitrary morphism

$$l: K \longrightarrow \operatorname{colim}_{\sigma < \lambda} X_{\sigma}$$
,

the following conditions are satisfied:

• There is a morphism in \mathcal{I} -cell

$$t: X \longrightarrow \operatorname{colim}_{\sigma < \lambda} X'_{\sigma}$$

i.e. t is the transfinite composition of push-outs of type

$$\underbrace{\prod_{j \in \Lambda'_{\sigma}} A_j}_{\substack{j \leftarrow \Lambda'_{\sigma}}} \underbrace{\prod_{j \in \Lambda'_{\sigma}} B_j}_{\substack{j \in \Lambda'_{\sigma}}} \underbrace{\prod_{j \in \Lambda'_{\sigma}} B_j}_{\substack{\gamma \\ \forall \\ \gamma \\ X'_{\sigma} \succ - - - \gg X'_{\sigma+1}}},$$

such that the morphisms $A_j \longrightarrow B_j$ are in \mathcal{I} , the sets Λ'_{σ} are subsets of their analogues Λ_{σ} for the morphism s and the morphisms h'_{σ} , n'_{σ} are the restrictions of their analogues h_{σ} , n_{σ} for the morphism s.

- The cardinality of the union of the set Λ_{σ} , for σ running through the ordinals strictly smaller than λ , is strictly smaller than α .
- There is a morphism of λ -sequences $(m_{\sigma} : X'_{\sigma} \to X_{\sigma})_{\sigma < \lambda}$ such that the following factorization holds



The main differences between the two definitions are:

- (i) Hirschhorn's definition states a property about single objects, whereas our definition states a property about the class of α -compact objects;
- (ii) Hirschhorn's definition depends on the set of generating cofibrations \mathcal{I} , whereas our definition is independent from this set;
- (iii) there are contractible DG modules which are not α -compact in the sense of Hirschhorn but they are all homotopically α -compact in the sense of our definition.

Question 6.1. We are working to answer the following questions:

- 1) Are the α -compact objects in the sense of Hirschhorn homotopically α -compact?
- 2) Is each homotopically α -compact object homotopically equivalent to an α compact object in the sense of Hirschhorn?

The relation between conditions (G3) and $(\widetilde{G3})$ is clarified in the next

Proposition 6.26. Let C be a class of cofibrant DG modules. Then condition (G4) holds for C in CA_{cof} if and only if condition (G4) holds for the image of C in DA.

Proof. Suppose that condition $(\widetilde{G4})$ holds for \mathcal{C} . Let

$$\varphi: C \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

be a morphism of \mathcal{DA} . We may assume without loss of generality that the X_i are cofibrant objects. Since C is cofibrant, φ lifts to a morphism f of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} . Now we factorize f as in $(\widetilde{G4})$ and take the image of this factorization in \mathcal{DA} .

Conversely, suppose that condition (G4) holds for the image of \mathcal{C} in \mathcal{DA} . Let

$$f: C \longrightarrow \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

be a morphism of CA where C belongs to C and the X_i are cofibrant DG modules. Let

$$\overline{f} = (\coprod_{i \in I} \overline{\varphi_i}) \circ \overline{g}$$

be a factorization as in (G4) of the image of f in \mathcal{DA} through some objects C_i contained in the image of \mathcal{C} in \mathcal{DA} . Since C and the C_i are cofibrant, we can lift the morphisms \overline{g} and $\overline{\varphi_i}$ to morphisms g and φ_i of \mathcal{CA} . Then the difference

$$f - (\coprod_{i \in I} \varphi_i) \circ g$$

is null-homotopic and factors as

$$C \xrightarrow{h} \coprod_{i \in I} PX_i \xrightarrow{\coprod_{i \in I} p_{X_i}} \coprod_{i \in I} X_i$$

for some morphism h. Clearly, if we put $C'_i = C_i \oplus PX_i$, we obtain a factorization



where the C'_i are in $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}$, as required in condition ($\widetilde{\mathrm{G4}}$).

Remark 6.27. A class C of cofibrant DG modules and its closure \widetilde{C} under homotopy equivalences have the same image in \mathcal{DA} . Thus, by proposition 6.26, condition ($\widetilde{G4}$) holds for C if and only if it holds for \widetilde{C} .

From propositions 6.26 and 6.18 we get, as a corollary, the following result.

Theorem 6.28. Let \mathcal{A} be a DG category. Let α be a regular cardinal. Let $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ be as in definition 6.12 and notation 6.14. Then, condition ($\widetilde{G4}$) holds for the subcategory $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$.

Proof. By proposition 6.18 we have that the idempotent completion of the image of $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ in \mathcal{DA} is $(\mathcal{DA})^{\alpha}$. As condition (G4) holds for $(\mathcal{DA})^{\alpha}$ in \mathcal{DA} , it also holds for the image of $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$. Thus, by proposition 6.26 condition $\widetilde{G4}$ holds for $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ in \mathcal{CA}_{cof} . \Box

After the previous results we can establish the characterization announced at the beginning of this section

Theorem 6.29. Let α be any regular cardinal of cardinality strictly greater than \aleph_0 . Then the subcategory $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ is maximal in the class \mathcal{P} of subcategories of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} whose objects have property ($\widetilde{G3}$) and for which property ($\widetilde{G4}$) holds.

Proof. Suppose that \mathcal{B} is a subcategory of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} properly containing $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ and that \mathcal{B} lies in the class \mathcal{P} . By proposition 6.22, the objects contained in the image $\pi(\mathcal{B})$ of \mathcal{B} in \mathcal{DA} have property (G3). By proposition 6.26 property (G4) holds for $\pi(\mathcal{B})$ in \mathcal{DA} . Thus, $\pi(\mathcal{B})$ is contained in the subcategory $(\mathcal{DA})^{\alpha}$ of the α -compact objects of \mathcal{DA} , since $(\mathcal{DA})^{\alpha}$ is maximal among the strictly full subcategories of \mathcal{DA} with respect to these properties (cf. [27]). The strictly full subcategories of \mathcal{DA} are in bijection, through the functors π and π^{-1} , with the full subcategories of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} stable under homotopy equivalences. Since $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ is stable under homotopy equivalences (proposition 6.16) and $\pi([\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha})$ is equivalent to $(\mathcal{DA})^{\alpha}$ (item a) in proposition 6.18), the subcategory \mathcal{B} should be contained in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\alpha}$ against the initial assumption. The claim follows by contradiction.

Remark 6.30. If $\alpha = \aleph_0$, then some compact objects of \mathcal{DA} may not be images of homotopically compact DG modules (*cf.* item b) in proposition 6.18).

6.6. The key-lemma : Morphisms factor through $[\tilde{S}]_{\alpha}$. In this subsection we can use all the material developed in the preceding subsections in order to state a theorem about factorization of certain morphisms. This theorem is the key result which allow us to prove the important result 5.5, which says that the α -continuous derived category is well generated and that its α -good generators are the images of the free modules of \mathcal{DA} under the quotient functor of a certain localization. It turns out that this is one of the crucial ingredients for proving the main theorem 5.8. For this reason we call the factorization result of this subsection "the key-lemma". This is the homotopical DG version of theorem 4.7.

Theorem 6.31. Let \mathcal{A} be a DG category. Let β be an (infinite) regular cardinal. Let \mathcal{S} be some class of cofibrant DG modules of $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$. Let X be a β -homotopically compact cofibrant DG module, i.e. $X \in [\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$, and let Z be an object of $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]$. Suppose that $f: X \to Z$ is a morphism in \mathcal{CA}_{cof} . Then there exists an object $Y \in [\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\beta}$ so that f factors as $X \to Y \to Z$.

Proof. Let \mathcal{U} be the full subcategory of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} whose objects are the cofibrant DG modules U which satisfy the following condition : For all the objects $P \in [\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$ and

all the morphisms $f: P \to U$, there is some DG module Y contained in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\beta}$ so that f factors as $P \to Y \to U$.

In order to prove the theorem, it is sufficient to show that $[\tilde{S}]$ is contained in \mathcal{U} . The subcategory $[\tilde{S}]$ is the smallest full subcategory of \mathcal{CA}_{cof} containing \tilde{S} and closed under left and right shifts, arbitrary set-indexed coproducts, extensions, direct factors. Therefore, we have to show that \mathcal{U} contains \tilde{S} , and that the following assertions hold:

- a) \mathcal{U} is stable under the action of Σ and Ω ;
- b) \mathcal{U} is closed under formation of arbitrary set-indexed coproducts;
- c) \mathcal{U} is closed under extensions;
- d) \mathcal{U} is stable under formation of direct factors.

We begin with the inclusion of \widetilde{S} in \mathcal{U} . Let S be some DG module of \widetilde{S} and P an arbitrary one of $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$. There is the trivial factorization



for any morphism f. The DG module S lies in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$, since $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}$ is contained in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$ by hypothesis. Thus, S belongs to \mathcal{U} , too.

Now we will check assertions a), b), c), d).

a) Let U be a DG module of \mathcal{U} . Consider ΣU and an arbitrary morphism

$$P \xrightarrow{f} \Sigma U ,$$

where P is an arbitrary DG module of $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$. This morphism corresponds to the morphism

$$\Omega P \xrightarrow{\Omega f} U$$

where ΩP is in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$, too. Therefore, we have the following factorization of Ωf



where the DG module Y is in $[\tilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\beta}$. This factorization diagram corresponds to the following one



where ΣY lies in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\beta}$, by the definition of $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\beta}$. Thus, ΣU is in \mathcal{U} . Similarly, one can prove that ΩU is in \mathcal{U} , too. This shows point a).

b) Let U_i , $i \in I$, be a family of arbitrary DG modules lying in \mathcal{CA}_{cof} . Let P be some DG module of $[\tilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$. We consider an arbitrary morphism

$$P \xrightarrow{f} \bigcup_{i \in I} U_i.$$

We can apply condition ($\widetilde{G3}$). Thus, there exists a subset $J \subseteq I$ of cardinality strictly smaller than β such that, in the factorization



if $i \in J$, then $\varphi_i : \widetilde{U}_i \to U_i$ is a homotopy equivalence, whereas, if $i \in I \setminus J$, then the cofibrant DG module \widetilde{U}_i is contractible. Clearly, the morphism \widetilde{f} factors as



where \tilde{f}_J is the morphism whose components are those of \tilde{f} from P to \tilde{U}_i , for $i \in J$. The analogous notation is adopted for $\tilde{f}_{I\setminus J}$. Thus, we can apply condition ($\widetilde{G4}$) to the morphism \tilde{f}_J . This gives the following factorization of \tilde{f}_J



where Z_i belongs to $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$, for all $i \in J$. For any $i \in J$, the DG modules U_i are in \mathcal{U} , hence we can factor the compositions $\varphi_i \circ \psi_i : Z_i \to U_i$ through DG modules W_i of $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\beta}$ as in the following diagram



82

for all $i \in J$. Thus, we have shown that f factors as



where: If $i \in J$, then $W_i \in [\widetilde{S}]_{\beta}$; whereas, if $i \in I \setminus J$, then \widetilde{U}_i is a contractible cofibrant DG module and thus lies in $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_0 \subseteq [\widetilde{S}]_{\beta}$. Indeed, when we check the commutativity of the triangle above, we get the following sequence of equalities:

$$\begin{split} (\prod_{i \in J} \beta_i \oplus \prod_{i \in I \setminus J} \varphi_i) \circ [(\prod_{i \in J} \alpha_i) \circ g_J, \ \tilde{f}_{I \setminus J}]^t \\ &= \left[\prod_{i \in J} \beta_i \circ ((\prod_{i \in J} \alpha_i) \circ g_J), \ (\prod_{i \in I \setminus J} \varphi_i) \circ \tilde{f}_{I \setminus J} \right]^t \\ &= \left[(\prod_{i \in J} \beta_i \circ \prod_{i \in J} \alpha_i) \circ g_J, \ f_{I \setminus J} \right]^t \\ &= \left[(\prod_{i \in J} (\beta_i \circ \alpha_i)) \circ g_J, \ f_{I \setminus J} \right]^t \\ &= \left[(\prod_{i \in J} (\varphi_i \circ \psi_i)) \circ g_J, \ f_{I \setminus J} \right]^t \\ &= \left[(\prod_{i \in J} \varphi_i \circ ((\prod_{i \in J} \psi_i) \circ g_J), \ f_{I \setminus J} \right]^t \\ &= \left[(\prod_{i \in J} \varphi_i) \circ \tilde{f}_J, \ f_{I \setminus J} \right]^t \\ &= \left[f_J, \ f_{I \setminus J} \right]^t \\ &= f. \end{split}$$

Here, the morphisms f_J and $f_{I\backslash J}$ are induced by the following trivial factorization of f



Since $\coprod_{i \in J} W_i$ and $\coprod_{i \in I \setminus J} \widetilde{U}_i$ lie in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\beta}$, their sum will lie, too. This proves that $\coprod_{i \in I} U_i \in \mathcal{U}$. Thus, point b) holds.

c) Let U and U' be two DG modules lying in \mathcal{U} . We want to show that an arbitrary extension E of U and U'

$$U \xrightarrow{i} E \xrightarrow{d} W',$$

lies in \mathcal{U} . Let us consider an arbitrary morphism

 $Q \xrightarrow{f} E ,$

where the DG module Q lies in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$. Then, we can factor the composition $d \circ f$ as in the following commutative square



with the DG module Y lying in $[\tilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\beta}$. Let us form the pull-back of the deflation $h: PY \longrightarrow Y$ and of the morphism $e: Q \longrightarrow Y$



where $X' \in [\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$. Indeed, if we complete the square above to a morphism of conflations, we get the commutative diagram



where Q and ΩY are in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$. Therefore, X' will, too, since $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$ is stable under extensions. By the fact that the square on the right of the diagram above is cartesian, we can form the conflation

$$X' \xrightarrow{[-k, j]^t} Q \oplus PY \xrightarrow{[e, h]} Y$$

Thus, since i is the kernel of the morphism d, there exists a morphism l which makes the following diagram commute



where the morphism $f': PY \to E$ exists thanks to the projectivity of PY. Since $X' \in [\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_{\beta}$ and $U \in \mathcal{U}$, the morphism l factors through a DG module Y' which lies

in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\beta}$, as in the commutative triangle



Now, form the push-out



By extending it to a morphism of conflations

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X' & \xrightarrow{[-k, j]^t} Q \oplus PY & \xrightarrow{[e, h]} & Y \\ m & & & & & \\ m & & & & & \\ Y' & & & & & \\ Y' & & & & & \\ Y' & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{[q, p]} \begin{array}{c} & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{[-k, j]^t} Q \oplus PY & \xrightarrow{[e, h]} & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & &$$

we can see that the DG module N lies in $[\tilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\beta}$, since it is an extension of two DG modules, Y' and Y, both lying in $[\tilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\beta}$. The claim is that the conflation (r, s) factors the morphism of conflation (l, [f, f'], g) above. Indeed, since the diagram on the left of the preceding diagram is cocartesian, we get the morphism t which makes the following diagram commute



The last diagram immediately implies the claimed factorization



where the composition $t \circ [q, p] = [t \circ q, t \circ p]$ equals [f, f']. We can write the morphism f as the composition

$$Q \xrightarrow{[\mathbf{1}_Q, \, 0]^t} Q \oplus PY \xrightarrow{[f, \, f']} \mathscr{B} E.$$

As the morphism [f, f'] factors through N, the morphism f factors through N, too, as in the commutative diagram



This shows that the searched factorization of f is the following,

$$Q \xrightarrow{q} N \xrightarrow{t} E.$$

As $N \in [\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\beta}$, it follows that $E \in \mathcal{U}$ and point c) holds.

d) Let U be some DG module in \mathcal{U} . Let Z be a direct factor of U. This means that there exist an inclusion $i: Z \longrightarrow U$ and a retraction $r: U \longrightarrow Z$ so that $r \circ i = \mathbf{1}_Z$. Let P be an arbitrary DG module lying in $[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}]_\beta$ and

$$f: P \longrightarrow Z$$

an arbitrary morphism. Then, we can factor the composition $i \circ f$ through a DG module Y of $[\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}]_{\beta}$ as in the commutative diagram



This easily implies that f factors through Y, too,



Indeed, the last triangle is commutative, since we have

$$(r \circ f'') \circ f' = r \circ (f'' \circ f') = r \circ (i \circ f) = (r \circ i) \circ f = \mathbf{1}_Z \circ f = f.$$

Hence, point d) and the theorem follow.

86

References

- M. Auslander, *Coherent functors*, Proceedings of the Conference on Categorical Algebra, La Jolla, 1965, Springer, Berlin, 1966, pp. 189–231.
- [2] Paul Balmer and Marco Schlichting, Idempotent completion of triangulated categories, J. Algebra 236 (2001), no. 2, 819–834.
- [3] A. I. Bondal and M. M. Kapranov, Enhanced triangulated categories, Mat. Sb. 181 (1990), no. 5, 669–683, translation in Math. USSR-Sb. 70 no. 1, 93107.
- [4] Francis Borceux, Handbook of categorical algebra 2, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 51, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1994.
- [5] E. H. Brown, *Cohomology theories*, Annals of Math. **75** (1962), 467–484.
- [6] Henri Cartan, Variétés analytiques complexes et cohomologie, Colloque sur les fonctions de plusieurs variables, tenu à Bruxelles, 1953, pp. 41–55; Georges Thone, Liège; Masson & Cie, Paris, 1953 (French).
- [7] Vladimir Drinfeld, DG quotients of DG categories, J. Algebra 272 (2004), no. 2, 643–691.
- [8] Dieter Happel, Triangulated categories in the representation theory of finite-dimensional algebras, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1988.
- [9] Andreas Heider, Two results from Morita theory of stable model categories, Ph. D. thesis, Bonn, March 2007.
- [10] A. Heller, The loop-space functor in homological algebra, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 96 (1960), 382-394.
- [11] Philip S. Hirschhorn, Model categories and their localizations, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 99, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003.
- [12] Mark Hovey, Model categories, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 63, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1999.
- [13] Bernhard Keller, Chain complexes and stable categories, Manuscripta Math. 67 (1990), no. 4, 379–417.
- [14] _____, Deriving DG categories, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 27 (1994), no. 1, 63–102.
- [15] _____, On the cyclic homology of exact categories, J. Pure Appl. Algebra **136** (1999), no. 1, 1–56.
- [16] _____, On differential graded categories, Proceedings of the ICM 2006, Madrid.
- [17] Henning Krause, On Neeman's well generated triangulated categories, Doc. Math. 6 (2001), 121–126 (electronic).
- [18] _____, A Brown representability theorem via coherent functors, Topology **41** (2002), no. 4, 853–861.
- [19] Jean-Louis Krivine, Théorie des ensembles, Nouvelle bibliothèque mathématique, vol. 5, Cassini, Paris, 1998.
- [20] W. Lowen, A generalization of the Gabriel-Popescu theorem, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 190 (2004), no. 1-3, 197–211.
- [21] Wendy Tor Lowen and Michel Van den Bergh, Hochschild cohomology of abelian categories and ringed spaces, arXive:math.KT/0405227.
- [22] Saunders Mac Lane, Categories for the working mathematician, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 5, Springer Verlag, New York, second edition, 1998.
- [23] B. Mitchell, A quick proof of the Gabriel-Popesco theorem, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 20 (1981) 313-315.
- [24] Amnon Neeman, The connection between the K-theory localisation theorem of Thomason, Trobaugh and Yao, and the smashing subcategories of Bousfield and Ravenel, Ann. Sci. École Normale Supérieure 25 (1992), 547–566.
- [25] _____, The Grothendieck duality theorem via Bousfield's techniques and Brown representability, Jour. Amer. Math. Soc. 9 (1996), 205–236.
- [26] _____, Brown representability for the dual, Invent. Math. **133** (1998), no. 1, 97–105.
- [27] _____, Triangulated Categories, Annals of Mathematics Studies, vol. 148, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2001.
- [28] _____, On the derived category of sheaves on a manifold, Doc. Math. 6 (2001), 483–488.

- [29] _____, Talk about well generated triangulated categories, Beilinson and Drinfeld's seminar at the University of Chicago, May 2004 (A. Neeman's personal communication to the author).
- [30] Nicolae Popescu, Abelian Categories with Applications to Rings and Modules, L.M.S. Monographs, Vol. 3, London; New York NY Academic Press, 1973.
- [31] Nicolae Popesco and Pierre Gabriel, Caractérisation des catégories abéliennes avec générateurs et limites inductives exactes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 258 (1964), 4188–4190.
- [32] Daniel Quillen, Higher algebraic K-theory. I, Algebraic K-theory, I: Higher K-theories (Proc. Conf., Battelle Memorial Inst., Seattle, Wash., 1972), Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 341, Springer verlag, 1973, pp. 85–147.
- [33] Daniel G. Quillen, Homotopical algebra, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, No. 43, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1967.
- [34] Gonçalo Tabuada, Homotopy theory of well-generated algebraic triangulated categories, arXiv:math.KT/0703172v1.
- [35] M. Takeuchi, A simple proof of Gabriel and Popesco's theorem, J. Algebra 18 (1971) 112-113.
- [36] Robert W. Thomason and Thomas F. Trobaugh, Higher algebraic K-theory of schemes and of derived categories, The Grothendieck Festschrift (a collection of papers to honor Grothendieck's 60'th birthday), vol. 3, Birkhäuser, 1990, pp. 247–435.
- [37] Bertrand Toën, The homotopy theory of dg-categories and derived Morita theory, arXiv:math.AG/0408337, to appear in Inventiones Mathematicae.
- [38] Jean-Louis Verdier, Des catégories dérivées des catégories abéliennes, Astérisque, vol. 239, Société Mathématique de France, 1996 (French).